
 
OHIO BOARD OF NURSING 

 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD SEPTEMBER 14-15, 2016 

 
The regular meeting of the Ohio Board of Nursing (Board) was held on 
September 14-15, 2016 at the Board office located at 17 South High Street, Suite 
400, Columbus, Ohio 43215. The President, Vice-President, and Executive 
Director reviewed the agenda prior to the meeting. 
 
On Wednesday, September 14, 2016, at 8:30 a.m., President Maryam Lyon 
called the Board meeting to order, welcomed guests and requested that Board 
Members introduce themselves. On Thursday, September 15, 2016, at 9:03 a.m., 
President Maryam Lyon called the Board meeting to order. Vice-President, Janet 
Arwood, read the Board mission each day. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS 
Maryam Lyon, RN, President 
Janet Arwood, LPN, Vice-President  
Judith Church, RN (Absent Wednesday and Thursday) 
Brenda Boggs, LPN  
Nancy Fellows, RN  
Lisa Klenke, RN  
Lauralee Krabill, RN 
J. Jane McFee, LPN  
Sandra Ranck, RN 
John Schmidt, RN  
Patricia Sharpnack, RN  
Sheryl Warner, Consumer Member 
 
Unless noted in these minutes as exhibits, all written reports submitted to the 
Board are maintained in the Board office according to the Board record retention 
schedule. 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 
Board Meeting Overview 
On Wednesday, September 14, 2016, beginning at 1:00 p.m., the following 
addressed the Board: Attorney John Dowell representing Monique Harris, RN, 
LPN, and AAG Alex Armitage on behalf of AAG Steven Kochheiser; and Attorney 
James McGovern, Michelle Parmer, RN, LPN, and AAG Alex Armitage.  On 
Thursday, Open Forum was held at 10:03 a.m.; and Executive Session was at 
10:14 a.m. 
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Approval of Minutes of the July 2016 Meeting 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, that 
the Board approve the minutes of the July 2016 Board meeting, as submitted.  
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Lisa Klenke, John 
Schmidt, and Sheryl Warner abstaining. 
 
Executive Director Report 
Betsy Houchen and Board members congratulated Lisa Emrich, who completed 
the NCSBN Institute of Regulatory Excellence (IRE) program and was 
recognized at the NCSBN Annual Meeting.   
 
B. Houchen provided an overview of the implementation of the new State of Ohio 
eLicense system that went live on June 27, 2016.  At that time the Board started 
with a 10-day work/application backlog created when the Department of 
Administrative Services Office of Information Technology (DAS/OIT) and the 
vendor required that the system be shut down for data conversation.  While 
Board staff were handling the initial workload, a challenging situation quickly 
escalated as issues with system functionality affected renewal, all licensure and 
certification applicants, and transmission of data to Nursys, the national nursing 
database.  
 
Implementation of the new Ohio eLicense system and the vast number of users 
quickly brought transparency to issues that required both IT system fixes and 
timely individual assistance to applicants and licensees attempting to use the 
new system. The Board, in conjunction with DAS/OIT, sought immediate 
resolution of IT system issues. The DAS/OIT contractor expedited "hotfixes." For 
example, a hotfix was deployed to address the difficulty in registering due to the 
middle name needing to be included in the first name box. The hotfix eliminated 
the name boxes completely, so applicants are only required to enter their security 
code, date of birth, and social security number. This hotfix alone addressed 
2,000 emails that the Board had received. 
 
The IT system issues generated an unprecedented number of calls and emails 
asking for further assistance.  The Board received about 32,000 incoming calls in 
July, compared to 14,000 in May, and 18,000 in June.  The Board received over 
7,000 emails in July. The number of calls and emails was overwhelming.  The 
Board did not have the staffing necessary to respond timely. The Customer 
Service Center (CSC) of DAS/OIT offered to assist with the calls and emails and 
their assistance has been exceptional; they have worked with the Board to 
handle thousands of calls and have assisted with applicant registrations. 
 
Board staff worked with DAS Communications to communicate via email with 
licensees about the issues and the actions being taken, to ask for their continued 
consideration, and to apologize for the delays. The Board sent direct email 
reminders to LPNs to alert them to renew.  
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Staff “walked” callers through the process, explaining how to navigate through 
the screens and how to register.  Calls were taking 20-30 minutes. The office 
lobby was busy with applicants seeking assistance and using Board computers 
that were made available to applicants in need. Staff walked each visitor through 
the process and answered questions.  
 
Throughout this period, the Board added temporary staff and reassigned two 
intermittent staff to assist. Licensure staff had already been working overtime and 
overtime was offered several times to all staff in order to expedite processing of 
applications; many non-licensure staff volunteered to assist. Each week Board 
staff reviewed progress, plans for comp/overtime needs, prioritized target areas 
to expedite processing, and reassigned staff as needed. 
 
60% of the LPNs completed renewal as of September 12th. By mid-August, staff 
became current in issuing licenses by examination, NCLEX failures, and name 
changes.  Since that time, staff has stayed current in those areas. From July 1st 
to August 31st, 5,325 new licenses and certificates have been issued, with the 
majority of them using the new system. 
 
The Board and DAS/OIT continue to work diligently to resolve the remaining 
technical issues. Due to the high volume of calls and emails, it has been difficult 
to respond as quickly as we would like. We took extraordinary steps to meet the 
unique and unprecedented volume of calls and emails. We have communicated 
our apologies for the delays. Board staff continue to be committed to process 
applications timely and work with DAS/OIT to resolve technical issues more 
quickly. 
 
Prior to and throughout this process, the overall consideration has been the 
Board’s strategic initiative “to assure that licensees and certificate holders meet 
the regulatory requirements to be licensed or certified to practice, while 
maintaining an efficient and effective system to license or certify applicants as 
quickly as possible to enter or remain in the workforce.” Although the new system 
implementation issues have generated an exceptional number of calls, emails 
and issues, we anticipate the system will be more efficient for licensees and the 
Board once the remaining IT and system usability issues are resolved; this will 
enable the Board to meet the strategic initiative.  
 
Patricia Sharpnack asked about a projected date when the hotfixes will be 
completed and the public will see the benefits. Sheryl Warner asked about 
progress being made on backlog of some applications. B. Houchen stated that 
there is a schedule for hotfixes to be completed and staff have been focusing on 
the applications for examination and reciprocities, and making steady progress. 
Board members praised staff for being responsive to individual situations. 
 
S. Warner inquired about the costs to the Board of hiring temporary staff, 
incurring overtime, and paying for vendor IT support staff.  Board members 
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agreed and expressed concerns that the Board must pay these costs when the 
issues have been primarily DAS/OIT contractor system problems.   
 
Sandra Ranck suggested definitions be provided to assist users in understanding 
the status of their applications when the Ohio eLicense system lists the 
application as being “in review” or “in review-additional information.” Board staff 
will follow-up on this suggestion. 
 
B. Houchen thanked Lesleigh Robinson, Kathy King, Eric Mays for taking the 
lead during this transition; the licensure staff for being responsive to licensees 
and applicants; and the non-licensure staff who volunteered to assist with the 
workload.  She praised Board staff for working well as a team, and for their hard 
work and commitment to resolving the issues for licensees and applicants. 
 
Budget Request for Fiscal Years 2018-2019 
B. Houchen and Kathy King reviewed the budget proposal for fiscal years 2018-
2019. It will be submitted to OBM on September 16, 2016. 
 
Legislative Report 
Tom Dilling presented the legislative report. T. Dilling reported that he and L. 
Emrich continue to meet with proponents of HB 216, Advanced Practice 
Registered Nurses, and bill proponents support revision of the components that 
are concerning to the Board.  
 
T. Dilling provided a handout outlining legislative initiatives that were previously 
reviewed and approved by the Board and introduced in HB 519 at the end of the 
130th General Assembly. Proponents of HB 216 state they agree with the Board 
seeking to include these initiatives in HB 216. The Legislative Services 
Commission is redrafting these parts of the bill. It is expected the bill will be 
heard when the General Assembly reconvenes after the fall election. 
 
T. Dilling also discussed proposed State of Ohio Medical Board Rule 4731-11-09, 
OAC, the telemedicine rule. He noted the Board’s primary and ongoing concern 
has been about the language for cross-coverage situations. Because originally 
APRNs were not specified in the definition as providers engaged in cross-
coverage, the rule could be misrepresented and unclear about requirements for 
physicians working collaboratively with APRNs. The Medical Board is proposing 
changes that are to clarify that other health care providers, including APRNs, are 
included for purposes of cross-coverage situations. Lisa Klenke stated that 
perhaps because the rule is attempting to cover many different practice 
situations, it tends to lead to confusion for providers. 
 
Executive Session  
On Thursday, September 15, 2016: 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood that the Board go into Executive Session 
to discuss pending or imminent court action with legal counsel and employment, 
dismissal, discipline, promotion, demotion or compensation of a public 
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employee.  A roll call vote was taken and the Board agreed unanimously to go 
into Executive Session, with the following members present and voting: M. Lyon, 
J. Arwood, B. Boggs, N. Fellows, L. Klenke, L. Krabill, J. McFee, S. Ranck, J. 
Schmidt, P. Sharpnack, and S. Warner. The Board entered Executive Session at 
10:14 a.m. The Board reported out of Executive Session at 10:30 a.m. and the 
public meeting reconvened at 10:34 a.m.  
 
APPROVALS 
Xavier University Accelerated Bachelor of Science in Nursing 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board grant Conditional approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-08, OAC, to 
Xavier University Accelerated Bachelor of Science in Nursing.  It was further 
moved that the Program submit progress reports to the Board on or before 
February 3, 2017, June 2, 2017, November 3, 2017 and June 1, 2018.  Motion 
adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon and Patricia 
Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Brown Mackie College-North Canton Practical Nursing Program 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board grant Conditional approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-08, OAC, to 
the Brown Mackie College-North Canton Practical Nursing Program.  It was 
further moved that the Program submit progress reports to the Board on or 
before January 6, 2017, April 7, 2017, July 7, 2017, and October 6, 2017. Motion 
adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon and Patricia 
Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Nursing Education Programs – Approval Status 
Tri-Rivers Center for Adult Education in Nursing 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board grant Full approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-04, OAC, to Tri-Rivers 
Center for Adult Education in Nursing for a period of five years effective 
September 14, 2016. Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members 
with Maryam Lyon, Lauralee Krabill, and Patricia Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Associate Degree in Nursing – Fortis College, Centerville 
Action: It was moved by Brenda Boggs, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that the 
Board grant Full approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-04, OAC, to Associate 
Degree in Nursing-Fortis College, Centerville for a period of five years effective 
September 14, 2016. Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members 
with Maryam Lyon and Patricia Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
The Robert T. White School of Practical Nursing 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke, that the 
Board grant Full approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-04, OAC, to The 
Robert T. White School of Practical Nursing for a period of two years.  It was 
further moved that the Program submit progress reports to the Board on or 
before November 3, 2016, May 5, 2017, and November 3, 2017.  Motion adopted 
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by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon and Patricia 
Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Practical Nursing – Fortis College, Centerville 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that after 
consideration of the survey visit report and the Program's response to the report, 
the Board place Practical Nursing-Fortis College, Centerville on Provisional 
approval, effective September 14, 2016 to September 26, 2018, in accordance 
with Section 4723.06(A)(7), ORC, based upon the Program's failure to meet and 
maintain the minimum standards for education programs established in Rules 
4723-5-09(B)(11); 4723-5-11(A)(3)(d); 4723-5-15(A)(2); and 4723-5-21(D)(3), 
OAC.  It was further moved that the Program submit progress reports to the 
Board on or before November 3, 2016, February 3, 2017, May 5, 2017, August 4, 
2017, and February 2, 2018.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon and Patricia Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Lakeland Community College Associate Degree Program in Nursing 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board grant Full approval, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-04, OAC, to the 
Lakeland Community College Associate Degree Program in Nursing for a period 
of five years effective September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of 
the Board members with Maryam Lyon, Sandra Ranck and Patricia Sharpnack 
abstaining. 
 
Athena Career Academy LPN to RN Program 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board approve, in accordance with Rule 4723-5-08, OAC, the change in 
implementation date of the Athena Career Academy LPN to RN Program to 
November 14, 2016.  It was further moved that the Program submit progress 
reports to the Board on or before January 13, 2017, April 14, 2017, July 14, 
2017, and October 13, 2017.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon and Patricia Sharpnack abstaining. 
 
Training Programs Re-Approvals 
Arden Courts-Bath Medication Aide Training Program 
Action: It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-27-07, OAC, the Arden Courts-
Bath Medication Aide Training Program for a period of two years effective 
September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members. 
 
Arden Courts-Westlake Medication Aide Training Program 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-27-07, OAC, the Arden Courts-
Westlake Medication Aide Training Program for a period of two years effective 
September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members. 
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Centers for Dialysis Care Technician Training Program 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, that 
the Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the Centers for 
Dialysis Care Technician Training Program for a period of two years effective 
September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members 
with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
DaVita Ohio Hemodialysis Technician Program (Strongsville) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the DaVita Ohio 
Hemodialysis Technician Program (Strongsville) for a period of two years 
effective September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
D.C.I. Cincinnati Dialysis Training Program 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the D.C.I. 
Cincinnati Dialysis Training Program for a period of two years effective 
September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members 
with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
D.C.I Portsmouth Dialysis Training Program 
Action: It was moved by Brenda Boggs, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the D.C.I. 
Portsmouth Dialysis Training Program for a period of two years effective 
September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members 
with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
Fresenius Medical Care-Cleveland West 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the Fresenius 
Medical Care-Cleveland West for a period of two years effective September 14, 
2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam 
Lyon abstaining. 
 
Fresenius Medical Care-Cortland 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the Fresenius 
Medical Care-Cortland for a period of two years effective September 14, 2016.  
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon 
abstaining. 
 
Fresenius Medical Care-Mansfield 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, that 
the Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the Fresenius 
Medical Care-Mansfield for a period of two years effective September 14, 2016.  



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 8 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon 
abstaining. 
 
Fresenius Medical Care-Toledo 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, that 
the Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the Fresenius 
Medical Care-Toledo for a period of two years effective September 14, 2016.  
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon 
abstaining. 
 
US Renal Care Ohio Dialysis Technician Training Program 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, that 
the Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the US Renal 
Care Ohio Dialysis Technician Training Program for a period of two years 
effective September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
DaVita Ohio Hemodialysis Technician Training Program (Lebanon) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the DaVita Ohio 
Hemodialysis Technician Training Program (Lebanon) for a period of two years 
effective September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
DaVita Ohio Hemodialysis Technician Training Program (Westerville) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-23-07, OAC, the DaVita Ohio 
Hemodialysis Technician Training Program (Westerville) for a period of two years 
effective September 14, 2016.  Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board 
members with Maryam Lyon abstaining. 
 
Cleveland Institute of Community Health 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that the 
Board reapprove, in accordance with Rule 4723-26-14, OAC, Cleveland Institute 
of Community Health for a period of two years effective September 14, 2016.  
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members with Maryam Lyon and 
John Schmidt abstaining. 
 
Retroactive Approvals for Licensees and Certificate Holders 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board retroactively ratify, as submitted, the licenses and certificates, including 
temporary work permits, initially issued by the Board July 1, 2016 through August 
31, 2016 to the following: registered nurses; licensed practical nurses; certificates 
of authority to certified registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse-midwives, 
certified nurse practitioners, and clinical nurse specialists; all certificates to 
prescribe (CTP and CTP-externship); Ohio certified dialysis technicians; dialysis 
technician interns; community health workers; and medication aides, taking into 
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account those licenses and certificates subject to discipline, surrender or non-
renewal.  Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members. 
 
ADJUDICATION AND COMPLIANCE 
On Thursday, September 15, 2016, Maryam Lyon requested that each voting 
Board member verify that they reviewed in depth all materials pertaining to these 
matters by saying “yes” or “no and that any Board member who did not review 
the materials abstain from voting on the matters. 
 
Board Actions 
 

NOTICES OF OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING 
Action:  It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board issue a Notice of Opportunity for Hearing for violations of Chapter 
4723., ORC for the following case(s): 
 
McGough, Shaun, R.N. 330511 (CASE #16-3389); Miller, Jennifer, P.N. 
068723 (CASE #14-2912); Powell, Nicole, R.N. 351322 (CASE #14-2812); 
Mann, Alicia, P.N. 124638 (CASE #15-4934); Floro, Stephanie, R.N. 380936, 
P.N. 135841 (CASE #15-5796); Hall, Cassandra, R.N. 392198 (CASE #16-
3072); Fisher, Eric, R.N. 358490, COA 13365 (CASE #16-4113); Booher, 
Sara, R.N. 300766 (CASE #16-3191); Pollick, Kaitlyn, R.N. 358758 (CASE 
#16-3969); Brown, Destiny, R.N. 332513 (CASE #16-3739); Crawford, 
Marissa, R.N. 390131 (CASE #16-3728); Ruff, Kellie, R.N. 283874 (CASE 
#16-3725); Salaz Garza, Kristy, R.N. 331536 (CASE #16-3300); McCollister, 
Makenzie, P.N. 096236 (CASE #16-3233); Carter, Michael, R.N. 401160 
(CASE #16-4232); Mbithi, Cyrus, R.N. 389468 (CASE #16-4315); Chanel, 
Chari, R.N. NCLEX (CASE #15-8756); Harvey, Mary, R.N. 165459 (CASE 
#14-6820); Boyes, Tonya, P.N. 128532 (CASE #15-6385); Lloyd, Rachel, 
P.N. 151317 (CASE #15-3106); Huttner, Laura, R.N. 398984 (CASE #16-
2180); Johnson, Kayla, P.N. 116679 (CASE #16-2834); Miley, Angela, P.N. 
124296 (CASE #16-1152); Neice, Elizabeth, P.N. 116956 (CASE #16-1902); 
Lyons, Stephanie, R.N. 325458 (CASE #16-2637); Moore Sims, Barbara, 
P.N. 079504 (CASE #14-0442); White, Klarissa, P.N. 120488 (CASE #16-
3201); Swint, Patti, R.N. 292986 (CASE #16-3301); Dorsten, Emily, R.N. 
375153 (CASE #15-5337); Daube, Colleen, R.N. 188503 (CASE #16-4902); 
Szwed, Carissa, P.N. 150233 (CASE #16-4549); Morales, Jenny, P.N. 
101118 (CASE #16-4251); Adams, Ashley, P.N. 125009 (CASE #15-8268); 
Morales, Paula, R.N. 339098 (CASE #16-3282); Yontz, Devon, P.N. NCLEX 
(CASE #14-6242); Ritter, Ann, R.N. 214193 (CASE #16-2607); Sebring, 
Monica, R.N. 362158 (CASE #14-6751); Kostoff, Randi, R.N. 374172 (CASE 
#16-0178); Delsignore, Sandra, R.N. 336945 (CASE #15-6511); Manley, 
LaShena, R.N. 303306 (CASE #15-7195); Williams, Marcia, R.N. 253190, 
COA 15594 (CASE #16-2597); Becker, Stacy, R.N. 390569 (CASE #14-
2261); House, Amanda, P.N. 133471 (CASE #16-2530); Collins, Angela, P.N. 
158699 (CASE #16-4393); Paul-Verzella, Barbara, R.N. 235385 (CASE #16-
2487); Zavala, Sherri, P.N. 101005 (CASE #16-0455); Whobrey, Erica, R.N. 
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297198 (CASE #15-5824); Mills, Melissa, R.N. 332468 (CASE #16-4121); 
McKenzie, Angela, P.N. 107077 (CASE #14-3115); German, Denise, R.N. 
247866 (CASE #16-2430); Davis, Connie, R.N. 239798 (CASE #15-3466); 
Bailey, Melissa, R.N. 386234 (CASE #15-1173); Smith, Tiffany, P.N. 127805 
(CASE #16-0306); Moye, Laquita, R.N. 390206 (CASE #15-7687); Long, 
Alethea, P.N. 092281 (CASE #16-1930); Fenwick, Tina, R.N. 291039 (CASE 
#16-2636); Skinner, Patricia, R.N. 233490 (CASE #16-2247); Guthrie, Charli, 
R.N. 307177 (CASE #16-0405); Peters, Linda, R.N. 255925 (CASE #16-
4065); Johnson, Lakeysha, R.N. 279534 (CASE #16-4313); Patino, April, 
P.N. 112521 (CASE #16-4135); Fry, Shannon, P.N. 127391 (CASE #14-
2788); Brinkerhoff, Lynette, R.N. 253581 (CASE #16-4276); Tomaszewski, 
Laura, R.N. 249617 (CASE #16-1474); Loos, Lori, R.N. 387837, P.N. 131739 
(CASE #14-4129); Chapman, Twanta, P.N. 112145 (CASE #16-5053); 
Schrader, Jennifer, P.N. 156381 (CASE #15-7274); Leimbach, Christine, P.N. 
124830 (CASE #16-4677); Erickson, Karrie, R.N. 378695, P.N. 138430 
(CASE #16-2581); Clement, Benjamin, R.N. 378029 (CASE #15-5228); 
Mikoletic, Diana, P.N. 135076 (CASE #16-4013).  
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with 
Lauralee Krabill abstaining on Yontz, Devon, P.N. NCLEX Applicant (CASE 
#14-6242).   
 
IMMEDIATE SUSPENSIONS AND NOTICES OF OPPORTUNITY FOR 
HEARING 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board issue a Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing 
for violations of Chapter 4723., ORC for the following case(s): 
 
McCoppin, Kathryn, R.N. 305661 (CASE #16-2945); Nudd, Heather, P.N. 
154060 (CASE #15-7755); Ritchie, Sara, P.N. 153220 (CASE #15-0057); 
Pullin, Faith, P.N. 155131 (CASE #14-5762); Rice, Brooke, P.N. 113316 
(CASE #16-4765); Holbrook, Mary Ann, R.N. 197768, COA 00297 (CASE 
#16-4984); Davis, Ashley, P.N. 143960 (CASE #16-4484); Love, Jentle, R.N. 
397935 (CASE #15-6449); Arno, Erica, P.N. 142501 (CASE #15-5805); Bond, 
Victoria, R.N. 373426 (CASE #16-2086); Croftcheck, Jessica, R.N. 247482 
(CASE #16-5297); Boxie, Leigh, R.N. 361201 (CASE #16-2783); Bayes, 
Diana, R.N. 402081 (CASE #16-5144); Hashman, Jr., Darrell, R.N. 387560 
(CASE #16-1520). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present.  
 
AUTOMATIC SUSPENSIONS AND NOTICES OF OPPORTUNITY FOR 
HEARING 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board issue a Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing 
for violations of Chapter 4723., ORC for the following case(s): 
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Daniels, Ralph, P.N. 094303 (CASE #16-3919); Conger, Lexi, P.N. 144236 
(CASE #16-1249); Miller, Aaron, R.N. 379520 (CASE #16-4124); Lowers, 
Michael, R.N. 320876 (CASE #16-4005); Linser, Amy, R.N. 188859 (CASE 
#16-4003); Johnson, Amanda, R.N. 373807 (CASE #16-4798); Nolcox, Daija, 
R.N. 421618 (CASE #16-4417); Liebling, Rebecca, R.N. 303504 (CASE #16-
4346); Smith, Kathryn, P.N. 124140 (CASE #16-4345); Ford-Bowen, Sonya, 
R.N. 394048 (CASE #16-4298); Minor, Lataska, P.N. 162037 (CASE #16-
4882); Orth, Michelle, R.N. 214082 (CASE #16-4943). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present.  
 
POST IMMEDIATE SUSPENSIONS AND NOTICES OF OPPORTUNITY 
FOR HEARING 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that 
the Board Immediately Suspend the license(s) and issue a Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing for violations of Chapter 4723., ORC for the following 
case(s): 
 
Ashworth, Nicole, P.N. 147612 (CASE #16-1698); White, Joyce, P.N. 123469 
(CASE #15-7300); Washington, Knyesha, P.N. 149326 (CASE #16-3952); 
Hooley, Robin, P.N. 131679 (CASE #15-4339). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present.  
 
SURRENDERS/WITHDRAWALS 
Permanent Voluntary Surrender 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board accept the Permanent Voluntary Surrender of License for the following 
case(s): 
 
Guerra, Gretchen, R.N. 387344, P.N. 144993 (CASE #15-4194); Agnone, 
Karan, R.N. 153364 (CASE #15-8713); Brunner, Stephanie, R.N. 370042 
(CASE #16-3153); Seguin, Karen, R.N. 157713 (CASE #15-6687); Keaton, 
Jacob, R.N. 371609 (CASE #15-8486); Perrin, Denise, R.N. 210581 (CASE 
#12-6508); Fries, Martha, P.N. 039933 (CASE #16-5094). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present.  
 
CONSENT AGREEMENTS 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
Board approve the Consent Agreements for violations of Chapter 4723., ORC 
entered into by and between the Board in the following case(s): 
 
Peterson, Cheryl, R.N. 223492 (CASE #15-4265); Bowers, Bobbin, P.N. 
144413 (CASE #15-8457); Barnes, Pamela, P.N. 071761 (CASE #14-5819); 
Brown, Kenisha, P.N. 149778 (CASE #15-7363); Creekbaum, Amy, R.N. 
350133, P.N. 128467 (CASE #15-1931); Milburn, II, John, R.N. 341255, CTP 
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15213, COA 15213 (CASE #15-2875); Zehender, Letitia, P.N. 124671 (CASE 
#15-4105); Johnson, Dennis, P.N. 081126 (CASE #13-8447); Mandich, 
Monica, R.N. 333150 (CASE #15-2422); Donnally, Anna, P.N. 146170 (CASE 
#15-2188); Vanpelt, Allison, P.N. 126565 (CASE #16-2425); Fowlkes, Mary, 
P.N. 081020 (CASE #15-0658); Minor, Siera, P.N. 150075 (CASE #15-8412); 
Himes, Suzanne, R.N. 255821 (CASE #16-0034); Shrigley, Erin, R.N. 321165 
(CASE #15-1312); Bierman, Elisha, R.N. 351090 (CASE #15-5353); Cole, 
Mary, R.N. 264286, CTP 15839, COA 15839 (CASE #15-6770); Nelson, 
Paula Jo, R.N. 286962 (CASE #15-2257); Williams, Shakeya, P.N. 128104 
(CASE #15-1067); Douglas, Melissa, R.N. 347134 (CASE #16-0173); 
Martins, Kori, R.N. 340886 (CASE #15-7741); Kiff, Renee, R.N. 376358, P.N. 
136577 (CASE #15-1269); Howard, Tyra, R.N. 348808, P.N. 098642 (CASE 
#15-2066); Swaim, Peggy, P.N. 120576 (CASE #14-1098); Gilbert, Matthew, 
R.N. 309636 (CASE #16-1395); Ramsey, Rebecca, R.N. 333835 (CASE #16-
0077); Sowers, Heather, R.N. 349975 (CASE #15-4936); Johnson, Jennifer, 
P.N. 101369 (CASE #15-7683); Busson, Donna, R.N. 329009 (CASE #16-
1837); Hummel, Veronica, P.N. 127190 (CASE #16-0289); Stih, Shannon, 
P.N. 149815 (CASE #15-1853); Breuer, Carl, R.N. 414766 (CASE #16-0468); 
Blount, Crystal, P.N. 152374 (CASE #15-8396); Trotter, Jessica, P.N. NCLEX 
(CASE #16-3170); Huffman, Jillian, R.N. 368970 (CASE #16-3054); Frey, 
Robert, R.N. 267061, CTP Applicant, COA 15616 (CASE #15-7839); Knoll, 
Hannah, P.N. endorse (CASE #16-4056); Wilson, Amanda, P.N. 159264 
(CASE #16-3655); Coppess, Jennifer, R.N. 410319 (CASE #16-3488); 
Stewart, Kristen, R.N. 346810 (CASE #13-6853); Revell, Deborah, R.N. 
296203, CTP 09984, COA 09984 (CASE #16-1568); Kirwan, Sandra, R.N. 
250117 (CASE #15-2692); Jones, Shelly, P.N. 053855 (CASE #16-2707); 
Varndell, Shelby, R.N. 390114 (CASE #14-3184); Wilhelm, Kellie, R.N. 
335994 (CASE #15-4366); Vermillion, Patricia, R.N. 345781 (CASE #15-
7083); Weiker, Brenda, R.N. 222212, P.N. 074819 (CASE #13-2636); Sam, 
Amanda, P.N. 120398 (CASE #16-3238); Branham, Brandy, R.N. 313049, 
CTP 17228, COA 17228 (CASE #16-4454); Martin, Carreese, R.N. 311571 
(CASE #15-8080); Bednarz, Dale, R.N. 190484 (CASE #16-1234); Lewis, 
Catherine, R.N. 356958 (CASE #16-0536); Gatto, Casey, R.N. 304174 
(CASE #14-0405); Tylicki, Cortney, P.N. 145784 (CASE #14-2735); Kirker, 
Jacquelyn, R.N. 198644 (CASE #15-1763); Williams, Taneesha, P.N. 158638 
(CASE #16-2568); Clark, Tenishia, P.N. 139154 (CASE #15-8388); Lemaster, 
Andrew, R.N. 359743, P.N. 129167 (CASE #15-5752); Hatch, Elaine, R.N. 
093578 (CASE #15-5265); Oliver, Breon, P.N. NCLEX (CASE #16-4647); 
Adams, Trelise, P.N. endorse (CASE #16-4738); Delisle, Eva, R.N. 373086 
(CASE #15-1731); Johnson, Lauren, P.N. 118360 (CASE #16-3143); 
Westfall, Lucinda, P.N. 075441 (CASE #15-8020); Hall, Leah, P.N. 102021 
(CASE #14-0427); Solis, Dianne, R.N. 205682, P.N. 069380, COA 07907, 
CTP 07907 (CASE #15-3293); Hamilton, Contessa, P.N. 152380 (CASE #14-
2512); Sensabaugh, Danelle, R.N. 325424 (CASE #16-2754); Shull, 
Christopher, R.N. 419670 (CASE #15-7786); Montoya, Monica, P.N. 136868 
(CASE #14-1717); Sample, Davalore, P.N. 139835 (CASE #15-3729); 
Kenney, Robin, R.N. 270062 (CASE #15-7226); Willis, Charmaine, P.N. 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 13 
 

154883 (CASE #16-4795); Kornmiller, Diana, R.N. 384372, P.N. 139610 
(CASE #15-8673); Yerger, Kevin, R.N. 326734 (CASE #14-6900); Callihan, 
Candace, R.N. 395694, P.N. 108571 (CASE #16-0608); Sanford, Carla, P.N. 
148926 (CASE #15-6480); Wilson, Angela, R.N. 280329 (CASE #14-6232); 
Weber, Daniel, R.N. 267997 (CASE #15-5326); McNamara, Shannon, R.N. 
371458 (CASE #15-0684); Glosette, Amanda, R.N. 324626 (CASE #16-
0613); White, Donna, P.N. 089797 (CASE #15-6654); Stone, Melissa, R.N. 
378536 (CASE #15-7668); Ash, Briahna, P.N. 157592 (CASE #16-2087); 
Bowers, Brian, R.N. 399791 (CASE #15-6965); PerDue Schultz, Susan, R.N. 
174264, COA 16989, CTP 16989 (CASE #16-4069); Barosky, April, R.N. 
359562, P.N. 131352 (CASE #16-4881); Fowler, Mary, P.N. 137260 (CASE 
#16-4497); Berkemeier, Jacob, R.N. 365586 (CASE #16-4799); 
Himmelhaver, Angela, R.N. 348783 (CASE #16-0085); Kaluscak, Amanda, 
P.N. NCLEX (CASE #16-4432); Gronostaj, Jenny, R.N. 363299 (CASE #16-
5109); Marsh, Robin, P.N. 093632 (CASE #15-0764); Taylor, Marybeth, R.N. 
321724 (CASE #15-8454); Grover, Barbara, R.N. 158120, COA 03388 
(CASE #15-3326); Youngless, Theresa, P.N. 138359 (CASE #15-1131); 
Davis, Kenisha, R.N. 286523, COA 17420 (CASE #16-0406); Mergy, Sarah, 
R.N. 352024, COA 17656, CTP 17656 (CASE #16-5228); Eckles Hoffman, 
Lindsay, R.N. 337454, COA 17403, CTP 17403 (CASE #16-5232); 
Goldschmidt Bolander, Barbara, R.N. 236002, COA 17311, CTP 17311 
(CASE #16-5234); Kolibar, Tessa, R.N. 390471 (CASE #15-8583); Dudding, 
Janet, R.N. 297929, P.N. 101109 (CASE #15-4930); Meade, Gail, P.N. 
114223 (CASE #16-0357); Keene, Darlene, R.N. 289456 (CASE #15-7873); 
Metzger, Michael, R.N. 231763 (CASE #16-1972); Stine, Molly, R.N. 315831, 
COA 13731 (CASE #15-4879); Hansbarger, Jody, R.N. 320006, P.N. 104755 
(CASE #16-4291). 
 
Maryam Lyon voted no on Oliver, Breon, P.N. NCLEX (CASE #16-4647).  
Lauralee Krabill abstained on Youngless, Theresa, P.N 138359 (CASE #15-
1131). Sandra Ranck voted no on Bowers, Bobbin, P.N. 144413 (CASE #15-
8457), Douglas, Melissa, R.N. 347134 (CASE #16-0173), Solis, Dianne, R.N. 
205682, P.N. 069380, COA 07907, CTP 07907 (CASE #15-3293), and 
Montoya, Monica, P.N. 136868 (CASE #14-1717), and abstained on PerDue 
Schultz, Susan, R.N. 174264, COA 16989, CTP 16989 (CASE #16-4069).  
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present. 
 
HEARING EXAMINER’S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 
Hunter, Lacresha A., P.N. 130299 (CASE #15-2926) 
Action: It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, that 
the Board accept all the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation 
and that LACRESHA A. HUNTER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following 
reinstatement, MS. HUNTER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 14 
 

practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
one (1) year, including the Temporary Practice and Temporary Narcotic 
Restrictions, unless otherwise approved in advance by the Board, set 
forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. HUNTER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MS. HUNTER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNTER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. HUNTER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. HUNTER’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNTER shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Published Consent Order issued by the North Carolina 
Board of Nursing, dated May 13, 2015, and that her North Carolina license 
is current, valid, and unrestricted. 

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNTER shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Medication Administration; five (5) 
hours of Documentation; five (5) hours of Professional Accountability and 
Legal Liability for Nurses; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and 
Rules. 

 
 Monitoring  

 
6. MS. HUNTER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HUNTER’s history.  MS. HUNTER shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
7. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
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reinstatement, MS. HUNTER shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. HUNTER shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. HUNTER shall execute 
releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
chemical dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the 
Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
HUNTER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. HUNTER is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. HUNTER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
HUNTER’s license. 
 

9. For a minimum, continuous period of three (3) months immediately 
prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. HUNTER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such times 
as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. HUNTER’s initiation of 
drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit such 
specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the Board 
may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a license 
for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall require a 
daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. HUNTER shall be 
negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to 
her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HUNTER’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. HUNTER initiating drug screening, MS. 

HUNTER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. HUNTER. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. HUNTER shall be under a continuing 
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duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. HUNTER shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HUNTER 

 
12. MS. HUNTER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. HUNTER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. HUNTER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. HUNTER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. HUNTER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. HUNTER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. HUNTER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
HUNTER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. HUNTER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. HUNTER is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. HUNTER and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
HUNTER’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 17 
 

and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 
 
1. MS. HUNTER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MS. HUNTER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 
 Monitoring  
 
3. MS. HUNTER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HUNTER’s history.  MS. HUNTER shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 

days of the request, MS. HUNTER shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. HUNTER 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. HUNTER 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. HUNTER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. HUNTER 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
5. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. HUNTER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
HUNTER’s license. 

 
6. During the probationary period, MS. HUNTER shall submit, at her 

expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such times 
as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
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shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
HUNTER shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. HUNTER’s history. 

 
 Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 

7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
HUNTER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, 
including addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. HUNTER 
shall be under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to 
initiating treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update 
the list of treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) 
hours of being treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. HUNTER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
HUNTER throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. HUNTER shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every 

employer, MS. HUNTER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 
11. MS. HUNTER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 

Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer 
prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HUNTER shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HUNTER shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received. 

	  
12. MS. HUNTER shall, prior to working in a position where a license 

to practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an 
extensive orientation approved in advance by the Board or its 
designee. 
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 Reporting Requirements of MS. HUNTER 
 

13. MS. HUNTER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. HUNTER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. HUNTER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to 
the Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. HUNTER shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the 
Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. HUNTER shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the 
attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South 
High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. HUNTER shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. HUNTER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. HUNTER shall not administer, have access to, or possess 
(except as prescribed for MS. HUNTER’s use by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. HUNTER’s history) any narcotics, 
other controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. 
HUNTER shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for 
locked medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. HUNTER 
shall not call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. HUNTER shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
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nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) 
for hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s 
residence; (3) for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent 
provider where the nurse provides nursing care and is reimbursed for 
services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or agents of the 
State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly engage 
MS. HUNTER to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or other 
consideration or as a volunteer.   

 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. HUNTER shall not function in a position or employment 
where the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and 
nursing responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the 
following: Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse 
Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 

FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. HUNTER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. HUNTER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. HUNTER has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. HUNTER via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. HUNTER may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. HUNTER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. HUNTER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. HUNTER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
HUNTER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority of the vote of the Board members present with 
Sandra Ranck abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
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Taylor, Tamara Rene, R.N. 369843, P.N. 119639 (CASE #15-1505) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation 
and that TAMARA RENE TAYLOR’s licenses to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse and licensed practical nurse in the State of Ohio be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than one (1) year with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, 
MS. TAYLOR’s licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and 
licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Temporary Practice Restrictions, including a 
prohibition on teaching, unless otherwise approved in advance by the 
Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 

1. MS. TAYLOR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 
and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 

 
2. MS. TAYLOR shall appear in person for interviews before the full 

Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. TAYLOR shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. 
TAYLOR, including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) 
records, and shall cause BCII to submit MS. TAYLOR’s criminal 
records check reports to the Board.  A request for reinstatement will 
not be considered by the Board until the completed criminal records 
check, including the FBI check, has been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. TAYLOR 

shall, in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, 
successfully complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
successful completion of the following continuing education taken 
subsequent to the effective date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Ethics; 
and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Educational Needs Assessment and Learning Plan 

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. TAYLOR shall 

establish contact with a nursing educator approved by the Board who 
has no less than a master’s degree and who is affiliated with a nursing 
educational program and MS. TAYLOR shall have the educator 
provide the Board with a written report of an assessment of MS. 
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TAYLOR, which identifies MS. TAYLOR’s knowledge/practice 
deficiencies and remedial educational needs.  Prior to the assessment, 
MS. TAYLOR shall provide the nursing educator with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and shall submit to 
any nursing skills or knowledge assessments required by the educator.  
MS. TAYLOR shall also execute releases prior to the assessment to 
permit the educator to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the assessment including information from MS. 
TAYLOR’s employer(s), former employers, and Board staff. Following 
the assessment, MS. TAYLOR shall have the educator provide the 
Board with a copy of a learning plan developed by the educator for MS. 
TAYLOR and shall obtain approval of the learning plan by the Board or 
its designee.  The learning plan shall identify specific remediation that 
MS. TAYLOR shall complete to address any knowledge/practice 
deficiencies and remedial educational needs identified by the educator 
and shall identify the time frame during which MS. TAYLOR shall 
complete such learning plan.  Prior to requesting reinstatement by 
the Board, MS. TAYLOR shall successfully complete and submit 
satisfactory documentation of successful completion of the learning 
plan within the time frame specified in the learning plan.  After MS. 
TAYLOR has successfully completed the learning plan and prior to 
requesting reinstatement by the Board, the educator shall provide the 
Board with an assessment and any recommendations for additional 
remedial education and/or restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
TAYLOR’s licenses to practice.  Furthermore, the educator shall 
provide to the Board a written opinion stating whether MS. TAYLOR is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care.  MS. TAYLOR shall be responsible for 
all costs associated with meeting this requirement. 

 
6. The Board may utilize the educator's recommendations and 

conclusions from the assessment as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. TAYLOR’s licenses.   

 
7. In the event that the educator’s recommendations require MS. 

TAYLOR to have an active nursing license, the Board, prior to 
reinstatement of her licenses, may issue MS. TAYLOR a license to 
practice nursing as a registered nurse and/or licensed practical nurse 
that is restricted to the limited use and sole purpose of completing the 
educator’s recommendations.  For all other uses and purposes, MS. 
TAYLOR’s licenses shall remain suspended.  Upon successful 
completion of the educator’s recommendations and upon written 
notification to the Board or its designee, the limitations on MS. 
TAYLOR’s licenses shall be terminated.  MS. TAYLOR shall not gain 
or attempt to gain employment as a registered nurse and/or licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio until she has completed the 
requirements and conditions for reinstatement, set forth in this Order, 
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and the Board has reinstated her licenses. 
 

 Reporting Requirements of MS. TAYLOR 
 

8. MS. TAYLOR shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested 
documentation or information directly to the Board.  

 
9. MS. TAYLOR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
10. MS. TAYLOR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to 
the Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
11. MS. TAYLOR shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the 
Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
12. MS. TAYLOR shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of 
Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
13. MS. TAYLOR shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

14. MS. TAYLOR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
TAYLOR submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. TAYLOR has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. TAYLOR is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. TAYLOR and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
TAYLOR’s licenses shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. TAYLOR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. TAYLOR shall appear in person for interviews before the full 

Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every 

employer, MS. TAYLOR shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 
4. MS. TAYLOR is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 

Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer 
prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. TAYLOR shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. TAYLOR shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received. 

	  
5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. TAYLOR shall, 

prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing 
is required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation 
approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. TAYLOR 

 
6. MS. TAYLOR shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
7. MS. TAYLOR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. TAYLOR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to 
the Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
9. MS. TAYLOR shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the 
Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
10. MS. TAYLOR shall submit the reports and documentation required by 
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this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the 
attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South 
High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. TAYLOR shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. TAYLOR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. TAYLOR shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse 
and/or licensed practical nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the 
patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs providing hospice care in 
the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an 
independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care and is 
reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
engage MS. TAYLOR to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. TAYLOR shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. TAYLOR shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse 
and/or licensed practical nurse in a teaching position that requires a nursing 
license. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. TAYLOR’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. TAYLOR’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and licensed practical nurse 
will be automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. TAYLOR 
has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. TAYLOR via certified mail 
of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
licenses.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. TAYLOR may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. TAYLOR has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. TAYLOR is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. TAYLOR and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
TAYLOR does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 

 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Hunt, Marsha Jean, P.N. 147634 (CASE #14-4233) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board dismiss the factual allegation set forth in Item 1a of the July 31, 2015 
Notice of Opportunity, that on or about April 13, 2015, the Examiner issued a 
finding that MARSHA JEAN HUNT was hospitalized in June of 2014 for 
“suicidal ideations.”  It was further moved that the Board redact the social 
security numbers appearing on page 5 of State Exhibit 7, and that the Board 
accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and modify the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that MS. HUNT’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of time with the 
conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, MS. 
HUNT’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
The rationale for the modification is the following:  The Board in its expertise 
has determined that, in order to protect the public, MS. HUNT’s license 
should be suspended, pending the results of a chemical dependency 
evaluation that addresses MS. HUNT’s continued use of clonazepam, and 
until MS. HUNT demonstrates compliance with psychological 
treatment/counseling by a mental health provider approved in advance by the 
Board.  Further, a longer period of monitoring is necessary to ensure that MS. 
HUNT is practicing nursing safely. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. HUNT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. HUNT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNT shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. HUNT, 
including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and 
shall cause BCII to submit MS. HUNT’s criminal records check reports 
to the Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the 
Board until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI 
check, has been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNT shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and 
conditions imposed by the Trumbull County Court - Eastern Division, in 
Case Number 14 CRB 168E. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUNT shall, at 

her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the 
Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the 
evaluation, MS. HUNT shall provide the chemical dependency 
professional with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. HUNT shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board 
that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
HUNT's license, and a statement as to whether MS. HUNT is capable 
of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards 
of safe nursing care. 

 
6. MS. HUNT shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. HUNT’s license. 

 
7. MS. HUNT shall participate in mental health treatment and in individual 

treatment/counseling at intervals deemed appropriate by a mental 
health provider approved in advance by the Board. MS. HUNT shall 
have her mental health provider submit written reports to the Board 
regarding MS. HUNT’s progress, status, and compliance with her 
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treatment plan on a quarterly basis beginning within sixty (60) days of 
the effective date of this Order. MS. HUNT shall provide her approved 
treating mental health professional(s) with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing. MS. HUNT shall have her mental 
health treating professional(s) send documentation to the Board of 
receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing 
along with their first treatment report.  Further, the Board may use the 
treatment provider’s recommendations and conclusions from the reports 
as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. HUNT’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HUNT 

 
8. MS. HUNT shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested 
documentation or information directly to the Board.  

 
9. MS. HUNT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
10. MS. HUNT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to 
the Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
11. MS. HUNT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the 
Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
12. MS. HUNT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
13. MS. HUNT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 
14. MS. HUNT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
HUNT submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. HUNT has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. HUNT is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. HUNT and review of the 
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documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
HUNT’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 
 
1. MS. HUNT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MS. HUNT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 

Employment Conditions 
 

3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every 
employer, MS. HUNT shall notify the Board, in writing. 

 
4. MS. HUNT is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 

and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HUNT shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing 
is required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a 
quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting 
employment as a nurse.  MS. HUNT shall have her employer(s) send 
documentation to the Board, along with the first employer report, of 
receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing, including the date they were received. 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. HUNT shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation 
approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HUNT 
 
6. MS. HUNT shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
7. MS. HUNT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. HUNT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to 
the Board or to employers or potential employers. 
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9. MS. HUNT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the 
Compliance Unit of the Board. 
 

10. MS. HUNT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of 
the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. HUNT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 
12. MS. HUNT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 

 
The stay of MS. HUNT’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. HUNT’s license 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. HUNT has violated or breached 
any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic suspension, 
the Board shall notify MS. HUNT via certified mail of the specific nature of the 
charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt of this notice, 
MS. HUNT may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. HUNT has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. HUNT is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. HUNT and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. HUNT 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Harris, Monique L., R.N. 356306, P.N. 125305 (CASE #15-6843; #15-0567) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board accept all of the Conclusions of Law and the Recommendation in the 
Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation and that MONIQUE L. 
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HARRIS’s licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio be PERMANENTLY REVOKED.  It was 
further moved that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, with the 
exception of the evidence summarized at page 5, paragraphs 16 and 17; the 
Board notes for the record that the Deception to Obtain a Dangerous Drug 
crimes were felonies of the “third” and not “second” degree.  
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Sandra 
Ranck abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.   
 
Hoffman, Sara Ann, R.N. 376355 (CASE #15-1955; #15-0413; #13-6195) 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that the Board redact the Social Security Numbers from State’s Exhibits 6, 9, 
and 11 in accordance with the Federal Privacy Act of 1974. It was further 
moved that the Board dismiss the factual allegation that while working as a 
nurse at Covenant Village Nursing Home in Cincinnati, Ohio, SARA ANN 
HOFFMAN failed to document the administration of, or otherwise account for 
the disposition of, two (2) tablets of Hydrocodone-Acetaminophen 5-500 that 
she signed out from the scheduled drug record for Patient #3 on September 
8, 2013, at 7:00 am. It was further moved that the Board accept all of the 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the Recommendation in the 
Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, and that MS. HOFFMAN’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse in the State of Ohio be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, 
MS. HOFFMAN’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years, including the 
Temporary Practice and Temporary Narcotic Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. HOFFMAN shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. HOFFMAN shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOFFMAN shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. HOFFMAN, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. HOFFMAN’s criminal records check reports to the 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 32 
 

Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOFFMAN shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Fayette County, Kentucky Court, in Case Number 14-F-
02158. 
 

5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOFFMAN shall 
submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Agreed Order issued by the Kentucky Board of Nursing, 
dated April 14, 2015, and that her Kentucky license is current, valid, and 
unrestricted. 
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOFFMAN shall, 
in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  thirty (30) hours of Documentation; ten (10) hours of 
Medication Administration; five (5) hours of Ethics; five (5) hours of 
Professionalism; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
7. MS. HOFFMAN shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HOFFMAN’s history.  MS. HOFFMAN shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
8. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOFFMAN shall, 

at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. HOFFMAN shall provide the chemical dependency professional with 
a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. HOFFMAN shall execute releases to permit the chemical 
dependency professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate 
and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional 
shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, 
recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions 
that should be placed on MS. HOFFMAN's license, and a statement as to 
whether MS. HOFFMAN is capable of practicing nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
9. MS. HOFFMAN shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 
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compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. HOFFMAN’s license. 

 
10. If recommended by the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. 

HOFFMAN shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 
products containing alcohol.  
 

11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 
to requesting reinstatement, MS. HOFFMAN shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
HOFFMAN’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, 
or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. HOFFMAN shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. HOFFMAN’s history. 

 
12. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. HOFFMAN initiating drug screening, 

MS. HOFFMAN shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. HOFFMAN. 

 
13. After initiating drug screening, MS. HOFFMAN shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. HOFFMAN shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
14. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. HOFFMAN shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. HOFFMAN 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. HOFFMAN 
 

15. MS. HOFFMAN shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
16. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
17. MS. HOFFMAN shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
18. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
19. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
20. MS. HOFFMAN shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

21. MS. HOFFMAN shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
HOFFMAN submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. HOFFMAN has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. HOFFMAN is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. HOFFMAN and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
HOFFMAN’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. HOFFMAN shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. HOFFMAN shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. HOFFMAN shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HOFFMAN’s history.  MS. HOFFMAN shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. If recommended by the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. 

HOFFMAN shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 
products containing alcohol. 

 
5. During the probationary period, MS. HOFFMAN shall submit, at her 

expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. HOFFMAN shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. HOFFMAN’s history. 

 
6. If recommended by the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. 

HOFFMAN shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 
support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. HOFFMAN shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

HOFFMAN shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. HOFFMAN shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. HOFFMAN shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
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directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
HOFFMAN throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. HOFFMAN shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. HOFFMAN shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. HOFFMAN is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HOFFMAN shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. HOFFMAN shall have her employer(s) send documentation 
to the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of 
this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. MS. HOFFMAN shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HOFFMAN 

 
13. MS. HOFFMAN shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. HOFFMAN shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 
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17. MS. HOFFMAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by 
this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. HOFFMAN shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. HOFFMAN shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 

 
MS. HOFFMAN shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. HOFFMAN’s use by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. HOFFMAN’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. HOFFMAN 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. HOFFMAN shall not 
call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. HOFFMAN shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. HOFFMAN to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   

 
MS. HOFFMAN shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 

 
The stay of MS. HOFFMAN’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
HOFFMAN’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. HOFFMAN has 
violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. HOFFMAN via certified mail 
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of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  
Upon receipt of this notice, MS. HOFFMAN may request a hearing regarding 
the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. HOFFMAN has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. HOFFMAN is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
HOFFMAN and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. HOFFMAN does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Yaeger, Angela Jo, R.N. 348366 (CASE #15-5673) 
Action: It was moved by Brenda Boggs, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that ANGELA JO YAEGER’s license to practice nursing as a registered 
nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of time but 
not less than six (6) months with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and following reinstatement, MS. YAEGER’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under 
the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period 
of three (3) years. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. YAEGER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. YAEGER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. YAEGER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. YAEGER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. YAEGER’s criminal records check reports to the 
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Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. YAEGER shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Franklin County Court of Common Pleas in Case Number 
14 CR 5444. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. YAEGER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
YAEGER’s history.  MS. YAEGER shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. YAEGER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. YAEGER shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. YAEGER shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
YAEGER shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. YAEGER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. YAEGER 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. YAEGER shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. YAEGER’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. YAEGER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. YAEGER’s 
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initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
YAEGER shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. YAEGER’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. YAEGER initiating drug screening, MS. 

YAEGER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. YAEGER. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. YAEGER shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. YAEGER shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. YAEGER 

 
12. MS. YAEGER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. YAEGER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. YAEGER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. YAEGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. YAEGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  
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17. MS. YAEGER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office.  

 
18. MS. YAEGER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
 

DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
YAEGER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. YAEGER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. YAEGER is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. YAEGER and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
YAEGER’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. YAEGER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. YAEGER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. YAEGER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

4. MS. YAEGER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. YAEGER shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. YAEGER shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

5. MS. YAEGER shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
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orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 
 

Reporting Requirements of MS. YAEGER 
 

6. MS. YAEGER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
7. MS. YAEGER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. YAEGER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
9. MS. YAEGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
10. MS. YAEGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. YAEGER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. YAEGER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. YAEGER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. YAEGER’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. YAEGER has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. YAEGER via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. YAEGER may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. YAEGER has complied with all aspects of this 
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Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. YAEGER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. YAEGER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
YAEGER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Clark, Michael B., R.N. 343966 (CASE #14-1477) 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that MICHAEL B. CLARK’s license to practice nursing as a registered 
nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of time but 
not less than six (6) months with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and following reinstatement, MR. CLARK’s license to practice nursing 
as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
one (1) year, including the Temporary Practice and Temporary Narcotic 
Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MR. CLARK shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MR. CLARK shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. CLARK shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MR. CLARK, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MR. CLARK’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. CLARK shall, in 
addition to the requirements for renewal of his license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
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date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Professional Accountability and Legal 
Liabiltiy for Nurses; five (5) hours of Medication Safety; five (5) hours of 
Ethics; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 
 
Monitoring  
 

5. MR. CLARK shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 
of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. CLARK’s 
history.  MR. CLARK shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 
 

6. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
reinstatement, MR. CLARK shall, at his expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MR. CLARK shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. CLARK shall execute 
releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
chemical dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the 
Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MR. 
CLARK's license, and a statement as to whether MR. CLARK is capable 
of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of 
safe nursing care. 

 
7. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MR. CLARK shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MR. 
CLARK’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MR. CLARK shall submit, at his 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MR. CLARK’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MR. 
CLARK shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
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administered, or dispensed to him by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MR. CLARK’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MR. CLARK initiating drug screening, MR. 

CLARK shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MR. CLARK. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MR. CLARK shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MR. CLARK shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. CLARK 

 
11. MR. CLARK shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
12. MR. CLARK shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
13. MR. CLARK shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
14. MR. CLARK shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
15. MR. CLARK shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
16. MR. CLARK shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

17. MR. CLARK shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MR. 
CLARK submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MR. CLARK has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MR. CLARK is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MR. CLARK and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MR. 
CLARK’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 

 
1. MR. CLARK shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MR. CLARK shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MR. CLARK shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. CLARK’s 
history.  MR. CLARK shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 

days of the request, MR. CLARK shall, at his expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MR. CLARK 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. CLARK 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MR. CLARK's license, and a statement as to whether MR. CLARK is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
5. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MR. CLARK shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
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aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MR. 
CLARK’s license. 

 
6. During the probationary period, MR. CLARK shall submit, at his expense 

and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MR. CLARK shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MR. CLARK’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MR. 

CLARK shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MR. CLARK shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MR. CLARK shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MR. CLARK 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MR. CLARK shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MR. CLARK shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MR. CLARK is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MR. CLARK shall have his 
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employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MR. CLARK shall have his employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MR. CLARK shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. CLARK 

 
13. MR. CLARK shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MR. CLARK shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MR. CLARK shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MR. CLARK shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MR. CLARK shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MR. CLARK shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MR. CLARK shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MR. CLARK shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
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prescribed for MR. CLARK’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MR. CLARK’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MR. CLARK shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MR. CLARK shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MR. CLARK shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for agencies 
providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs 
providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or 
pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care 
and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
engage MR. CLARK to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   

 
MR. CLARK shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MR. CLARK’s suspension shall be lifted and MR. CLARK’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MR. CLARK has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MR. CLARK via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of his license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MR. CLARK may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MR. CLARK has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MR. CLARK is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MR. CLARK and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MR. 
CLARK does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
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Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.   
 
Lyons, Susan K., R.N. 317037 (CASE #15-5888) 
Action:  It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that the 
Board seal State’s Exhibit 9 in accordance with 42 CFR Part 2, and grant the 
State’s July 6, 2016 Motion to Admit Exhibit 10 as Additional Evidence. 
 
It was further moved that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law, and modify the Recommendation in the Hearing 
Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, and that SUSAN K. LYONS’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse in the State of Ohio be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than one (1) year with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, 
MS. LYONS’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years, including the 
Temporary Practice Restrictions, unless otherwise approved by the 
Board, set forth below. 

 
The rationale for the modification is the following:  MS. LYONS has failed to 
demonstrate a willingness to cooperate with the Board and was not forthright 
about an OVI charge.  In order to protect the public, the suspension of MS. 
LYONS’s license should be for a minimum period of one (1) year with 
demonstrated compliance including abstinence and drug screens. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. LYONS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LYONS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LYONS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. LYONS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. LYONS’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LYONS shall pay 

the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
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check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. LYONS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Within three (3) months prior to requesting reinstatement by the 
Board, MS. LYONS shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency 
evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency professional and 
shall provide the Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  
Prior to the evaluation, MS. LYONS shall provide the chemical 
dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. LYONS 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. LYONS's license, and a statement as to whether MS. LYONS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. MS. LYONS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. LYONS’s license. 

 
8. If recommended by the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. LYONS 

shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession of drugs, 
except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so 
authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. LYONS’s history.  MS. 
LYONS shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the manner 
prescribed. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of three (3) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. LYONS shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. LYONS’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
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the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
LYONS shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. LYONS’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. LYONS initiating drug screening, MS. 

LYONS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. LYONS. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. LYONS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. LYONS shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LYONS shall, at 

her expense, obtain a comprehensive physical examination by a Board 
approved physician for the purposes of evaluating MS. LYONS’s fitness 
for duty and safety to practice nursing as a registered nurse.  This Board 
approved physician shall provide the Board with complete documentation 
of MS. LYONS’s comprehensive physical examination and with a 
comprehensive assessment regarding MS. LYONS’s fitness for duty and 
safety to practice nursing as a registered nurse.  Prior to the examination, 
MS. LYONS shall provide the Board approved physician with a copy of 
this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. LYONS shall execute releases to permit the Board 
approved physician performing the comprehensive physical examination 
and assessment to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the assessment.  The evaluating physician shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. LYONS’s license to practice, and stating whether MS. LYONS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 
 

13. The Board may utilize the Board approved physician's recommendations 
and conclusions from the comprehensive physical examination and 
assessment as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
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LYONS’s license. 
 

Reporting Requirements of MS. LYONS 
 

14. MS. LYONS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
15. MS. LYONS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
16. MS. LYONS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
17. MS. LYONS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
18. MS. LYONS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
19. MS. LYONS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

20. MS. LYONS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
LYONS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. LYONS has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. LYONS is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. LYONS and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
LYONS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. LYONS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. LYONS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. If recommended by the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. LYONS 

shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession of drugs, 
except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so 
authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. LYONS’s history.  MS. 
LYONS shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the manner 
prescribed. 

 
4. MS. LYONS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. LYONS shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. LYONS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. LYONS’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

LYONS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. LYONS shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
7. MS. LYONS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. LYONS 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. LYONS shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 
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Employment Conditions 
 

9. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 
MS. LYONS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

10. MS. LYONS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LYONS 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LYONS shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

11. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. LYONS shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LYONS 

 
12. MS. LYONS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. LYONS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
14. MS. LYONS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. LYONS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
16. MS. LYONS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 
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17. MS. LYONS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office. 

 
18. MS. LYONS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. LYONS shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. LYONS to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. LYONS shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. LYONS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. LYONS’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. LYONS has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. LYONS via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. LYONS may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. LYONS has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. LYONS is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. LYONS and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
LYONS does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 57 
 

this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Miller, Asia Rochelle, P.N. 156400, MAC 00166 (CASE #15-7421) 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, modify the Conclusions of 
Law and modify the Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and 
Recommendation, and that ASIA ROCHELLE MILLER’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse and certificate to administer medications 
as a certified medication aide in the State of Ohio be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time but not less than six (6) months with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, MS. MILLER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and certificate to 
administer medications as a certified medication aide shall be subject to a 
stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth 
below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the Temporary 
Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
The rationale for the modification is as follows:  the Notice of Automatic 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing provided sufficient and detailed 
notice to MS. MILLER as to the alleged violations of the Consent Agreement 
for which Section 4723.28(B)(17), ORC, authorizes the Board to take action; 
further, based on MS. MILLER’s alcohol-related history and noncompliance 
with Board monitoring, a minimum six-month suspension with demonstrated 
clean urine screens is necessary for public protection. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. MILLER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of  in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MILLER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MILLER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. MILLER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. MILLER’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
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4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MILLER shall, in 
addition to the requirements for renewal of her license to practice nursing 
as a licensed practical nurse and certificate to administer medications as a 
certified medication aide, successfully complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of successful completion of the following continuing 
education taken subsequent to the effective date of this Order:  five (5) 
hours of Alcohol and Alcohol Abuse; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing 
Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. MILLER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MILLER’s history.  MS. MILLER shall self-administer the prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. MILLER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MILLER shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. MILLER shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. MILLER shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. MILLER's license and 
certificate, and a statement as to whether MS. MILLER is capable of 
practicing as a licensed practical nurse or certified medication aide 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe care. 

 
8. MS. MILLER shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. MILLER’s license and certificate. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. MILLER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
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at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. MILLER’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and 
certificate to administer medications as a certified medication aide for 
purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall require a 
daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. MILLER shall be 
negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to 
her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MILLER’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. MILLER initiating drug screening, MS. 

MILLER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. MILLER. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. MILLER shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. MILLER shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of three (3) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. MILLER shall attend a minimum 
of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. MILLER 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. MILLER 

 
13. MS. MILLER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. MILLER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice as a licensed practical nurse 
and/or certified medication aide according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe practice.  
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15. MS. MILLER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. MILLER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. MILLER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. MILLER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. MILLER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
MILLER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. MILLER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. MILLER is able to 
practice as a licensed practical nurse and/or certified medication aide 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe care based upon an 
interview with MS. MILLER and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
MILLER’s license and certificate shall be subject to the following 
probationary terms and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) 
years. 

 
1. MS. MILLER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MILLER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. MILLER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MILLER’s history.  MS. MILLER shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 
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4. MS. MILLER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. MILLER shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. MILLER 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. MILLER shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. MILLER's license and 
certificate, and a statement as to whether MS. MILLER is capable of 
practicing as a licensed practical nurse and/or certified medication aide 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. MILLER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
MILLER’s license and certificate. 

 
7. During the probationary period, MS. MILLER shall submit, at her expense 

and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license to practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse and certificate to practice as a certified medication aide for purposes 
of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in 
process.  The specimens submitted by MS. MILLER shall be negative, 
except for substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. MILLER’s 
history. 

 
8. MS. MILLER shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. MILLER shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 
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Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 

9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
MILLER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. MILLER shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. MILLER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. MILLER 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. MILLER shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to accepting employment as a licensed practical nurse and/or 

certified medication aide, each time with every employer, MS. MILLER 
shall notify the Board, in writing. 

 
13. MS. MILLER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 

and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a licensed 
practical nurse and/or certified medication aide.  MS. MILLER shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license and/or 
certificate to practice is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a licensed practical nurse and/or certified 
medication aide.  MS. MILLER shall have her employer(s) send 
documentation to the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt 
of a copy of this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. MILLER shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license and/or certificate to 
practice  is required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a  refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. MILLER 
 

15. MS. MILLER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. MILLER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice as a licensed practical nurse 
and/or certified medication aide according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe practice. 

 
17. MS. MILLER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 
 

18. MS. MILLER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. MILLER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MS. MILLER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MS. MILLER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. MILLER shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and/or as 
a certified medication aide (1) for agencies providing home care in the 
patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs providing hospice care in 
the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an 
independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care and is 
reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
engage MS. MILLER to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. MILLER shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
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President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. MILLER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. MILLER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and certificate to 
administer medications as a certified medication aide will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. MILLER has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. MILLER via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license and 
certificate.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. MILLER may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. MILLER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. MILLER is able to practice as a 
licensed practical nurse and/or certified medication aide according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe care without Board monitoring, 
based upon an interview with MS. MILLER and review of the reports as 
required herein.  Any period during which MS. MILLER does not work in a 
position for which a license to practice and/or medication aide certificate is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Turner, Tia Parthenia, P.N. 113964 (CASE #15-4871) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that the Board redact the Social Security number from State’s Exhibit 6 in 
accordance with the Federal Privacy Act of 1974. 
 
It was further moved that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and the Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s 
Report and Recommendation, and that TIA PARTHENIA TURNER’s license 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse in the State of Ohio be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, MS. TURNER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a 
stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth 
below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the Temporary 
Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
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REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. TURNER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. TURNER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. TURNER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. TURNER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. TURNER’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. TURNER shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Nurses and Substance Use Disorders; 
four (4) hours of Disciplinary Actions; one (1) hour of Ohio Nursing Law 
and Rules Governing the Practice of Nursing in Ohio; and five (5) hours of 
Professional Accountability and Legal Liability for Nurses. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. TURNER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
TURNER’s history.  MS. TURNER shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 

reinstatement, MS. TURNER shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. TURNER shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. TURNER shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
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on MS. TURNER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. TURNER 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. TURNER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
TURNER’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. TURNER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. TURNER’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
TURNER shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. TURNER’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. TURNER initiating drug screening, MS. 

TURNER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. TURNER. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. TURNER shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. TURNER shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. TURNER 

 
11. MS. TURNER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
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or information directly to the Board.  
 

12. MS. TURNER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
13. MS. TURNER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
14. MS. TURNER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
15. MS. TURNER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
16. MS. TURNER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

17. MS. TURNER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
TURNER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. TURNER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. TURNER is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. TURNER and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
TURNER’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. TURNER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. TURNER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. TURNER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
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possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
TURNER’s history.  MS. TURNER shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 

days of the request, MS. TURNER shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. TURNER 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. TURNER shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. TURNER's license, and a 
statement as to whether MS. TURNER is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
5. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. TURNER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
TURNER’s license. 
 

6. During the probationary period, MS. TURNER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. TURNER shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. TURNER’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

TURNER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. TURNER shall be under 
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a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. TURNER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
TURNER throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. TURNER shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. TURNER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. TURNER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
TURNER shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. TURNER shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 

 
12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. TURNER shall, 

prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. TURNER 

 
13. MS. TURNER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. TURNER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 
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15. MS. TURNER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. TURNER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. TURNER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. TURNER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. TURNER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. TURNER shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. TURNER to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. TURNER shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. TURNER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. TURNER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. TURNER has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. TURNER via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. TURNER may request a hearing regarding the 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 71 
 

charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. TURNER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. TURNER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. TURNER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
TURNER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Henry, Steven Donald, P.N. 135283 (CASE #14-6203) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that MR. HENRY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended and that the suspension is stayed 
subject to the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a 
minimum period of one (1) year, including the Temporary Practice 
Restrictions, unless otherwise approved by the Board or its designee, 
set forth below. 
 
MR. HENRY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
shall be subject to the following probationary terms and restrictions for 
a minimum period of one (1) year: 

 
1. MR. HENRY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MR. HENRY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board. 
 
3. MR. HENRY shall submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification 

and Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MR. 
HENRY, including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) 
records, and shall cause BCII to submit MR. HENRY’s criminal records 
check reports to the Board.  MR. HENRY’s completed criminal records 
check, including the FBI check, must be received by the Board within 
six (6) months of effective date of this Order. 
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4. Within six (6) months of the effective date of this Order, MR. HENRY 
shall pay the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, 
cashier check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of 
Ohio,” to the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 
 

5. Within six (6) months of the effective date of this Order, MR. HENRY 
shall, in addition to the requirements for renewal of his license, 
successfully complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
successful completion of the following continuing education taken 
subsequent to the effective date of this Order:  ten (10) hours of Anger 
Management. 

 
Employment Conditions 
 
6. MR. HENRY shall notify the Board, in writing, of the name and address of 

any current employer within thirty (30) days following the effective 
date of this Order, or any new employer prior to accepting employment 
as a nurse. 

 
7. MR. HENRY, within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this Order, 

if working in a position in which a license to practice nursing is required, 
shall provide his employer(s) with a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. HENRY is under a continuing duty 
to provide a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing 
to any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MR. 
HENRY shall have his employer(s), if working in a position where a 
nursing license is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within forty-five (45) days 
of the effective date of this Order or beginning within forty-five (45) 
days of working in a position as a nurse.  MR. HENRY shall have his 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received.   

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. HENRY 
 
8. MR. HENRY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
9. MR. HENRY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 
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10. MR. HENRY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
11. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
12. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
13. MR. HENRY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 
14. MR. HENRY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MR. HENRY shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MR. HENRY to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MR. HENRY shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include but are not limited to the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MR. HENRY’s suspension shall be lifted and MR. HENRY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MR. HENRY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MR. HENRY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of his license.  Upon 
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receipt of this notice, MR. HENRY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MR. HENRY has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MR. HENRY is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MR. HENRY and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MR. 
HENRY does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Parmer, Michelle Renee, R.N. 392046, P.N. 147185 (CASE #15-6605) 
Action: It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that MICHELLE RENEE PARMER’s licenses to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse and licensed practical nurse in the State of Ohio be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than one (1) year with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following reinstatement, 
MS. PARMER’s licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and 
licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Permanent Practice and Temporary Narcotic 
Restrictions, unless otherwise approved in advance by the Board, set 
forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. PARMER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PARMER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PARMER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. PARMER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
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BCII to submit MS. PARMER’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PARMER shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Pickaway County Court of Common Pleas in Case 
Number 2015-CR-101. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. PARMER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
PARMER’s history.  MS. PARMER shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. PARMER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
reinstatement, MS. PARMER shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. PARMER shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. PARMER shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. PARMER's licenses, and a statement as to whether MS. 
PARMER is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. PARMER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
PARMER’s licenses. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. PARMER shall submit, at her expense 
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and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. PARMER’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
PARMER shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. PARMER’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. PARMER initiating drug screening, MS. 

PARMER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. PARMER. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. PARMER shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. PARMER shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 
 

12. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 
to requesting reinstatement, MS. PARMER shall attend a minimum of 
two (2) meetings per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. PARMER 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PARMER 

 
13. MS. PARMER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. PARMER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. PARMER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
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misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. PARMER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. PARMER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. PARMER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. PARMER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
PARMER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. PARMER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. PARMER is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. PARMER and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
PARMER’s licenses shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. PARMER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PARMER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. PARMER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
PARMER’s history.  MS. PARMER shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. PARMER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 
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products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. PARMER shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. PARMER 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. PARMER shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. PARMER's licenses, and a 
statement as to whether MS. PARMER is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. PARMER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
PARMER’s licenses. 
 

7. During the probationary period, MS. PARMER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. PARMER shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. PARMER’s history. 
 

8. MS. PARMER shall attend a minimum of two (2) meetings per week of a 
support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. PARMER shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

PARMER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
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shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. PARMER shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. PARMER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
PARMER throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. PARMER shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. PARMER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

13. MS. PARMER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
PARMER shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. PARMER shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. PARMER shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PARMER 

 
15. MS. PARMER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. PARMER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
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request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MS. PARMER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MS. PARMER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. PARMER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MS. PARMER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MS. PARMER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. PARMER shall not administer, have access to, or possess 
(except as prescribed for MS. PARMER’s use by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. PARMER’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. PARMER 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. PARMER shall not 
call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. PARMER shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse 
and/or licensed practical nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the 
patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs providing hospice care in 
the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an 
independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care and is 
reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
engage MS. PARMER to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   
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Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. PARMER shall not function in a position or employment 
where the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and 
nursing responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. PARMER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. PARMER’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and licensed practical nurse 
will be automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. PARMER 
has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. PARMER via certified mail 
of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
licenses.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. PARMER may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. PARMER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. PARMER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. PARMER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
PARMER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 

 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Weigel, Jeanette Sue, P.N. 072817 (CASE #15-6782; #15-1913) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by Maryam Lyon, that the 
Board redact the Social Security number from Respondent’s Exhibit B, in 
accordance with the Federal Privacy Act of 1974. It was further moved that 
the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation 
and that JEANETTE SUE WEIGEL’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio be PERMANENTLY REVOKED.  
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
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This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.   
 
Short, Mendy Marie, P.N. 106867 (CASE #15-6409) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that MENDY MARIE SHORT’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following 
reinstatement, MS. SHORT’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Permanent Practice Restrictions, unless 
otherwise approved in advance by the Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. SHORT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. SHORT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. SHORT shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. SHORT, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. SHORT’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. SHORT shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the United States District Court for the Southern Disctrict of 
Ohio, Eastern Division, in Case Number 2:14-CR-61. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. SHORT shall, at 

her expense, obtain a comprehensive physical examination by a Board 
approved physician for the purposes of evaluating MS. SHORT’s fitness 
for duty and safety to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse.  This 
Board approved physician shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of MS. SHORT’s comprehensive physical examination and 
with a comprehensive assessment regarding MS. SHORT’s fitness for 
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duty and safety to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse.  Prior to 
the examination, MS. SHORT shall provide the Board approved physician 
with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  
Further, MS. SHORT shall execute releases to permit the Board approved 
physician performing the comprehensive physical examination and 
assessment to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the assessment.  The evaluating physician shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. SHORT’s license to practice, and stating whether MS. SHORT is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 
 

6. The Board may utilize the Board approved physician's recommendations 
and conclusions from the comprehensive physical examination and 
assessment as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
SHORT’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. SHORT 

 
7. MS. SHORT shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
8. MS. SHORT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
9. MS. SHORT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
10. MS. SHORT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
11. MS. SHORT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
12. MS. SHORT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

13. MS. SHORT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
SHORT submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. SHORT has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. SHORT is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. SHORT and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
SHORT’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. SHORT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. SHORT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. SHORT shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

4. MS. SHORT is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. SHORT shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. SHORT shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. SHORT shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. SHORT 

 
6. MS. SHORT shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 
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7. MS. SHORT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. SHORT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
9. MS. SHORT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
10. MS. SHORT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. SHORT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. SHORT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. SHORT shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. SHORT to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. SHORT shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. SHORT’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. SHORT’s 
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license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. SHORT has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. SHORT via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. SHORT may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. SHORT has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. SHORT is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. SHORT and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
SHORT does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Davis, Latrice Josephine, R.N. 309816 (CASE #15-0555) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board admit Respondent’s Exhibit A as additional evidence. It was further 
moved that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 
and modify the Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and 
Recommendation, and that LATRICE JOSEPHINE DAVIS’s license to 
practice nursing as a registered nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for 
an indefinite period of time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and following reinstatement, MS. DAVIS’s license to practice nursing 
as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
two (2) years, including the Permanent Practice Restrictions, unless 
otherwise approved in advance by the Board, set forth below. 

 
The rationale for the modification is the following:  The Board in its expertise 
has determined that MS. DAVIS should be permanently restricted from 
practicing in unsupervised settings, or in positions that require her to 
supervise other nurses based on a pattern of misconduct, in that MS. DAVIS 
has a prior Ohio Board action for felony Theft, in addition to the acts set forth 
in the Georgia Board action that involve falsification of timesheets and 
documents. 
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REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 

1. MS. DAVIS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 
rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DAVIS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DAVIS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. DAVIS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. DAVIS’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DAVIS shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Order issued by the Georgia Board of Nursing, dated 
January 8, 2015, and that her Georgia license is current, valid, and 
unrestricted. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. DAVIS 

 
5. MS. DAVIS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MS. DAVIS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MS. DAVIS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MS. DAVIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MS. DAVIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MS. DAVIS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
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11. MS. DAVIS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. DAVIS 
submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines that 
MS. DAVIS has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. DAVIS is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. DAVIS and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
DAVIS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms and 
restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. DAVIS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DAVIS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. DAVIS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

4. MS. DAVIS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. DAVIS shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. DAVIS shall have her employer(s) send documentation to the 
Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. DAVIS shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. DAVIS 
 

6. MS. DAVIS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
7. MS. DAVIS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. DAVIS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
9. MS. DAVIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
10. MS. DAVIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. DAVIS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. DAVIS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DAVIS shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. DAVIS to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DAVIS shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
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Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. DAVIS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. DAVIS’s license 
to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically suspended if it 
appears to the Board that MS. DAVIS has violated or breached any terms or 
conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic suspension, the Board shall 
notify MS. DAVIS via certified mail of the specific nature of the charges and 
automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. DAVIS 
may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. DAVIS has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. DAVIS is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. DAVIS and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. DAVIS 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Andrews, Chelsea Lynn, R.N. 353238 (CASE #15-3815; #14-0065) 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and modify the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that CHELSEA LYNN ANDREWS’s license to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set 
forth below, and following reinstatement, MS. ANDREWS’s license to 
practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of five (5) years, including the Temporary Practice and Temporary 
Narcotic Restrictions set forth below. 
 
The rationale for the modification is the following:  The Board in its expertise 
has determined that given the severity of MS. ANDREWS’s addiction, a 
longer period of suspension and probationary monitoring is required to ensure 
that MS. ANDREWS is able to practice nursing safely. 
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REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. ANDREWS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ANDREWS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ANDREWS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. ANDREWS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. ANDREWS’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ANDREWS shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the  Lucas County Court of Common Pleas in Case Number 
G-4801-CR-201501655. 
 

5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ANDREWS shall, 
in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  thirty (30) hours of Chemical Dependency and 
Substance Abuse; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
6. MS. ANDREWS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ANDREWS’s history.  MS. ANDREWS shall self-administer the 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
7. MS. ANDREWS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

8. Within three (3) months prior to requesting reinstatement by the 
Board, MS. ANDREWS shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. ANDREWS shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
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Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. ANDREWS shall execute releases to permit the chemical 
dependency professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate 
and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional 
shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, 
recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions 
that should be placed on MS. ANDREWS's license, and a statement as to 
whether MS. ANDREWS is capable of practicing nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
9. MS. ANDREWS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation 

of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. ANDREWS’s license. 

 
10. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. ANDREWS shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
ANDREWS’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ANDREWS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ANDREWS’s history. 

 
11. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. ANDREWS initiating drug screening, 

MS. ANDREWS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. ANDREWS. 

 
12. After initiating drug screening, MS. ANDREWS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. ANDREWS shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 93 
 
 

13. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 
to requesting reinstatement, MS. ANDREWS shall attend a minimum of 
three (3) meetings per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. ANDREWS 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
14. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ANDREWS shall, 

at her expense, obtain a psychiatric evaluation from a Board approved 
psychiatrist and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
such evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. ANDREWS shall provide the 
psychiatrist with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing and shall execute releases to 
permit the psychiatrist to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the evaluation.  The psychiatrist shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. ANDREWS's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
ANDREWS is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
15. MS. ANDREWS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation 

of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
psychiatrist described above until released.  Further, the Board may utilize 
the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation 
as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. ANDREWS’s 
license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ANDREWS 

 
16. MS. ANDREWS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
17. MS. ANDREWS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
18. MS. ANDREWS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
19. MS. ANDREWS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  
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20. MS. ANDREWS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 
this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
21. MS. ANDREWS shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

22. MS. ANDREWS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
ANDREWS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. ANDREWS has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. ANDREWS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. ANDREWS and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
ANDREWS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
terms and restrictions for a minimum period of five (5) years. 

 
1. MS. ANDREWS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ANDREWS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. ANDREWS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ANDREWS’s history.  MS. ANDREWS shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. ANDREWS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. ANDREWS shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
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specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ANDREWS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ANDREWS’s history. 

 
6. MS. ANDREWS shall attend a minimum of three (3) meetings per week of 

a support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. ANDREWS shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

ANDREWS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. ANDREWS shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. ANDREWS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
ANDREWS throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. ANDREWS shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. ANDREWS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. ANDREWS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
ANDREWS shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. ANDREWS shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 96 
 

employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. MS. ANDREWS shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ANDREWS 

 
13. MS. ANDREWS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. ANDREWS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. ANDREWS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. ANDREWS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. ANDREWS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. ANDREWS shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. ANDREWS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. ANDREWS shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. ANDREWS’s use by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. ANDREWS’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. ANDREWS 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
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medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. ANDREWS shall not 
call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. ANDREWS shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. ANDREWS to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. ANDREWS shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. ANDREWS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
ANDREWS’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. ANDREWS has 
violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. ANDREWS via certified 
mail of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. ANDREWS may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. ANDREWS has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. ANDREWS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
ANDREWS and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. ANDREWS does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
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Draper, Pamela Jean, P.N. 112396 (CASE #15-3491) 
Action: It was moved by Brenda Boggs, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that the 
Board accept all of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, 
and that PAMELA JEAN DRAPER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and following 
reinstatement, MS. DRAPER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Temporary Practice Restrictions, unless 
otherwise approved by the Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. DRAPER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DRAPER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DRAPER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. DRAPER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. DRAPER’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. DRAPER shall submit 

documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the June 18, 2015 Order issed by the Indiana State Board of 
Nursing, and that her Indiana license is current, valid, and unrestricted. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. DRAPER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
DRAPER’s history.  MS. DRAPER shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. DRAPER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
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7. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
reinstatement, MS. DRAPER shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. DRAPER shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. DRAPER shall execute 
releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
chemical dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the 
Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
DRAPER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. DRAPER is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. DRAPER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
DRAPER’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of three (3) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. DRAPER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. DRAPER’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
DRAPER shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. DRAPER’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. DRAPER initiating drug screening, MS. 

DRAPER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. DRAPER. 
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11. After initiating drug screening, MS. DRAPER shall be under a continuing 
duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. DRAPER shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. DRAPER 

 
12. MS. DRAPER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. DRAPER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. DRAPER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. DRAPER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. DRAPER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. DRAPER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. DRAPER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
DRAPER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. DRAPER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. DRAPER is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. DRAPER and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
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Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
DRAPER’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. DRAPER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DRAPER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. DRAPER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
DRAPER’s history.  MS. DRAPER shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. DRAPER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. DRAPER shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. DRAPER 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. DRAPER 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. DRAPER's license, and a statement as to whether MS. DRAPER 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. DRAPER shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
DRAPER’s license. 
 

7. During the probationary period, MS. DRAPER shall submit, at her 
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expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. DRAPER shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. DRAPER’s history.  MS. DRAPER 
may be released, upon her written request to the Board, from the 
requirement that she submit, at her expense and on the day selected, 
blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug and/or alcohol analysis 
after she has submitted two (2) years of negative specimens, and upon 
the approval, in writing, of the Board or its designee. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
8. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

DRAPER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. DRAPER shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
9. MS. DRAPER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
DRAPER throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
10. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. DRAPER shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
11. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. DRAPER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

12. MS. DRAPER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. DRAPER shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
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basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. DRAPER shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

13. MS. DRAPER shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. DRAPER 

 
14. MS. DRAPER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
15. MS. DRAPER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
16. MS. DRAPER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
17. MS. DRAPER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
18. MS. DRAPER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
19. MS. DRAPER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

20. MS. DRAPER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DRAPER shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
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for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. DRAPER to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DRAPER shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. DRAPER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. DRAPER’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. DRAPER has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. DRAPER via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. DRAPER may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. DRAPER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. DRAPER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. DRAPER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
DRAPER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Bletsch, Erin Alexis, P.N. 131547 (CASE #15-2020) 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
Board seal pages 3, 4, and 5 of Respondent’s Exhibit 1, in accordance with 
42 CFR Part 2.  It was further moved that the Board accept the Findings of 
Fact in the Hearing Examiner’s Report, with exception of paragraphs two (2) 
and three (3) under the Analysis provided on pages 5-6 of the Report.  It was 
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also further moved that the Board modify the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law that the State has established by a preponderance of the 
evidence that ERIN ALEXIS BLETSCH failed to call Firstlab on July 28, 
2014, and March 24, 2015, and that MS. BLETSCH failed to provide a 
specimen to Firstlab for analysis on March 24, 2015. 
 
It was further moved that the Board modify the Recommendation in the 
Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation and that MS. BLETSCH’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse in the State of Ohio 
be REINSTATED and REPRIMANDED.  
 
The rationale for the modification is the following: The Board in its expertise 
has determined that the Firstlab Detailed History Report, State’s Exhibit 6, is 
a reliable document, prepared in the ordinary course of business at Firstlab, 
and is a true and accurate depiction of MS. BLETSCH’s testing history.  The 
credit card receipt submitted with a billing purchase date of April 23 for one 
screen without more is not sufficient evidence to rebut the Firstlab record that 
MS. BLETSCH missed both a call and screen on March 24, 2015.  
Furthermore, the Board has determined that MS. BLETSCH’S testimony 
alone denying missed calls and screens does not have equal weight in 
contrast with the Firstlab Detailed Testing History. 
 
However, based on the length of MS. BLETSCH’s submission of clean drug 
screens for one and one-half (1½) years prior to the suspension with only two 
(2) missed calls and one (1) other missed screen, for which she submitted a 
negative specimen the next day, the Board find that the violation is minor and 
a Reprimand, without any additional requirements, will adequately protect the 
public. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.   
 
Wilson, Susan Kylene, P.N. 115798 (CASE #15-8631) 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that the 
Board grant the State’s Motion to Supplement the record with State’s Exhibit 
9. It was further moved that the Board accept all of the Findings of Fact in the 
Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation, with the exception of the 
Finding made in paragraph 4, page 7, in that the Board has admitted Exhibit 
9, which shows that the acts underlying the conviction occurred on or about 
December 27, 2010. 
 
It was further moved that the Board accept the Conclusions of Law and the 
Recommendation in the Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendation 
and that SUSAN KYLENE WILSON’s license to practice nursing as a 
licensed practical nurse in the State of Ohio be PERMANENTLY REVOKED.  
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Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.   
 
NO REQUEST FOR HEARING 
Hughes, Delora Lynn, P.N. 095421 (CASE #15-8233; #15-7847; #15-7842) 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against DELORA LYNN 
HUGHES in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find 
that MS. HUGHES has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, 
Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. HUGHES’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite 
period of time but not less than three (3) years, retroactive to January 26, 
2016, with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. HUGHES’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Temporary Practice Restrictions, set forth 
below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. HUGHES shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. HUGHES shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUGHES shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. HUGHES, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. HUGHES’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUGHES shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Substance Use Disorders; and one (1) 
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hour of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 
 

Monitoring  
 

5. MS. HUGHES shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HUGHES’s history.  MS. HUGHES shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. HUGHES shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and prior to 
requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HUGHES shall, at her 
expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved 
chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board with 
complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. 
HUGHES shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy 
of this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. HUGHES shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. HUGHES's license, and a 
statement as to whether MS. HUGHES is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. HUGHES shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
HUGHES’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. HUGHES shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. HUGHES’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
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HUGHES shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. HUGHES’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. HUGHES initiating drug screening, MS. 

HUGHES shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. HUGHES. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. HUGHES shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. HUGHES shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. HUGHES shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. HUGHES shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HUGHES 

 
13. MS. HUGHES shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. HUGHES shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. HUGHES shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. HUGHES shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. HUGHES shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
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Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. HUGHES shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. HUGHES shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
HUGHES submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. HUGHES has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. HUGHES is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. HUGHES and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
HUGHES’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. HUGHES shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. HUGHES shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. HUGHES shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HUGHES’s history.  MS. HUGHES shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. HUGHES shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. HUGHES shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
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of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. HUGHES shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. HUGHES’s history. 

 
6. MS. HUGHES shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. HUGHES shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

HUGHES shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. HUGHES shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. HUGHES shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
HUGHES throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. HUGHES shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. HUGHES shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. HUGHES is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
HUGHES shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HUGHES shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
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they were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. HUGHES shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HUGHES 

 
13. MS. HUGHES shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. HUGHES shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. HUGHES shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. HUGHES shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. HUGHES shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. HUGHES shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. HUGHES shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
The following Temporary Practice Restrictions shall remain in effect for a 
minimum period of five (5) years that MS. HUGHES is working in a position 
requiring a nursing license.  At any time after the five (5) year period 
previously described, MS HUGHES may submit a written request to the 
Board to have these restrictions re-evaluated. 

 
MS. HUGHES shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
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agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. HUGHES to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. HUGHES shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. HUGHES’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. HUGHES’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. HUGHES has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. HUGHES via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. HUGHES may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. HUGHES has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. HUGHES is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. HUGHES and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
HUGHES does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
VonGundy, Loren Anthony, P.N. 110188 (CASE #16-1479) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against LOREN ANTHONY 
VONGUNDY in the April 12, 2016 Order and Notices and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MR. VONGUNDY has committed 
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acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, 
as stated in the Order and Notices, and that MR. VONGUNDY’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be PERMANENTLY 
REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     

   
Capiccioni, Nancy Jean, R.N. 239454 (CASE #15-5929) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Nancy Fellows, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against NANCY JEAN 
CAPICCIONI in the November 20, 2015 Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find 
that MS. CAPICCIONI has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice 
Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing and that MS. CAPICCIONI’s license 
to practice nursing as a registered nurse be PERMANENTLY REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.      
 
Moore, Anna, R.N. 337037, P.N. 085708 (CASE #15-4758) 
Action: It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by Janet Arwood, that the 
Board indefinitely suspend MS. MOORE’s license for a minimum period of 
two (2) years, with conditions for reinstatement set forth below and following 
reinstatement MS.MOORE’s license be subject to probationary terms and 
restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years, including Permanent 
Practice Restrictions and the Permanent Narcotic Restrictions. Maryam Lyon 
moved to withdraw the motion indicating she omitted to include language 
indicating the permanent restrictions were to "previously imposed" and that 
both the practice and narcotics restrictions were to be  “unless otherwise 
approved in advance.” John Schmidt seconded the motion.  Janet Arwood 
withdrew her second of the original motion. 
 
Maryam Lyon then moved, seconded by Janet Arwood, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against ANNA JEAN MOORE in the 
January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MS. MOORE has committed acts in violation 
of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. MOORE’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time 
but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and that following reinstatement, MS. MOORE’s license to practice 
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nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under 
the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period 
of two (2) years, including the previously imposed Permanent Practice 
Restrictions, and the Permanent Narcotic Restrictions, unless otherwise 
approved in advance by the Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. MOORE shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MOORE shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MOORE shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. MOORE, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. MOORE’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MOORE shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  fifteen (15) hours of Chemical Dependency; ten (10) 
hours of Ethics; and one (1) hour of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. MOORE shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MOORE’s history.  MS. MOORE shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. MOORE shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MOORE shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. MOORE shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
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MOORE shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. MOORE's license, and a statement as to whether MS. MOORE is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. MOORE shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. MOORE’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. MOORE shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. MOORE’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
MOORE shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. MOORE’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. MOORE initiating drug screening, MS. 

MOORE shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. MOORE. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. MOORE shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. MOORE shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 
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12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 
prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. MOORE shall attend a minimum 
of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. MOORE 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 
 

13. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
reinstatement, MS. MOORE shall, at her expense, obtain a psychiatric 
evaluation from a Board approved psychiatrist and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of such evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. MOORE shall provide the psychiatrist with a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and shall execute releases to permit 
the psychiatrist to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the evaluation.  The psychiatrist shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. MOORE's license, and a statement as to whether MS. MOORE is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
14. If a psychiatric evaluation is requested, MS. MOORE shall provide the 

Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all aspects of 
the treatment plan developed by the psychiatrist described above until 
released.  Further, the Board may utilize the professional's 
recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for 
additional terms and restrictions on MS. MOORE’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. MOORE 

 
15. MS. MOORE shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
16. MS. MOORE shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
17. MS. MOORE shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
18. MS. MOORE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
19. MS. MOORE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
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Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
20. MS. MOORE shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

21. MS. MOORE shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
MOORE submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. MOORE has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. MOORE is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. MOORE and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
MOORE’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. MOORE shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MOORE shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. MOORE shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MOORE’s history.  MS. MOORE shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. MOORE shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. MOORE shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. MOORE 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. MOORE 
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shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. MOORE's license, and a statement as to whether MS. MOORE is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. MOORE shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
MOORE’s license. 

 
7. During the probationary period, MS. MOORE shall submit, at her expense 

and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. MOORE shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. MOORE’s history. 

 
8. MS. MOORE shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. MOORE shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
9. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 

days of the request, MS. MOORE shall, at her expense, obtain a 
psychiatric evaluation from a Board approved psychiatrist and shall 
provide the Board with complete documentation of such evaluation.  Prior 
to the evaluation, MS. MOORE shall provide the psychiatrist with a copy of 
this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and shall execute 
releases to permit the psychiatrist to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The psychiatrist shall 
submit a written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, 
recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions 
that should be placed on MS. MOORE's license, and a statement as to 
whether MS. MOORE is capable of practicing nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
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10. If a psychiatric evaluation is requested, MS. MOORE shall provide the 
Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all aspects of 
the treatment plan developed by the psychiatrist described above until 
released.  Further, the Board may utilize the professional's 
recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for 
additional terms and restrictions on MS. MOORE’s license. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
11. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

MOORE shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. MOORE shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
12. MS. MOORE shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
MOORE throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
13. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. MOORE shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
14. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. MOORE shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

15. MS. MOORE is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. MOORE shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. MOORE shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

16. MS. MOORE shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 120 
 

documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. MOORE 

 
17. MS. MOORE shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
18. MS. MOORE shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
19. MS. MOORE shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
20. MS. MOORE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
21. MS. MOORE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
22. MS. MOORE shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

23. MS. MOORE shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Permanent Narcotic Restriction 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. MOORE shall not administer, have access to, or possess 
(except as prescribed for MS. MOORE’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. MOORE’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. MOORE shall 
not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. MOORE shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 121 
 

designee, MS. MOORE shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) 
for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice 
care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for 
staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. MOORE to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or who engage MS. MOORE 
as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. MOORE shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. MOORE’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. MOORE’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. MOORE has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. MOORE via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. MOORE may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. MOORE has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. MOORE is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. MOORE and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
MOORE does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present.  
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.    
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Lewis, Nicole Jennifer, P.N. 136451 (CASE #15-8513; #15-8310) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by Maryam Lyon, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against NICOLE JENNIFER LEWIS 
in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. LEWIS 
has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. LEWIS’s license to practice nursing as 
a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time but 
not less than three (3) years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and that following reinstatement, MS. LEWIS’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of three (3) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Permanent 
Practice Restrictions, unless otherwise approved in advance by the 
Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. LEWIS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LEWIS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LEWIS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. LEWIS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. LEWIS’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LEWIS shall pay 

the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. LEWIS shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. LEWIS’s 
history.  MS. LEWIS shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
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manner prescribed. 
 

6. MS. LEWIS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 
products containing alcohol.  

 
7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LEWIS shall, at 

her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. LEWIS shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. LEWIS shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. LEWIS's license, and 
a statement as to whether MS. LEWIS is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. LEWIS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. LEWIS’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LEWIS shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. LEWIS’s initiation of 
drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit such 
specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the Board 
may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a license 
for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall require a 
daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. LEWIS shall be 
negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to 
her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LEWIS’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. LEWIS initiating drug screening, MS. 

LEWIS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
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completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. LEWIS. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. LEWIS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. LEWIS shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LEWIS shall attend a minimum of one 
(1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. LEWIS shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LEWIS 

 
13. MS. LEWIS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. LEWIS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. LEWIS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. LEWIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. LEWIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. LEWIS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. LEWIS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 

 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
LEWIS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. LEWIS has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. LEWIS is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. LEWIS and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
LEWIS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. LEWIS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LEWIS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. LEWIS shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. LEWIS’s 
history.  MS. LEWIS shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. LEWIS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. LEWIS shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. LEWIS shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. LEWIS shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. LEWIS's license, and a statement as to whether MS. LEWIS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 
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6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. LEWIS shall 
provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. LEWIS’s 
license. 
 

7. For a minimum period of at least one (1) year during the probationary 
period, MS. LEWIS shall submit, at her expense and on the day selected, 
blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a 
collection site specified by the Board at such times as the Board may 
request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit such 
specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the Board 
may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a license 
for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall require a 
daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. LEWIS shall be 
negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to 
her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LEWIS’s history.  At any time after the one (1) year period previously 
described, MS. LEWIS may submit a written request to the Board to have 
this restriction re-evaluated. 

 
8. MS. LEWIS shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. LEWIS shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months.   

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

LEWIS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. LEWIS shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. LEWIS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. LEWIS 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. LEWIS shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
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or prescription(s) received. 
 

Employment Conditions 
 

12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 
MS. LEWIS shall notify the Board, in writing. 

 
13. MS. LEWIS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 

the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LEWIS 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LEWIS shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. LEWIS shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LEWIS 

 
15. MS. LEWIS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. LEWIS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MS. LEWIS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MS. LEWIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. LEWIS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 
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20. MS. LEWIS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office. 

 
21. MS. LEWIS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 

of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. LEWIS shall not administer, have access to, or possess 
(except as prescribed for MS. LEWIS’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. LEWIS’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. LEWIS shall 
not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. LEWIS shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. LEWIS shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
(1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. LEWIS to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. LEWIS shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. LEWIS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. LEWIS’s license 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. LEWIS has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. LEWIS via certified mail of the specific 
nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt 
of this notice, MS. LEWIS may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. LEWIS has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. LEWIS is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. LEWIS and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. LEWIS 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Clift, Heather Renee, R.N. 356642, P.N. 131432 (CASE #15-2101) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against HEATHER RENEE CLIFT 
in the July 31, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. CLIFT has committed acts in 
violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. CLIFT’s licenses 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. CLIFT’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse 
shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and 
restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. CLIFT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. CLIFT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 
designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CLIFT shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. CLIFT, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. CLIFT’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
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4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CLIFT shall 
submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Order issued by the Virginia Board of Nursing dated April 
2, 2015, and that her Virginia license is current, valid, and unrestricted. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. CLIFT 
 
5. MS. CLIFT shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board. 

 
6. MS. CLIFT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MS. CLIFT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MS. CLIFT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MS. CLIFT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MS. CLIFT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MS. CLIFT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. CLIFT 
submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines that 
MS. CLIFT has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. CLIFT is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. CLIFT and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
CLIFT’s licenses shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
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1. MS. CLIFT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 
rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 

 
2. MS. CLIFT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 

designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 

Monitoring  
 

3. MS. CLIFT shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 
of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. CLIFT’s 
history.  MS. CLIFT shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. CLIFT shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. CLIFT shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical 
dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical dependency 
professional and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. CLIFT shall provide the 
chemical dependency professional with a copy of this Order and the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. CLIFT shall execute 
releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
chemical dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the 
Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
CLIFT's licenses, and a statement as to whether MS. CLIFT is capable of 
practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of 
safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. CLIFT shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. CLIFT’s 
licenses. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

CLIFT shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
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addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. CLIFT shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. CLIFT shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. CLIFT 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. CLIFT shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) or 
prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 
 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. CLIFT shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. CLIFT is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. CLIFT shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. CLIFT shall have her employer(s) send documentation to the 
Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 

 
12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. CLIFT shall, prior 

to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. CLIFT 
 
13. MS. CLIFT shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. CLIFT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 
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15. MS. CLIFT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. CLIFT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. CLIFT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. CLIFT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. CLIFT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. CLIFT’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. CLIFT’s licenses 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. CLIFT has 
violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. CLIFT via certified mail of 
the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her licenses.  
Upon receipt of this notice, MS. CLIFT may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. CLIFT has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. CLIFT is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. CLIFT and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. CLIFT 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
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Pitmon, Alisa M., P.N. 136118 (CASE #14-5450) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by John Schmidt, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against ALISA M. PITMON in the 
January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MS. PITMON has committed acts in violation 
of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. PITMON’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set 
forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. PITMON’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed 
suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a 
minimum period of two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic 
Restrictions, and the Temporary Practice Restrictions, unless otherwise 
approved in advance by the Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. PITMON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PITMON shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PITMON shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. PITMON, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. PITMON’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PITMON shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  ten (10) hours of Substance Abuse; five (5) hours of 
Documentation of Narcotics; and one (1) hour of Ohio Nursing Law and 
Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. PITMON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
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PITMON’s history.  MS. PITMON shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. PITMON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PITMON shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. PITMON shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
PITMON shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. PITMON's license, and a statement as to whether MS. PITMON is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. PITMON shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. PITMON’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. PITMON shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. PITMON’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
PITMON shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. PITMON’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. PITMON initiating drug screening, MS. 

PITMON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
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practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. PITMON. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. PITMON shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. PITMON shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. PITMON shall attend a minimum 
of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. PITMON 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PITMON 

 
13. MS. PITMON shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. PITMON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. PITMON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. PITMON shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. PITMON shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. PITMON shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. PITMON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
PITMON submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. PITMON has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. PITMON is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. PITMON and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
PITMON’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. PITMON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PITMON shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. PITMON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
PITMON’s history.  MS. PITMON shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. PITMON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. PITMON shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. PITMON shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. PITMON’s history. 

 
6. For a minimum, continuous period of not less than three (3) months, 

MS. PITMON shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 
support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. PITMON shall provide satisfactory 
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documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 
 

Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 

7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
PITMON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. PITMON shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. PITMON shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
PITMON throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. PITMON shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. PITMON shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. PITMON is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. PITMON shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. PITMON shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. PITMON shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. PITMON 
 

13. MS. PITMON shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. PITMON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. PITMON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. PITMON shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. PITMON shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. PITMON shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. PITMON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. PITMON shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. PITMON’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. PITMON’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. PITMON shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. PITMON shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. PITMON shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
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provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. PITMON to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. PITMON shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. PITMON’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. PITMON’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. PITMON has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. PITMON via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. PITMON may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. PITMON has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. PITMON is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. PITMON and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
PITMON does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
McBeth, Christina Marie, R.N. 292877 (CASE #15-1438) 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against CHRISTINA MARIE 
MCBETH in the May 15, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. MCBETH has committed acts 
in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. MCBETH’s 
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license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, 
and that following reinstatement, if MS MCBETH is approved to work in Ohio 
within five (5) years of the effective date of this Order, MS. MCBETH’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed 
suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a 
minimum period of three (3) years. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. MCBETH shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MCBETH shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MCBETH shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. MCBETH, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. MCBETH’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. MCBETH shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Licensure Committee Order issued by the North Carolina 
Board of Nursing (“North Carolina Board”) dated September 11, 2008, with 
North Carolina Board of Nursing Probationary Conditions; the Order to 
Suspend Following Non-Compliance with Chemical Dependency 
Discipline Program issued by the North Carolina Board, dated June 25, 
2010; and the Licensure Review Panel Order issued by the North Carolina 
Board, dated March 12, 2015. 
 

5. Prior to working as a nurse in Ohio, MS. MCBETH shall obtain the 
prior, written approval of the Board to seek nursing employment. 
 

Reporting Requirements of MS. MCBETH 
 

6. MS. MCBETH shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
7. MS. MCBETH shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
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and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  
 

8. MS. MCBETH shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
9. MS. MCBETH shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
10. MS. MCBETH shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  
 

11. MS. MCBETH shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office.  

 
12. MS. MCBETH shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
 

DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
MCBETH submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. MCBETH has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. MCBETH is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. MCBETH and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and if MS. 
MCBETH is approved to work in Ohio within five (5) years of the 
effective date of this Order, her license shall be subject to the following 
probationary terms and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) 
years. 

 
1. MS. MCBETH shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. MCBETH shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. MCBETH shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
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to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
MCBETH’s history.  MS. MCBETH shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. MCBETH shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. MCBETH shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. MCBETH shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
MCBETH shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. MCBETH's license, and a statement as to whether MS. MCBETH 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. MCBETH shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
MCBETH’s license. 

 
7. During the probationary period, MS. MCBETH shall submit, at her 

expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. MCBETH shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. MCBETH’s history. 

 
8. MS. MCBETH shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. MCBETH shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 
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Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 

9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
MCBETH shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. MCBETH shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. MCBETH shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
MCBETH throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. MCBETH shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to working as a nurse in Ohio, MS. MCBETH shall notify the 

Board, in writing, of the name and address of any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse, and shall obtain the permission of the 
Board, in writing, to accept employment as a nurse. 
 

13. MS. MCBETH is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. MCBETH shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. MCBETH shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
 

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. MCBETH shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. MCBETH 
 

15. MS. MCBETH shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. MCBETH shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MS. MCBETH shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MS. MCBETH shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. MCBETH shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MS. MCBETH shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MS. MCBETH shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. MCBETH’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. MCBETH’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. MCBETH has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. MCBETH via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. MCBETH may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. MCBETH has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. MCBETH is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
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without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. MCBETH and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
MCBETH does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Zupan, Mia Marie, P.N. 121622 (CASE #15-6919) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against MIA MARIE ZUPAN in 
the November 20, 2015 Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
ZUPAN has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic Suspension 
and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. ZUPAN’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. ZUPAN’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
one (1) year, including the Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. ZUPAN shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ZUPAN shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZUPAN shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. ZUPAN, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. ZUPAN’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZUPAN shall pay 

the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
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Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. ZUPAN shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. ZUPAN’s 
history.  MS. ZUPAN shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. ZUPAN shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZUPAN shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. ZUPAN shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. ZUPAN shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. ZUPAN's license, and 
a statement as to whether MS. ZUPAN is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. ZUPAN shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. ZUPAN’s license. 

 
9. Prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. ZUPAN shall begin submitting, 

at her expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine 
specimens for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by 
the Board at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
ZUPAN’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ZUPAN shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
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law who has full knowledge of MS. ZUPAN’s history. 
 

10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. ZUPAN initiating drug screening, MS. 
ZUPAN shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. ZUPAN. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. ZUPAN shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. ZUPAN shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ZUPAN 

 
12. MS. ZUPAN shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. ZUPAN shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. ZUPAN shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. ZUPAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. ZUPAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. ZUPAN shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. ZUPAN shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
ZUPAN submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. ZUPAN has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. ZUPAN is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. ZUPAN and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
ZUPAN’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 

 
1. MS. ZUPAN shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ZUPAN shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. ZUPAN shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. ZUPAN’s 
history.  MS. ZUPAN shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. ZUPAN shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. ZUPAN shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ZUPAN shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ZUPAN’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

ZUPAN shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
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shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. ZUPAN shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
7. MS. ZUPAN shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. ZUPAN 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. ZUPAN shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
9. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. ZUPAN shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

10. MS. ZUPAN is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. ZUPAN 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. ZUPAN shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

11. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. ZUPAN shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ZUPAN 

 
12. MS. ZUPAN shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. ZUPAN shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
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request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
14. MS. ZUPAN shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. ZUPAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
16. MS. ZUPAN shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
17. MS. ZUPAN shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

18. MS. ZUPAN shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. ZUPAN shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. ZUPAN to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. ZUPAN shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. ZUPAN’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. ZUPAN’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. ZUPAN has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. ZUPAN via certified mail of the 
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specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. ZUPAN may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. ZUPAN has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. ZUPAN is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. ZUPAN and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
ZUPAN does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Pavish, Ann E., R.N. 185496 (CASE #15-8172) 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against ANN E. PAVISH in the January 
21, 2016 Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. PAVISH has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. PAVISH’s license to practice nursing 
as a registered nurse be PERMANENTLY REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Criswell, Rebecca Ann, P.N. 097070 (CASE #14-4994) 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against REBECCA ANN 
CRISWELL in the September 18, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find 
that MS. CRISWELL has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice 
Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. CRISWELL’s license 
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to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be PERMANENTLY 
REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.      
 
Richardson, Lora Leigh, P.N. Endorse (CASE #13-4392) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against LORA LEIGH 
RICHARDSON in the November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing 
and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. RICHARDSON 
has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. RICHARDSON be granted a license to practice nursing in Ohio as a 
licensed practical nurse upon MS. RICHARDSON’s submission of 
documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions imposed 
by the Order of the Missouri State Board of Nursing Regarding Issuance of a 
Probated License to LORA RICHARDSON, dated January 27, 2011, and that 
her Missouri license is current, valid, and unrestricted. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
  
Kroener, Stanley Wayne, P.N. 137632 (CASE #13-5594) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against STANLEY WAYNE 
KROENER in the November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MR. KROENER has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MR. KROENER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be 
PERMANENTLY REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.      

 
  



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 154 
 

Poray, Carrie A., R.N. 407578 (CASE #15-3795) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against CARRIE A. PORAY in the 
November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. PORAY has committed acts 
in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. PORAY’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. PORAY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PORAY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PORAY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. PORAY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. PORAY’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PORAY shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Findings of Fact, Conclusions, and Final Order issued by 
the Minnesota Board of Nursing dated June 23, 2015, and that her 
Minnesota license is current, valid, and unrestricted. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PORAY 

 
5. MS. PORAY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MS. PORAY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MS. PORAY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  
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8. MS. PORAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MS. PORAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MS. PORAY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MS. PORAY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
PORAY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. PORAY has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. PORAY is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. PORAY and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Dewit, Rachael Lynn, P.N. 125455 (CASE #15-0761) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against RACHAEL LYNN DEWIT in 
the November 20, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. DEWIT 
has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. DEWIT’s license to practice nursing as 
a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time but 
not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and that following reinstatement, MS. DEWIT’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic Restrictions, and 
the Temporary Practice Restrictions, unless otherwise approved in 
advance by the Board, set forth below. 
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REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. DEWIT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DEWIT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DEWIT shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. DEWIT, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. DEWIT’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DEWIT shall pay 

the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. DEWIT shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. DEWIT’s 
history.  MS. DEWIT shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. DEWIT shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. DEWIT shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. DEWIT shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. DEWIT shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 157 
 

additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. DEWIT's license, and 
a statement as to whether MS. DEWIT is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. DEWIT shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. DEWIT’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. DEWIT shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. DEWIT’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. DEWIT 
shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge 
of MS. DEWIT’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. DEWIT initiating drug screening, MS. 

DEWIT shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. DEWIT. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. DEWIT shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. DEWIT shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. DEWIT shall attend a minimum of one 
(1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. DEWIT shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 158 
 

to reinstatement. 
 

Reporting Requirements of MS. DEWIT 
 

13. MS. DEWIT shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. DEWIT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

15. MS. DEWIT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. DEWIT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. DEWIT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. DEWIT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. DEWIT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
DEWIT submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. DEWIT has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. DEWIT is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. DEWIT and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
DEWIT’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. DEWIT shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. DEWIT shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
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its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 

Monitoring  
 

3. MS. DEWIT shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 
of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. DEWIT’s 
history.  MS. DEWIT shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. DEWIT shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. DEWIT shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. DEWIT shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. DEWIT’s history. 

 
6. MS. DEWIT shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. DEWIT shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

DEWIT shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. DEWIT shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. DEWIT shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. DEWIT 
throughout the duration of this Order. 
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9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 
treatment, MS. DEWIT shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. DEWIT shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. DEWIT is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. DEWIT 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. DEWIT shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. MS. DEWIT shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. DEWIT 

 
13. MS. DEWIT shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. DEWIT shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. DEWIT shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. DEWIT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. DEWIT shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
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Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 
 

18. MS. DEWIT shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office. 

 
19. MS. DEWIT shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 

of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. DEWIT shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. DEWIT’s use by another so authorized by law who has full 
knowledge of MS. DEWIT’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. DEWIT shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. DEWIT shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DEWIT shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
(1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. DEWIT to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. DEWIT shall not function in a position or employment where 
the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. DEWIT’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. DEWIT’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. DEWIT has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. DEWIT via certified mail of the specific 
nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt 
of this notice, MS. DEWIT may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. DEWIT has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. DEWIT is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. DEWIT and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. DEWIT 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Valdry, Sherie Lacole, P.N. 140698 (CASE #14-5236) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against SHERIE LACOLE VALDRY 
in the July 31, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. VALDRY has committed acts 
in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. VALDRY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time but not less than one (1) year with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
VALDRY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of one (1) year, including the 
Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. VALDRY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. VALDRY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. VALDRY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. VALDRY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. VALDRY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
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until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. VALDRY shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Substance Abuse; and one (1) hour of 
Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. VALDRY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
VALDRY’s history.  MS. VALDRY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. VALDRY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. VALDRY shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. VALDRY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
VALDRY shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. VALDRY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. VALDRY 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. VALDRY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. VALDRY’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. VALDRY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
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at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. VALDRY’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
VALDRY shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. VALDRY’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. VALDRY initiating drug screening, MS. 

VALDRY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. VALDRY. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. VALDRY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. VALDRY shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. VALDRY shall attend a 
minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting 
approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. 
VALDRY shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to 
the Board prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. VALDRY 

 
13. MS. VALDRY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. VALDRY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. VALDRY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  
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16. MS. VALDRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. VALDRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. VALDRY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. VALDRY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
VALDRY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. VALDRY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. VALDRY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. VALDRY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
VALDRY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 

 
1. MS. VALDRY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. VALDRY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. VALDRY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
VALDRY’s history.  MS. VALDRY shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. VALDRY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. VALDRY shall submit, at her expense 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 166 
 

and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. VALDRY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. VALDRY’s history. 

 
6. MS. VALDRY shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. VALDRY shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

VALDRY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. VALDRY shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. VALDRY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
VALDRY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. VALDRY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. VALDRY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. VALDRY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. VALDRY shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
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basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. VALDRY shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. VALDRY shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. VALDRY 

 
13. MS. VALDRY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. VALDRY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. VALDRY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. VALDRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. VALDRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. VALDRY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. VALDRY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. VALDRY shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
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agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. VALDRY to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. VALDRY shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. VALDRY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. VALDRY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. VALDRY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. VALDRY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. VALDRY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. VALDRY has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. VALDRY is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. VALDRY and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
VALDRY does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs and Sandra Ranck abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016.     
 
Lovsey, Jennifer Marie, P.N. 106849 (CASE #15-4097) 
Action:  It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against JENNIFER MARIE 
LOVSEY in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. LOVSEY has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
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Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. LOVSEY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. LOVSEY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Permanent Practice 
Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. LOVSEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVSEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVSEY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. LOVSEY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. LOVSEY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. LOVSEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVSEY’s history.  MS. LOVSEY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. LOVSEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVSEY shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. LOVSEY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
LOVSEY shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
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written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. LOVSEY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. LOVSEY 
is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. MS. LOVSEY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. LOVSEY’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LOVSEY shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. LOVSEY’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. LOVSEY 
shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge 
of MS. LOVSEY’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. LOVSEY initiating drug screening, MS. 

LOVSEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. LOVSEY. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. LOVSEY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. LOVSEY shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LOVSEY shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
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advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. LOVSEY shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVSEY 

 
12. MS. LOVSEY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. LOVSEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. LOVSEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. LOVSEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. LOVSEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. LOVSEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. LOVSEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
LOVSEY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. LOVSEY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. LOVSEY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. LOVSEY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
LOVSEY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. LOVSEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 
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rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVSEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. LOVSEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVSEY’s history.  MS. LOVSEY shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. LOVSEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. LOVSEY shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. LOVSEY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. LOVSEY’s history. 

 
6. MS. LOVSEY shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. LOVSEY shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

LOVSEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. LOVSEY shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. LOVSEY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 173 
 

and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
LOVSEY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. LOVSEY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. LOVSEY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. LOVSEY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LOVSEY shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. LOVSEY shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. MS. LOVSEY shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVSEY 

 
13. MS. LOVSEY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

14. MS. LOVSEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. LOVSEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. LOVSEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. LOVSEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
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Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. LOVSEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. LOVSEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. LOVSEY shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. LOVSEY’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. LOVSEY’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. LOVSEY shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. LOVSEY shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. LOVSEY shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. LOVSEY to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. LOVSEY shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. LOVSEY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. LOVSEY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. LOVSEY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. LOVSEY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. LOVSEY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. LOVSEY has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. LOVSEY is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. LOVSEY and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
LOVSEY does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Armbruster, Yvonne G., P.N. 076989 (CASE #14-0491) 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against YVONNE G. ARMBRUSTER in 
the January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. ARMBRUSTER has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. ARMBRUSTER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than three (3) 
years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. ARMBRUSTER’s license to practice nursing as a 
licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
three (3) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice 
Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ARMBRUSTER 

shall submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. 
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ARMBRUSTER, including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation 
(FBI) records, and shall cause BCII to submit MS. ARMBRUSTER’s 
criminal records check reports to the Board.  A request for reinstatement 
will not be considered by the Board until the completed criminal records 
check, including the FBI check, has been received by the Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ARMBRUSTER’s history.  MS. ARMBRUSTER shall self-administer the 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or 

any products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ARMBRUSTER 
shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a 
Board approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the 
Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the 
evaluation, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall provide the chemical dependency 
professional with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall execute releases to permit 
the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. ARMBRUSTER's license, and a 
statement as to whether MS. ARMBRUSTER is capable of practicing 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing 
care. 

 
7. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall provide the Board with satisfactory 

documentation of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan 
developed by the chemical dependency professional described above until 
released.  Further, the Board may utilize the professional's 
recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for 
additional terms and restrictions on MS. ARMBRUSTER’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
ARMBRUSTER’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
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or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ARMBRUSTER shall be negative, except for 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so 
authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. ARMBRUSTER’s 
history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. ARMBRUSTER initiating drug 

screening, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall provide a copy of this Order to all 
treating practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. ARMBRUSTER. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall be under a 

continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall notify the 
Board of any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within 
twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 
treatment. 

 
11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall attend a 
minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting 
approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. 
ARMBRUSTER shall provide satisfactory documentation of such 
attendance to the Board prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ARMBRUSTER 

 
12. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall sign release of information forms allowing 

health professionals and other organizations to submit requested 
documentation or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit any and all information that the Board 

may request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  
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15. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit the reports and documentation required 
by this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of 
Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, 
in writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
ARMBRUSTER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. ARMBRUSTER has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. ARMBRUSTER is able 
to practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. ARMBRUSTER and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
ARMBRUSTER’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
terms and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ARMBRUSTER’s history.  MS. ARMBRUSTER shall self-administer 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or 

any products containing alcohol. 
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5. During the probationary period, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ARMBRUSTER shall be negative, except for 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so 
authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. ARMBRUSTER’s 
history. 

 
6. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week 

of a support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or 
a Twelve Step program, and MS. ARMBRUSTER shall provide 
satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) 
months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

ARMBRUSTER shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. 
ARMBRUSTER shall be under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order, prior to initiating treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and 
to update the list of treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight 
(48) hours of being treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
ARMBRUSTER throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. ARMBRUSTER shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. ARMBRUSTER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. ARMBRUSTER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer 
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prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. ARMBRUSTER shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a 
quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting 
employment as a nurse.  MS. ARMBRUSTER shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received. 

 
12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. ARMBRUSTER 

shall, prior to working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation 
approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ARMBRUSTER 

 
13. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall sign releases of information forms allowing 

health professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit any and all information that the Board 

may request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the 
attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High 
Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. ARMBRUSTER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, 
in writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 
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Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. ARMBRUSTER shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except 
as prescribed for MS. ARMBRUSTER’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. ARMBRUSTER’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. 
ARMBRUSTER shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys 
for locked medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. 
ARMBRUSTER shall not call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. ARMBRUSTER shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
(1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. ARMBRUSTER to provide nursing 
services for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. ARMBRUSTER shall not function in a position or employment where the 
job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. ARMBRUSTER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
ARMBRUSTER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will 
be automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. 
ARMBRUSTER has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this 
Order.  Following the automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. 
ARMBRUSTER via certified mail of the specific nature of the charges and 
automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. 
ARMBRUSTER may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. ARMBRUSTER has complied with all aspects 
of this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. ARMBRUSTER is able 
to practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
ARMBRUSTER and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period 
during which MS. ARMBRUSTER does not work in a position for which a 
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license to practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the 
probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Holderfield, Phillis Mae, R.N. 349539 (CASE #15-5058) 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against PHILLIS MAE HOLDERFIELD in 
the November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. HOLDERFIELD has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. HOLDERFIELD’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, if MS. 
HOLDERFIELD requests permission to work as a nurse in Ohio, MS. 
HOLDERFIELD’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years, including the 
Temporary Narcotic Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOLDERFIELD 

shall submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. 
HOLDERFIELD, including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation 
(FBI) records, and shall cause BCII to submit MS. HOLDERFIELD’s 
criminal records check reports to the Board.  A request for reinstatement 
will not be considered by the Board until the completed criminal records 
check, including the FBI check, has been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. HOLDERFIELD 

shall submit documentation that her Texas license is current, valid, and 
unrestricted. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. HOLDERFIELD 
 

5. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall sign release of information forms allowing 
health professionals and other organizations to submit requested 
documentation or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit any and all information that the Board 

may request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of 
Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, 
in writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
HOLDERFIELD submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. HOLDERFIELD has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. HOLDERFIELD is able 
to practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. HOLDERFIELD and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and if MS. 
HOLDERFIELD requests permission to work as a nurse in Ohio, MS. 
HOLDERFIELD’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
terms and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 

 
1. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
HOLDERFIELD’s history.  MS. HOLDERFIELD shall self-administer 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or 

any products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. HOLDERFIELD shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. 
HOLDERFIELD shall provide the chemical dependency professional with 
a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. HOLDERFIELD shall execute releases to permit the chemical 
dependency professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate 
and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional 
shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, 
recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions 
that should be placed on MS. HOLDERFIELD's license, and a statement 
as to whether MS. HOLDERFIELD is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
 

6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. HOLDERFIELD 
shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with 
all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
HOLDERFIELD’s license. 

 
7. For a minimum continuous period of not less than six (6) months during 

the probationary period, MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
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This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. HOLDERFIELD shall be negative, except for 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so 
authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. HOLDERFIELD’s 
history.  At any time after the six (6) month period previously described, 
MS. HOLDERFIELD may submit a written request to the Board to have 
this restriction re-evaluated. 

 
8. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. HOLDERFIELD 

shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer 
group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step 
program, and MS. HOLDERFIELD shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

HOLDERFIELD shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. 
HOLDERFIELD shall be under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order, prior to initiating treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and 
to update the list of treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight 
(48) hours of being treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
HOLDERFIELD throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. HOLDERFIELD shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. HOLDERFIELD shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

13. MS. HOLDERFIELD is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer 
prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. HOLDERFIELD shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a 
quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting 
employment as a nurse.  MS. HOLDERFIELD shall have her 
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employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. HOLDERFIELD 
shall, prior to working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation 
approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. HOLDERFIELD 

 
15. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall sign releases of information forms allowing 

health professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit any and all information that the Board 

may request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall submit the reports and documentation required 

by this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the 
attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High 
Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MS. HOLDERFIELD shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, 
in writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. HOLDERFIELD shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except 
as prescribed for MS. HOLDERFIELD’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. HOLDERFIELD’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. 
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HOLDERFIELD shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys 
for locked medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. 
HOLDERFIELD shall not call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. HOLDERFIELD’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
HOLDERFIELD’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. HOLDERFIELD 
has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. HOLDERFIELD via certified 
mail of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. HOLDERFIELD may request a 
hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. HOLDERFIELD has complied with all aspects 
of this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. HOLDERFIELD is able 
to practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
HOLDERFIELD and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period 
during which MS. HOLDERFIELD does not work in a position for which a 
license to practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the 
probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Covington, Louis, R.N. 242799 (CASE #14-6652) 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against LOUIS COVINGTON in 
the July 31, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MR. COVINGTON has committed acts in 
violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MR. COVINGTON’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be PERMANENTLY 
REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
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the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 

Clear, Teresa D., R.N. 158896 (CASE #15-8383; #15-0873) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Nancy Fellows, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against TERESA D. CLEAR in 
the March 17, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. CLEAR has committed acts 
in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. CLEAR’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, 
and that following reinstatement, MS. CLEAR’s license to practice nursing as 
a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
one (1) year. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. CLEAR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. CLEAR shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CLEAR shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. CLEAR, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. CLEAR’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CLEAR shall pay 
the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CLEAR shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Final Order issued by the Florida Board of Nursing dated 
February 19, 2015, with Settlement Agreement and Administrative 
Complaint, and that her Florida license is current, valid, and unrestricted. 
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Reporting Requirements of MS. CLEAR 
 

6. MS. CLEAR shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
7. MS. CLEAR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
8. MS. CLEAR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
9. MS. CLEAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
10. MS. CLEAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
11. MS. CLEAR shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. CLEAR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
CLEAR submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. CLEAR has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. CLEAR is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. CLEAR and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
CLEAR’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 

 
1. MS. CLEAR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. CLEAR shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
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Monitoring  
 

3. MS. CLEAR shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 
of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. CLEAR’s 
history.  MS. CLEAR shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. CLEAR shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. CLEAR shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. CLEAR 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. CLEAR 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. CLEAR's license, and a statement as to whether MS. CLEAR is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. CLEAR shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
CLEAR’s license. 
 

7. During the probationary period, MS. CLEAR shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. CLEAR shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. CLEAR’s history. 
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8. MS. CLEAR shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 
support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. CLEAR shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

CLEAR shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. CLEAR shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. CLEAR shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. CLEAR 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. CLEAR shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to working as a nurse in Ohio, MS. CLEAR shall obtain the 

written permission of the Board to seek nursing employment. 
 

13. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 
MS. CLEAR shall notify the Board, in writing. 

 
14. MS. CLEAR is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 

the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. CLEAR shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. CLEAR shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

15. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. CLEAR shall, prior 
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to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. CLEAR 

 
16. MS. CLEAR shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
17. MS. CLEAR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
18. MS. CLEAR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
19. MS. CLEAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
20. MS. CLEAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
21. MS. CLEAR shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

22. MS. CLEAR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. CLEAR’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. CLEAR’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. CLEAR has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. CLEAR via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. CLEAR may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. CLEAR has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. CLEAR is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. CLEAR and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
CLEAR does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Payer, Eva Cseko, R.N. 253565, P.N. 079989 (CASE #15-3495) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against EVA CSEKO PAYER in 
the September 18, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. PAYER has committed acts 
in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as 
stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. PAYER’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse 
be suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. PAYER’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse 
shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and 
restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of one (1) year. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. PAYER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PAYER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PAYER shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. PAYER, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. PAYER’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
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received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. PAYER shall 
submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Agreed Order issued by the Texas Board of Nursing dated 
June 16, 2015, and that her Texas license is current, valid, and 
unrestricted. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PAYER 

 
5. MS. PAYER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MS. PAYER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MS. PAYER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MS. PAYER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MS. PAYER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MS. PAYER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MS. PAYER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
PAYER submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. PAYER has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. PAYER is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. PAYER and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
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PAYER’s licenses shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of one (1) year. 

 
1. MS. PAYER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. PAYER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
3. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. PAYER shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

4. MS. PAYER is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. PAYER shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. PAYER shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. PAYER shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. PAYER 

 
6. MS. PAYER shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
7. MS. PAYER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
8. MS. PAYER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
9. MS. PAYER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
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required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 
 

10. MS. PAYER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
11. MS. PAYER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

12. MS. PAYER shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. PAYER’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. PAYER’s 
licenses to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse and registered nurse 
will be automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. PAYER 
has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. PAYER via certified mail of 
the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her licenses.  
Upon receipt of this notice, MS. PAYER may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. PAYER has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. PAYER is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. PAYER and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
PAYER does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Conway, Patricia Eunice, R.N. 284650 (CASE #15-8398) 
Action: It was moved by Maryam Lyon, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against PATRICIA EUNICE 
CONWAY in the March 17, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
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evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. CONWAY has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. CONWAY’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
CONWAY’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject 
to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth 
below for a minimum period of two (2) years. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. CONWAY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. CONWAY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CONWAY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. CONWAY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. CONWAY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. CONWAY shall, 

in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 
 

5. Prior to working as a nurse in Ohio, MS. CONWAY shall submit 
documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Agreed Order for voluntary surrender issued by the 
Kentucky Board of Nursing (“Kentucky Board”) dated November 3, 2015, 
with Agreed Order issued by the Kentucky Board, dated May 28, 2013, 
and Guidelines for Reinstatement of a Voluntarily Surrendered 
License/Credential, and that her Kentucky license is current, valid, and 
unrestricted. 

 
Monitoring  

 
6. MS. CONWAY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
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to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
CONWAY’s history.  MS. CONWAY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
7. MS. CONWAY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

8. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, prior to requesting 
reinstatement by the Board, MS. CONWAY shall, at her expense, obtain 
a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. CONWAY 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. CONWAY 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. CONWAY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
CONWAY is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
9. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. CONWAY shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
CONWAY’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. CONWAY 

 
10. MS. CONWAY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
11. MS. CONWAY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
12. MS. CONWAY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
13. MS. CONWAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
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communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
14. MS. CONWAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
15. MS. CONWAY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

16. MS. CONWAY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
CONWAY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. CONWAY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. CONWAY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. CONWAY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
CONWAY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 
 
1. MS. CONWAY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. CONWAY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. CONWAY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
CONWAY’s history.  MS. CONWAY shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. CONWAY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. For a minimum continuous period of at least six (6) months during the 
probationary period, MS. CONWAY shall submit, at her expense and on 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 200 
 

the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug and/or 
alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such times as 
the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
CONWAY shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. CONWAY’s history.  At any time after the six 
(6) month period previously described, MS. CONWAY may submit a 
written request to the Board to have this restriction re-evaluated. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

CONWAY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. CONWAY shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
7. MS. CONWAY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
CONWAY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. CONWAY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
9. Prior to working as a nurse in Ohio, MS. CONWAY shall notify the 

Board, in writing, of the name and address of any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse, and shall obtain the approval of the 
Board, in writing, to accept employment as a nurse. 
 

10. MS. CONWAY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. CONWAY shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
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nurse.  MS. CONWAY shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
 

11. MS. CONWAY shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. CONWAY 

 
12. MS. CONWAY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. CONWAY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
14. MS. CONWAY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. CONWAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
16. MS. CONWAY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
17. MS. CONWAY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

18. MS. CONWAY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. CONWAY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. CONWAY’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. CONWAY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
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suspension, the Board shall notify MS. CONWAY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. CONWAY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. CONWAY has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. CONWAY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
CONWAY and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. CONWAY does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Bullock, Sharon Michelle, P.N. 090343 (CASE #15-4867) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by John Schmidt, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against SHARON MICHELLE 
BULLOCK in the November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. BULLOCK has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. BULLOCK’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. BULLOCK’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic Restrictions, and the 
Permanent Practice Restrictions, unless otherwise approved in advance 
by the Board, set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. BULLOCK shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BULLOCK shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
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designee. 
 

3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BULLOCK shall 
submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. BULLOCK, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. BULLOCK’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BULLOCK shall 
pay the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by certified check, cashier 
check, or money order, made payable to the “Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to 
the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the attention of the Compliance 
Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, 
OH 43215-7410. 

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BULLOCK shall, 

in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Substance Use Problems; five (5) 
hours of Hope for Addiction; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and 
Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
6. MS. BULLOCK shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BULLOCK’s history.  MS. BULLOCK shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
7. MS. BULLOCK shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

8. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BULLOCK shall, 
at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. BULLOCK shall provide the chemical dependency professional with 
a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, 
MS. BULLOCK shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
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treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. BULLOCK's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
BULLOCK is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
9. MS. BULLOCK shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. BULLOCK’s license. 

 
10. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. BULLOCK shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
BULLOCK’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, 
or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. BULLOCK shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. BULLOCK’s history. 

 
11. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. BULLOCK initiating drug screening, 

MS. BULLOCK shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. BULLOCK. 

 
12. After initiating drug screening, MS. BULLOCK shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. BULLOCK shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
13. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. BULLOCK shall 

attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group 
meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, 
and MS. BULLOCK shall provide satisfactory documentation of such 
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attendance to the Board prior to reinstatement. 
 

Reporting Requirements of MS. BULLOCK 
 

14. MS. BULLOCK shall sign release of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
15. MS. BULLOCK shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
16. MS. BULLOCK shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
17. MS. BULLOCK shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
18. MS. BULLOCK shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
19. MS. BULLOCK shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

20. MS. BULLOCK shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
BULLOCK submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. BULLOCK has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. BULLOCK is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. BULLOCK and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
BULLOCK’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 
 
1. MS. BULLOCK shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
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2. MS. BULLOCK shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. BULLOCK shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BULLOCK’s history.  MS. BULLOCK shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. BULLOCK shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. BULLOCK shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. BULLOCK shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. BULLOCK’s history. 

 
6. MS. BULLOCK shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. BULLOCK shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

BULLOCK shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. BULLOCK shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. BULLOCK shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
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and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
BULLOCK throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. BULLOCK shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. BULLOCK shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. BULLOCK is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. BULLOCK shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. BULLOCK shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. BULLOCK shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BULLOCK 

 
13. MS. BULLOCK shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. BULLOCK shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. BULLOCK shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. BULLOCK shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 
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17. MS. BULLOCK shall submit the reports and documentation required by 
this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. BULLOCK shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. BULLOCK shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. BULLOCK shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. BULLOCK’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. BULLOCK’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. BULLOCK shall not 
count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. BULLOCK shall not call in or 
order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Permanent Practice Restrictions 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. BULLOCK shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse (1) for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for 
hospice care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) 
for staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. BULLOCK to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. BULLOCK shall not function in a position or employment 
where the job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and 
nursing responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the 
following: Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, 
Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. BULLOCK’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. BULLOCK’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. BULLOCK has violated or 
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breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. BULLOCK via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. BULLOCK may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. BULLOCK has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. BULLOCK is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
BULLOCK and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. BULLOCK does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Lovins, Michelle Nicole, R.N. 306093 (CASE #16-0104; #15-8442; #12-4974) 
Action: It was moved John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against MICHELLE NICOLE LOVINS in 
the January 21, 2016 Notice of Temporary Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
LOVINS has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Temporary 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. LOVINS’s license to 
practice nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an indefinite period 
of time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement 
set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. LOVINS’s license to 
practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Temporary 
Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. LOVINS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVINS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
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3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVINS shall 
submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. LOVINS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. LOVINS’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. LOVINS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVINS’s history.  MS. LOVINS shall self-administer the prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. LOVINS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 
to requesting reinstatement, MS. LOVINS shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. LOVINS’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. LOVINS 
shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge 
of MS. LOVINS’s history. 

 
7. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. LOVINS initiating drug screening, MS. 

LOVINS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. LOVINS. 

 
8. After initiating drug screening, MS. LOVINS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
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practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. LOVINS shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LOVINS shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. LOVINS shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
10. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVINS shall, at 

her expense, obtain a psychiatric evaluation from a Board approved 
psychiatrist and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
such evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. LOVINS shall provide the 
psychiatrist with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Temporary 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing and shall execute releases to 
permit the psychiatrist to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the evaluation.  The psychiatrist shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. LOVINS's license, and a statement as to whether MS. LOVINS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
11. MS. LOVINS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
psychiatrist described above until released.  Further, the Board may utilize 
the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation 
as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. LOVINS’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVINS 

 
12. MS. LOVINS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. LOVINS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. LOVINS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. LOVINS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
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Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. LOVINS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. LOVINS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. LOVINS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
LOVINS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. LOVINS has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. LOVINS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. LOVINS and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
LOVINS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. LOVINS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVINS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. LOVINS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVINS’s history.  MS. LOVINS shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. LOVINS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. LOVINS shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
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times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. LOVINS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. LOVINS’s history. 

 
6. MS. LOVINS shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. LOVINS shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

LOVINS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. LOVINS shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. LOVINS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. LOVINS 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. LOVINS shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. LOVINS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. LOVINS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Temporary Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
LOVINS shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LOVINS shall have her 
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employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Temporary Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. MS. LOVINS shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVINS 

 
13. MS. LOVINS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. LOVINS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. LOVINS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. LOVINS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. LOVINS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. LOVINS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. LOVINS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. LOVINS shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. LOVINS’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. LOVINS’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. LOVINS shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
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cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. LOVINS shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. LOVINS shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for agencies 
providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs 
providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or 
pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care 
and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
engage MS. LOVINS to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. LOVINS shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. LOVINS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. LOVINS’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. LOVINS has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. LOVINS via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. LOVINS may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. LOVINS has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. LOVINS is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. LOVINS and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
LOVINS does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
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the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Akbar, Fatimah Asya, P.N. 142085 (CASE #14-4577; #13-2486) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against FATIMAH ASYA AKBAR in 
the July 31, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
AKBAR has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. AKBAR’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite 
period of time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
AKBAR’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the 
Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. AKBAR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. AKBAR shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. AKBAR shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. AKBAR, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. AKBAR’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. AKBAR shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  ten (10) hours of Substance Abuse; five (5) hours of 
Ethics; five (5) hours of Abusive Relationships; and one (1) hour of Ohio 
Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. AKBAR shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 217 
 

another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. AKBAR’s 
history.  MS. AKBAR shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. AKBAR shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. AKBAR shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. AKBAR shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. AKBAR shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. AKBAR's license, and 
a statement as to whether MS. AKBAR is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. AKBAR shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. AKBAR’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. AKBAR shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. AKBAR’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
AKBAR shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. AKBAR’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. AKBAR initiating drug screening, MS. 

AKBAR shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
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complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. AKBAR. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. AKBAR shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. AKBAR shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. AKBAR shall attend a minimum 
of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. AKBAR 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. AKBAR 

 
13. MS. AKBAR shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  
 

14. MS. AKBAR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. AKBAR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. AKBAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. AKBAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. AKBAR shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. AKBAR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
AKBAR submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. AKBAR has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MS. AKBAR is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. AKBAR and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
AKBAR’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. AKBAR shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. AKBAR shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. AKBAR shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. AKBAR’s 
history.  MS. AKBAR shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. AKBAR shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. AKBAR shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. AKBAR 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. AKBAR shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. AKBAR's license, and a 
statement as to whether MS. AKBAR is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
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6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. AKBAR shall 
provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
AKBAR’s license. 

 
7. During the probationary period, MS. AKBAR shall submit, at her expense 

and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. AKBAR shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. AKBAR’s history. 

 
8. MS. AKBAR shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. AKBAR shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

AKBAR shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. AKBAR shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. AKBAR shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. AKBAR 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. AKBAR shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 221 
 

Employment Conditions 
 

12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 
MS. AKBAR shall notify the Board, in writing. 

 
13. MS. AKBAR is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 

the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. AKBAR 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. AKBAR shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. AKBAR shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. AKBAR 

 
15. MS. AKBAR shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MS. AKBAR shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MS. AKBAR shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MS. AKBAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MS. AKBAR shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MS. AKBAR shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
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this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MS. AKBAR shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. AKBAR shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. AKBAR’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. AKBAR’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. AKBAR shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. AKBAR shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. AKBAR shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. AKBAR to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. AKBAR shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. AKBAR’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. AKBAR’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. AKBAR has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. AKBAR via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. AKBAR may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
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the Board determines that MS. AKBAR has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. AKBAR is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. AKBAR and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
AKBAR does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs and Sandra Ranck abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Beasley, April Sharice, P.N. 102450 (CASE #15-0509) 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against APRIL SHARICE 
BEASLEY in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. BEASLEY has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. BEASLEY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with 
the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. BEASLEY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice 
Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. BEASLEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BEASLEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BEASLEY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. BEASLEY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. BEASLEY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
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been received by the Board. 
 

Monitoring  
 

4. MS. BEASLEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BEASLEY’s history.  MS. BEASLEY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. BEASLEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BEASLEY shall, 
at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. BEASLEY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
BEASLEY shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. BEASLEY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
BEASLEY is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. MS. BEASLEY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. BEASLEY’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. BEASLEY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. BEASLEY’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
BEASLEY shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
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has full knowledge of MS. BEASLEY’s history. 
 

9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. BEASLEY initiating drug screening, 
MS. BEASLEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. BEASLEY. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. BEASLEY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. BEASLEY shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. BEASLEY shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. BEASLEY 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BEASLEY 

 
12. MS. BEASLEY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. BEASLEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. BEASLEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. BEASLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. BEASLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
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17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  
 

17. MS. BEASLEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office.  

 
18. MS. BEASLEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 

writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
 

DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
BEASLEY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. BEASLEY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. BEASLEY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. BEASLEY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
BEASLEY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. BEASLEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BEASLEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. BEASLEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BEASLEY’s history.  MS. BEASLEY shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. BEASLEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. BEASLEY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
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ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. BEASLEY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. BEASLEY’s history. 

 
6. MS. BEASLEY shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. BEASLEY shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

BEASLEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. BEASLEY shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. BEASLEY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
BEASLEY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. BEASLEY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. BEASLEY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. BEASLEY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. BEASLEY shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. BEASLEY shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
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12. MS. BEASLEY shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BEASLEY 

 
13. MS. BEASLEY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. BEASLEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. BEASLEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. BEASLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. BEASLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. BEASLEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. BEASLEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. BEASLEY shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. BEASLEY’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. BEASLEY’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. BEASLEY shall not 
count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. BEASLEY shall not call in or 
order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
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Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. BEASLEY shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. BEASLEY to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. BEASLEY shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. BEASLEY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. BEASLEY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. BEASLEY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. BEASLEY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. BEASLEY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. BEASLEY has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. BEASLEY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
BEASLEY and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. BEASLEY does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
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Althaus, Brandi Marie, P.N. 116658 (CASE #15-4981; #15-1884) 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against BRANDI MARIE ALTHAUS in 
the January 21, 2016 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
ALTHAUS has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. ALTHAUS’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite 
period of time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
ALTHAUS’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the 
Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. ALTHAUS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ALTHAUS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ALTHAUS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. ALTHAUS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. ALTHAUS’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. ALTHAUS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ALTHAUS’s history.  MS. ALTHAUS shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. ALTHAUS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ALTHAUS shall, 
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at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. ALTHAUS shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. ALTHAUS shall execute releases 
to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. ALTHAUS's license, 
and a statement as to whether MS. ALTHAUS is capable of practicing 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing 
care. 

 
7. MS. ALTHAUS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. ALTHAUS’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. ALTHAUS shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
ALTHAUS’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, 
or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ALTHAUS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ALTHAUS’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. ALTHAUS initiating drug screening, 

MS. ALTHAUS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. ALTHAUS. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. ALTHAUS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
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additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. ALTHAUS shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. ALTHAUS shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. ALTHAUS 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ALTHAUS 

 
12. MS. ALTHAUS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. ALTHAUS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. ALTHAUS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. ALTHAUS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
ALTHAUS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. ALTHAUS has complied with all conditions of 
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reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. ALTHAUS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. ALTHAUS and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
ALTHAUS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. ALTHAUS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ALTHAUS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. ALTHAUS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ALTHAUS’s history.  MS. ALTHAUS shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. ALTHAUS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. ALTHAUS shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ALTHAUS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ALTHAUS’s history. 

 
6. MS. ALTHAUS shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. ALTHAUS shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
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ALTHAUS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. ALTHAUS shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. ALTHAUS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
ALTHAUS throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. ALTHAUS shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. ALTHAUS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. ALTHAUS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to 
any new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
ALTHAUS shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a 
license to practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. ALTHAUS shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. ALTHAUS shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ALTHAUS 

 
13. MS. ALTHAUS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 
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14. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. ALTHAUS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. ALTHAUS shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. ALTHAUS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. ALTHAUS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. ALTHAUS shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. ALTHAUS’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. ALTHAUS’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. ALTHAUS shall not 
count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. ALTHAUS shall not call in or 
order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. ALTHAUS shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. ALTHAUS to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. ALTHAUS shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
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duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. ALTHAUS’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. ALTHAUS’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. ALTHAUS has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. ALTHAUS via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. ALTHAUS may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. ALTHAUS has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. ALTHAUS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
ALTHAUS and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. ALTHAUS does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Henry, Joseph Alin, R.N. 373637 (CASE #15-3416) 
Action: It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against JOSEPH ALIN HENRY in the 
January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MR. HENRY has committed acts in violation 
of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MR. HENRY’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time 
but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and that following reinstatement, MR. HENRY’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under 
the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period 
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of three (3) years, including the Temporary Narcotic Restrictions set forth 
below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MR. HENRY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MR. HENRY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. HENRY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MR. HENRY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MR. HENRY’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. HENRY shall, in 
addition to the requirements for renewal of his license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Critical Thinking; five (5) hours of 
Professional Ethics; five (5) hours of Nurses and Drug Abuse; and two (2) 
hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MR. HENRY shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. HENRY’s 
history.  MR. HENRY shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
6. MR. HENRY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. HENRY shall, at 
his expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MR. HENRY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. 
HENRY shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
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for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MR. HENRY's license, and a statement as to whether MR. HENRY is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MR. HENRY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MR. HENRY’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MR. HENRY shall submit, at his expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MR. HENRY’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MR. HENRY 
shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to him by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge 
of MR. HENRY’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MR. HENRY initiating drug screening, MR. 

HENRY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MR. HENRY. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MR. HENRY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MR. HENRY shall notify the Board of any 
and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) 
hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MR. HENRY shall attend a minimum 
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of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MR. HENRY 
shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board 
prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. HENRY 

 
13. MR. HENRY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MR. HENRY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MR. HENRY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MR. HENRY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MR. HENRY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MR. 
HENRY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MR. HENRY has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) 
the Board determines that MR. HENRY is able to practice nursing according 
to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MR. HENRY and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MR. 
HENRY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
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1. MR. HENRY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 
rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 

 
2. MR. HENRY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 

its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 

Monitoring  
 

3. MR. HENRY shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 
of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. HENRY’s 
history.  MR. HENRY shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MR. HENRY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MR. HENRY shall, at his expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MR. HENRY 
shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. HENRY 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MR. HENRY's license, and a statement as to whether MR. HENRY is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MR. HENRY shall 

provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with all 
aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MR. 
HENRY’s license. 
 

7. During the probationary period, MR. HENRY shall submit, at his expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
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restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MR. HENRY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MR. HENRY’s history. 

 
8. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MR. HENRY shall 

attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group 
meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, 
and MR. HENRY shall provide satisfactory documentation of such 
attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MR. 

HENRY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MR. HENRY shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MR. HENRY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MR. HENRY 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MR. HENRY shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MR. HENRY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

13. MR. HENRY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MR. HENRY shall have his 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MR. HENRY shall have his employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
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were received. 
	  

14. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MR. HENRY shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. HENRY 

 
15. MR. HENRY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
16. MR. HENRY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
17. MR. HENRY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
18. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
19. MR. HENRY shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
20. MR. HENRY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

21. MR. HENRY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MR. HENRY shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MR. HENRY’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MR. HENRY’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MR. HENRY shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MR. HENRY shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
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FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MR. HENRY’s suspension shall be lifted and MR. HENRY’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MR. HENRY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MR. HENRY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of his license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MR. HENRY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MR. HENRY has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MR. HENRY is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MR. HENRY and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MR. 
HENRY does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 

 
Lovejoy, Devon L., P.N. 141843 (CASE #15-2885) 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against DEVON L. LOVEJOY 
in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence 
supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. LOVEJOY has committed 
acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, 
as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. LOVEJOY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
LOVEJOY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the 
Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
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REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 

1. MS. LOVEJOY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 
and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVEJOY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVEJOY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. LOVEJOY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. LOVEJOY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVEJOY shall, 

in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  fifteen (15) hours of Nurses and Addiction; and two (2) 
hours of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. LOVEJOY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVEJOY’s history.  MS. LOVEJOY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. LOVEJOY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. LOVEJOY shall, 
at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. LOVEJOY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. 
LOVEJOY shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
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on MS. LOVEJOY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
LOVEJOY is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. LOVEJOY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. LOVEJOY’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. LOVEJOY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. LOVEJOY’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
LOVEJOY shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. LOVEJOY’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. LOVEJOY initiating drug screening, 

MS. LOVEJOY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. LOVEJOY. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. LOVEJOY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. LOVEJOY shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVEJOY 

 
12. MS. LOVEJOY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  
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13. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. LOVEJOY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. LOVEJOY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. LOVEJOY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
LOVEJOY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. LOVEJOY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. LOVEJOY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. LOVEJOY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
LOVEJOY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. LOVEJOY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. LOVEJOY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 
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Monitoring  
 

3. MS. LOVEJOY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
LOVEJOY’s history.  MS. LOVEJOY shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. LOVEJOY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. LOVEJOY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. LOVEJOY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. LOVEJOY’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

LOVEJOY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. LOVEJOY shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
7. MS. LOVEJOY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
LOVEJOY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. LOVEJOY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
9. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 
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MS. LOVEJOY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

10. MS. LOVEJOY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. LOVEJOY shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. LOVEJOY shall have her employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

11. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. LOVEJOY shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. LOVEJOY 

 
12. MS. LOVEJOY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
14. MS. LOVEJOY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
16. MS. LOVEJOY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
17. MS. LOVEJOY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

18. MS. LOVEJOY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
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writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. LOVEJOY shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. LOVEJOY’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MS. LOVEJOY’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. LOVEJOY shall not 
count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. LOVEJOY shall not call in or 
order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. LOVEJOY shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. LOVEJOY to provide nursing services 
for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. LOVEJOY shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. LOVEJOY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. LOVEJOY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. LOVEJOY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. LOVEJOY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. LOVEJOY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. LOVEJOY has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. LOVEJOY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
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nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
LOVEJOY and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. LOVEJOY does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Thompson, Elizabeth Ruth, P.N. 122338 (CASE #15-1794) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against ELIZABETH RUTH 
THOMPSON in the January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. THOMPSON has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MS. THOMPSON’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse 
be suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years 
with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. THOMPSON’s license to practice nursing as a licensed 
practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the 
probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of 
two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice 
Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. THOMPSON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. THOMPSON shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. THOMPSON shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. THOMPSON, including 
a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. THOMPSON’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. THOMPSON 
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shall, in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, 
successfully complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
successful completion of the following continuing education taken 
subsequent to the effective date of this Order:  ten (10) hours of 
Substance Abuse; five (5) hours of Professional Accountability and Legal 
Liability for Nurses; and one (1) hour of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. THOMPSON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
THOMPSON’s history.  MS. THOMPSON shall self-administer the 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. THOMPSON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. THOMPSON 
shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a 
Board approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the 
Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the 
evaluation, MS. THOMPSON shall provide the chemical dependency 
professional with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MS. THOMPSON shall execute releases to permit the 
chemical dependency professional to obtain any information deemed 
appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency 
professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. THOMPSON's license, and a 
statement as to whether MS. THOMPSON is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. THOMPSON shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation 

of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. THOMPSON’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. THOMPSON shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
THOMPSON’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
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or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. THOMPSON shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. THOMPSON’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. THOMPSON initiating drug screening, 

MS. THOMPSON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. THOMPSON. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. THOMPSON shall be under a 

continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. THOMPSON shall notify the Board 
of any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. THOMPSON shall attend a 
minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting 
approved in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. 
THOMPSON shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance 
to the Board prior to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. THOMPSON 

 
13. MS. THOMPSON shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. THOMPSON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. THOMPSON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. THOMPSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
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communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. THOMPSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. THOMPSON shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. THOMPSON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
THOMPSON submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. THOMPSON has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. THOMPSON is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. THOMPSON and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
THOMPSON’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
terms and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. THOMPSON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. THOMPSON shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. THOMPSON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
THOMPSON’s history.  MS. THOMPSON shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. THOMPSON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. THOMPSON shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
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for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. THOMPSON shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. THOMPSON’s history. 

 
6. MS. THOMPSON shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of 

a support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. THOMPSON shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

THOMPSON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. THOMPSON shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MS. THOMPSON shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
THOMPSON throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. THOMPSON shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. THOMPSON shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. THOMPSON is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer 
prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. THOMPSON shall 
have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a 
quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting 
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employment as a nurse.  MS. THOMPSON shall have her employer(s) 
send documentation to the Board, along with the first employer report, of 
receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, 
including the date they were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. THOMPSON shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. THOMPSON 

 
13. MS. THOMPSON shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. THOMPSON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. THOMPSON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MS. THOMPSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. THOMPSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. THOMPSON shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. THOMPSON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. THOMPSON shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. THOMPSON’s use by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. THOMPSON’s history) any narcotics, other 
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controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. THOMPSON 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. THOMPSON shall not 
call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. THOMPSON shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) 
for agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice 
care programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for 
staffing agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse 
provides nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio 
through State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group 
of individuals who directly engage MS. THOMPSON to provide nursing 
services for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. THOMPSON shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. THOMPSON’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
THOMPSON’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. THOMPSON has 
violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. THOMPSON via certified 
mail of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. THOMPSON may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. THOMPSON has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. THOMPSON is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
THOMPSON and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. THOMPSON does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
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This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Zellefrow, Amy D., R.N. 298977 (CASE #15-1115) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that upon consideration of the charges stated against AMY D. ZELLEFROW 
in the July 31, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
ZELLEFROW has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. ZELLEFROW’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an 
indefinite period of time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of two (2) years, including the 
Temporary Narcotic and Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT 

 
1. MS. ZELLEFROW shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ZELLEFROW shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZELLEFROW 

shall submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and 
Investigation (BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. 
ZELLEFROW, including a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) 
records, and shall cause BCII to submit MS. ZELLEFROW’s criminal 
records check reports to the Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be 
considered by the Board until the completed criminal records check, 
including the FBI check, has been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZELLEFROW 

shall, in addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, 
successfully complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
successful completion of the following continuing education taken 
subsequent to the effective date of this Order:  five (5) hours of Chemical 
Dependency and Abuse; and two (2) hours of Ohio Nursing Law and 
Rules. 
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Monitoring  
 

5. MS. ZELLEFROW shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s history.  MS. ZELLEFROW shall self-administer the 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. ZELLEFROW shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZELLEFROW 
shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a 
Board approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the 
Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the 
evaluation, MS. ZELLEFROW shall provide the chemical dependency 
professional with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate 
Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. ZELLEFROW 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. ZELLEFROW's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
ZELLEFROW is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. ZELLEFROW shall provide the Board with satisfactory 

documentation of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan 
developed by the chemical dependency professional described above until 
released.  Further, the Board may utilize the professional's 
recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for 
additional terms and restrictions on MS. ZELLEFROW’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit, at 
her expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine 
specimens for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by 
the Board at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ZELLEFROW shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ZELLEFROW’s history. 
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10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. ZELLEFROW initiating drug screening, 
MS. ZELLEFROW shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. ZELLEFROW. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. ZELLEFROW shall be under a 

continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. ZELLEFROW shall notify the Board 
of any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
12. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. ZELLEFROW 

shall, at her expense, obtain a psychiatric evaluation from a Board 
approved psychiatrist and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of such evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. 
ZELLEFROW shall provide the psychiatrist with a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing and shall 
execute releases to permit the psychiatrist to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The psychiatrist 
shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, 
recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions 
that should be placed on MS. ZELLEFROW's license, and a statement as 
to whether MS. ZELLEFROW is capable of practicing nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
13. MS. ZELLEFROW shall provide the Board with satisfactory 

documentation of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan 
developed by the psychiatrist described above until released.  Further, the 
Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions 
from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ZELLEFROW 

 
14. MS. ZELLEFROW shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
15. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
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and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  
 

16. MS. ZELLEFROW shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
17. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
18. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
19. MS. ZELLEFROW shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

20. MS. ZELLEFROW shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
ZELLEFROW submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. ZELLEFROW has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. ZELLEFROW is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. ZELLEFROW and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
terms and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. ZELLEFROW shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all 

laws and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. ZELLEFROW shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. ZELLEFROW shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 261 
 

ZELLEFROW’s history.  MS. ZELLEFROW shall self-administer 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. ZELLEFROW shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. ZELLEFROW shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. ZELLEFROW’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

ZELLEFROW shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. ZELLEFROW shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 
 

7. MS. ZELLEFROW shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 
medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
ZELLEFROW throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. ZELLEFROW shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
9. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. ZELLEFROW shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

10. MS. ZELLEFROW is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing to any new employer prior to accepting employment as a 
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nurse.  MS. ZELLEFROW shall have her employer(s), if working in a 
position where a license to practice nursing is required, submit written 
reports regarding job performance on a quarterly basis beginning within 
thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. 
ZELLEFROW shall have her employer(s) send documentation to the 
Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing, including the date they were received. 
	  

11. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. ZELLEFROW 
shall, prior to working in a position where a license to practice 
nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of 
completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation 
approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. ZELLEFROW 

 
12. MS. ZELLEFROW shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
14. MS. ZELLEFROW shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 
 

16. MS. ZELLEFROW shall submit the reports and documentation required by 
this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
17. MS. ZELLEFROW shall verify that the reports and documentation 

required by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

18. MS. ZELLEFROW shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 
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Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. ZELLEFROW shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except 
as prescribed for MS. ZELLEFROW’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. ZELLEFROW’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. ZELLEFROW 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. ZELLEFROW shall 
not call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. ZELLEFROW shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. ZELLEFROW to provide nursing 
services for fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. ZELLEFROW shall not function in a position or employment where the 
job duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. ZELLEFROW’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
ZELLEFROW’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. ZELLEFROW 
has violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. ZELLEFROW via certified 
mail of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. ZELLEFROW may request a 
hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. ZELLEFROW has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. ZELLEFROW is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
ZELLEFROW and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period 
during which MS. ZELLEFROW does not work in a position for which a 
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license to practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the 
probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Bentley, Crystal Leigh, P.N. 135737 (CASE #15-0818) 
Action: It was moved Maryam Lyon, seconded by Nancy Fellows, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against CRYSTAL LEIGH BENTLEY in 
the June 17, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing, and the July 31, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. BENTLEY has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notices, and that MS. BENTLEY’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite 
period of time but not less than three (3) years with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. 
BENTLEY’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be 
subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions 
set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  
 
1. MS. BENTLEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BENTLEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BENTLEY shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. BENTLEY, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. BENTLEY’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BENTLEY shall 

submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Summit County Court of Common Pleas in Case Numbers 
CR-2014-09-2934 and CR-2015-01-0069. 
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Monitoring  
 

5. MS. BENTLEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 
possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BENTLEY’s history.  MS. BENTLEY shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. BENTLEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BENTLEY shall, 
at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. BENTLEY shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notices.  Further, MS. BENTLEY shall execute 
releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
chemical dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the 
Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. 
BENTLEY's license, and a statement as to whether MS. BENTLEY is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. BENTLEY shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. BENTLEY’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. BENTLEY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. BENTLEY’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
BENTLEY shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, 
administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. BENTLEY’s history. 
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10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. BENTLEY initiating drug screening, 
MS. BENTLEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. BENTLEY. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. BENTLEY shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. BENTLEY shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BENTLEY 

 
12. MS. BENTLEY shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
13. MS. BENTLEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
14. MS. BENTLEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
15. MS. BENTLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
16. MS. BENTLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
17. MS. BENTLEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

18. MS. BENTLEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
BENTLEY submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. BENTLEY has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. BENTLEY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. BENTLEY and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
BENTLEY’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
 
1. MS. BENTLEY shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BENTLEY shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 
or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. BENTLEY shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
BENTLEY’s history.  MS. BENTLEY shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. BENTLEY shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. BENTLEY shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. BENTLEY shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. BENTLEY’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
6. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 
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BENTLEY shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. BENTLEY shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
7. MS. BENTLEY shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
BENTLEY throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
8. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. BENTLEY shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
9. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. BENTLEY shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

10. MS. BENTLEY is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notices to any new employer prior to accepting employment as 
a nurse.  MS. BENTLEY shall have her employer(s), if working in a 
position where a license to practice nursing is required, submit written 
reports regarding job performance on a quarterly basis beginning within 
thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. BENTLEY 
shall have her employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with 
the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notices, 
including the date they were received. 
	  

11. MS. BENTLEY shall, prior to working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, complete and submit satisfactory 
documentation of completion of a nurse refresher course or an extensive 
orientation approved in advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BENTLEY 

 
12. MS. BENTLEY shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
13. MS. BENTLEY shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 
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14. MS. BENTLEY shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
15. MS. BENTLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
16. MS. BENTLEY shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
17. MS. BENTLEY shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

18. MS. BENTLEY shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. BENTLEY’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. BENTLEY’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. BENTLEY has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. BENTLEY via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MS. BENTLEY may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. BENTLEY has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. BENTLEY is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
BENTLEY and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. BENTLEY does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
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This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Rice, Tiffany M., P.N. 131132 (CASE #15-7042) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by Maryam Lyon, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against TIFFANY M. RICE in the 
March 17, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MS. RICE has committed acts in violation of 
the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. RICE’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set 
forth below, and that following reinstatement, MS. RICE’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and Temporary 
Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. RICE shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. RICE shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 
designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. RICE shall submit 

a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation (BCII) 
to conduct a criminal records check of MS. RICE, including a check of 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause BCII to 
submit MS. RICE’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  A request 
for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the completed 
criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been received by the 
Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. RICE shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession of 

drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. RICE’s 
history.  MS. RICE shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. RICE shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any products 

containing alcohol.  
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6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. RICE shall, at her 
expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved 
chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board with 
complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. 
RICE shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a copy of 
this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. RICE 
shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. RICE's license, and a statement as to whether MS. RICE is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. MS. RICE shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. RICE’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. RICE shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. RICE’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
RICE shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, 
or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who has full 
knowledge of MS. RICE’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. RICE initiating drug screening, MS. 

RICE shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. RICE. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MS. RICE shall be under a continuing duty 

to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to additional 
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treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating practitioners with 
the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated by another 
practitioner.  Further, MS. RICE shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) hours of 
release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. RICE 

 
11. MS. RICE shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
12. MS. RICE shall submit any and all information that the Board may request 

regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
13. MS. RICE shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, misleading, 

or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the Board or to 
employers or potential employers.  

 
14. MS. RICE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
15. MS. RICE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
16. MS. RICE shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office.  
 

17. MS. RICE shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. RICE 
submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines that 
MS. RICE has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. RICE is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. RICE and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. RICE’s 
license shall be subject to the following probationary terms and 
restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 
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1. MS. RICE shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 
rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 

 
2. MS. RICE shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 

designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
 

3. Within six (6) months of the effective date of the reinstatement of her 
license, MS. RICE shall pay the fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00), by 
certified check, cashier check, or money order, made payable to the 
“Treasurer, State of Ohio,” to the Board.  Payment shall be mailed to the 
attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High 
Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MS. RICE shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession of 

drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. RICE’s 
history.  MS. RICE shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
5. MS. RICE shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any products 

containing alcohol. 
 

6. During the probationary period, MS. RICE shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. RICE shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. RICE’s history. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

RICE shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. RICE shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 
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8. MS. RICE shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 
prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. RICE 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. RICE shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) or 
prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. RICE shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. RICE is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. RICE shall have her 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. RICE shall have her employer(s) send documentation to the 
Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. RICE shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. RICE 

 
13. MS. RICE shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. RICE shall submit any and all information that the Board may request 

regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. RICE shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, misleading, 

or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the Board or to 
employers or potential employers. 
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16. MS. RICE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. RICE shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. RICE shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. RICE shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. RICE shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. RICE’s use by another so authorized by law who has full 
knowledge of MS. RICE’s history) any narcotics, other controlled substances, 
or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. RICE shall not count narcotics or 
possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, cabinets, 
drawers, or containers. MS. RICE shall not call in or order prescriptions or 
prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. RICE shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. RICE to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. RICE shall not function in a position or employment where the job duties 
or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing responsibilities.  
Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of 
Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of 
Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. RICE’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. RICE’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically suspended 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 276 
 

if it appears to the Board that MS. RICE has violated or breached any terms 
or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic suspension, the Board 
shall notify MS. RICE via certified mail of the specific nature of the charges 
and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. 
RICE may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. RICE has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. RICE is able to practice nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care without 
Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. RICE and review of the 
reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. RICE does not work 
in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required shall not count 
toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Rimac, Helen, R.N. 269159 (CASE #15-3489) 
Action: It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against HELEN RIMAC in the 
January 21, 2016 Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. 
RIMAC has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Automatic Suspension 
and Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. RIMAC’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time 
but not less than one (1) year with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
below, and that following reinstatement, MS. RIMAC’s license to practice 
nursing as a registered nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under 
the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period 
of three (3) years, including the Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth 
below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. RIMAC shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. RIMAC shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 
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3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. RIMAC shall 
submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. RIMAC, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. RIMAC’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 
 

Monitoring  
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. RIMAC shall, at 
her expense, participate in mental health counseling with Dr. Sharif 
(therapist) or a licensed therapist that is approved in advance by the 
Board or its designee.  MS. RIMAC shall cause the therapist to submit 
quarterly written reports to the Board regarding:  (i) MS. RIMAC’s current 
diagnosis; (ii) MS. RIMAC’s compliance with treatment 
recommendations/plans, including but not limited to appropriate use of 
prescribed medications; (iii) all dates MS. RIMAC was seen in the three 
(3) month period prior to the date of the report; and (iv) any concerns 
regarding MS. RIMAC’s ability to practice nursing in accordance with 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care.  The Board may 
use the therapist’s recommendations during the course of treatment as a 
basis for additional terms, conditions, and limitations on MS. RIMAC’s 
license. MS. RIMAC shall see the therapist no less than two (2) times per 
month until released. 

 
5. At the first appointment following the effective date of this Order, MS. 

RIMAC shall provide the therapist with a copy of this Order, the 
November 2013 Exam Order, and the March 2014 Exam Report from 
Dr. Friedell.  In addition, MS. RIMAC shall execute releases to permit the 
therapist to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for 
the treatment and evaluation of MS. RIMAC. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. RIMAC 

 
6. MS. RIMAC shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
7. MS. RIMAC shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
8. MS. RIMAC shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 278 
 
 

9. MS. RIMAC shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
10. MS. RIMAC shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
11. MS. RIMAC shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

12. MS. RIMAC shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
RIMAC submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines 
that MS. RIMAC has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. RIMAC is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. RIMAC and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
RIMAC’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
 
1. MS. RIMAC shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. RIMAC shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. Throughout the probationary period, MS. RIMAC shall, at her expense, 

participate in mental health counseling with Dr. Sharif (therapist) or a 
licensed therapist that is approved in advance by the Board or its 
designee.  MS. RIMAC shall cause the therapist to submit quarterly 
written reports to the Board regarding:  (i) MS. RIMAC’s current diagnosis; 
(ii) MS. RIMAC’s compliance with treatment recommendations/plans, 
including but not limited to appropriate use of prescribed medications; (iii) 
all dates MS. RIMAC was seen in the three (3) month period prior to the 
date of the report; and (iv) any concerns regarding MS. RIMAC’s ability to 
practice nursing in accordance with acceptable and prevailing standards 
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of safe nursing care.  The Board may use the therapist’s 
recommendations during the course of treatment as a basis for additional 
terms, conditions, and limitations on MS. RIMAC’s license. MS. RIMAC 
shall see the therapist no less than two (2) times per month until released. 

 
4. At the first appointment with any new therapist, MS. RIMAC shall provide 

the therapist with a copy of this Order, the November 2013 Exam 
Order, and the March 2014 Exam Report from Dr. Friedell.  In addition, 
MS. RIMAC shall execute releases to permit the therapist to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the treatment and 
evaluation of MS. RIMAC. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
5. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

RIMAC shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. RIMAC shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 

 
6. MS. RIMAC shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 

prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. RIMAC 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
7. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. RIMAC shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
8. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. RIMAC shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

9. MS. RIMAC is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. RIMAC 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. RIMAC shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
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Automatic Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
 

10. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. RIMAC shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. RIMAC 

 
11. MS. RIMAC shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
12. MS. RIMAC shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
13. MS. RIMAC shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
14. MS. RIMAC shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
15. MS. RIMAC shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
16. MS. RIMAC shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

17. MS. RIMAC shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. RIMAC shall not practice nursing as a registered nurse (1) for agencies 
providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care programs 
providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing agencies or 
pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides nursing care 
and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through State agencies or 
agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of individuals who directly 
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engage MS. RIMAC to provide nursing services for fees, compensation, or 
other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. RIMAC shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities, or supervising and evaluating nursing practice.  Such 
positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of Nursing, 
Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. RIMAC’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. RIMAC’s 
license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. RIMAC has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MS. RIMAC via certified mail of the specific 
nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt 
of this notice, MS. RIMAC may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. RIMAC has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. RIMAC is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. RIMAC and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. 
RIMAC does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Bova, Carolyn Nicole, P.N. 139675 (CASE #15-3615) 
Action: It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against CAROLYN NICOLE BOVA 
in the July 31, 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for 
Hearing and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. BOVA 
has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, and that MS. BOVA’s license to practice nursing as 
a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of time but 
not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set forth 
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below, and that following reinstatement, MS. BOVA’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension 
under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a minimum 
period of two (2) years, including the Permanent Narcotic Restrictions, 
unless otherwise approved in advance by the Board, and the Temporary 
Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. BOVA shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BOVA shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 
designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BOVA shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. BOVA, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. BOVA’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BOVA shall, in 

addition to the requirements for renewal of her license, successfully 
complete and submit satisfactory documentation of successful completion 
of the following continuing education taken subsequent to the effective 
date of this Order:  ten (10) hours of Substance Abuse; and one (1) hour 
of Ohio Nursing Law and Rules. 

 
Monitoring  

 
5. MS. BOVA shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. BOVA’s 
history.  MS. BOVA shall self-administer the prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
6. MS. BOVA shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

7. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. BOVA shall, at 
her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MS. BOVA shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
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copy of this Order and the Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MS. BOVA shall execute releases to 
permit the chemical dependency professional to obtain any information 
deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The chemical 
dependency professional shall submit a written opinion to the Board that 
includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any 
additional restrictions that should be placed on MS. BOVA's license, and 
a statement as to whether MS. BOVA is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
8. MS. BOVA shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. BOVA’s license. 

 
9. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 

prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. BOVA shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. BOVA’s 
initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to 
submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a manner as 
the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed 
on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening 
shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MS. 
BOVA shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, 
or dispensed to her by another so authorized by law who has full 
knowledge of MS. BOVA’s history. 

 
10. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. BOVA initiating drug screening, MS. 

BOVA shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. BOVA. 

 
11. After initiating drug screening, MS. BOVA shall be under a continuing duty 

to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to additional 
treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating practitioners with 
the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated by another 
practitioner.  Further, MS. BOVA shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four (24) hours of 
release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 
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12. For a minimum, continuous period of six (6) months immediately 
prior to requesting reinstatement, MS. BOVA shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. BOVA shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BOVA 

 
13. MS. BOVA shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
14. MS. BOVA shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
15. MS. BOVA shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
16. MS. BOVA shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
17. MS. BOVA shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
18. MS. BOVA shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office.  
 

19. MS. BOVA shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. BOVA 
submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board determines that 
MS. BOVA has complied with all conditions of reinstatement; and (3) the 
Board determines that MS. BOVA is able to practice nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care based upon an 
interview with MS. BOVA and review of the documentation specified in this 
Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
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BOVA’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms and 
restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MS. BOVA shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. BOVA shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or its 
designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. BOVA shall abstain completely from the personal use or possession 

of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by 
another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. BOVA’s 
history.  MS. BOVA shall self-administer prescribed drugs only in the 
manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. BOVA shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MS. BOVA shall submit, at her expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. BOVA shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. BOVA’s history. 

 
6. MS. BOVA shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MS. BOVA shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

BOVA shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. BOVA shall be under a 
continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner. 
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8. MS. BOVA shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a medication 
prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner directly to the 
Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any and all 
substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. BOVA 
throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. BOVA shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. BOVA shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MS. BOVA is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order and 
the Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing to any 
new employer prior to accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. BOVA 
shall have her employer(s), if working in a position where a license to 
practice nursing is required, submit written reports regarding job 
performance on a quarterly basis beginning within thirty (30) days of 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MS. BOVA shall have her 
employer(s) send documentation to the Board, along with the first 
employer report, of receipt of a copy of this Order and the Notice of 
Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, including the date 
they were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MS. BOVA shall, prior 
to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. BOVA 

 
13. MS. BOVA shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MS. BOVA shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MS. BOVA shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 
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16. MS. BOVA shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MS. BOVA shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MS. BOVA shall verify that the reports and documentation required by this 

Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MS. BOVA shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in writing, 
of any change in employment status or of any change in residential or 
home address or telephone number. 

 
Permanent Narcotic Restriction 
 
Unless otherwise approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its 
designee, MS. BOVA shall not administer, have access to, or possess 
(except as prescribed for MS. BOVA’s use by another so authorized by law 
who has full knowledge of MS. BOVA’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. BOVA shall 
not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication 
carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. BOVA shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MS. BOVA shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MS. BOVA to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
 
MS. BOVA shall not function in a position or employment where the job duties 
or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing responsibilities.  
Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: Director of 
Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice President of 
Nursing. 
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FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. BOVA’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. BOVA’s license 
to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. BOVA has violated or breached 
any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic suspension, 
the Board shall notify MS. BOVA via certified mail of the specific nature of the 
charges and automatic suspension of her license.  Upon receipt of this notice, 
MS. BOVA may request a hearing regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. BOVA has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. BOVA is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. BOVA and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MS. BOVA 
does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is required 
shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Schwartz, Sr., James Julius, R.N. 305591 (CASE #15-8619) 
Action: It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against JAMES JULIUS 
SCHWARTZ, SR. in the March 17, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing 
and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MR. SCHWARTZ 
has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that 
MR. SCHWARTZ’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time with the conditions for 
reinstatement set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MR. SCHWARTZ shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MR. SCHWARTZ shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 
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3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. SCHWARTZ shall 
submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MR. SCHWARTZ, including 
a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MR. SCHWARTZ’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 

 
4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. SCHWARTZ shall 

submit documentation that his California license to practice as a registered 
nurse is current, valid, and unrestricted. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. SCHWARTZ 

 
5. MR. SCHWARTZ shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MR. SCHWARTZ shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MR. SCHWARTZ shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MR. SCHWARTZ shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MR. SCHWARTZ shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MR. SCHWARTZ shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MR. SCHWARTZ shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MR. 
SCHWARTZ submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MR. SCHWARTZ has complied with all conditions of 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 290 
 

reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MR. SCHWARTZ is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MR. SCHWARTZ and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Tobias, Lucas Roll, P.N. 157773 (CASE #15-3094) 
Action: It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against LUCAS ROLL TOBIAS in the 
January 21, 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing and evidence supporting 
the charges, the Board find that MR. TOBIAS has committed acts in violation 
of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the 
Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, and that MR. TOBIAS’s license to practice 
nursing as a licensed practical nurse be suspended for an indefinite period of 
time but not less than two (2) years with the conditions for reinstatement set 
forth below, and that following reinstatement, MR. TOBIAS’s license to 
practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse shall be subject to a stayed 
suspension under the probationary terms and restrictions set forth below for a 
minimum period of two (2) years, including the Temporary Narcotic and 
Temporary Practice Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MR. TOBIAS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MR. TOBIAS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. TOBIAS shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MR. TOBIAS, including a 
check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MR. TOBIAS’s criminal records check reports to the Board.  
A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board until the 
completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has been 
received by the Board. 

 
Monitoring  

 
4. MR. TOBIAS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 



Ohio Board of Nursing 
Minutes of September 14-15, 2016 Meeting 
Page 291 
 

to him by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. 
TOBIAS’s history.  MR. TOBIAS shall self-administer the prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
5. MR. TOBIAS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

6. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. TOBIAS shall, at 
his expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a Board 
approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, 
MR. TOBIAS shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing.  Further, MR. 
TOBIAS shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MR. TOBIAS's license, and a statement as to whether MR. TOBIAS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 

 
7. MR. TOBIAS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MR. TOBIAS’s license. 

 
8. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MR. TOBIAS shall submit, at his expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MR. TOBIAS’s initiation 
of drug screening, refusal to submit such specimen, or failure to submit 
such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a manner as the 
Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a restriction placed on a 
license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  This screening shall 
require a daily call-in process.  The specimens submitted by MR. TOBIAS 
shall be negative, except for substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to him by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge 
of MR. TOBIAS’s history. 

 
9. Within thirty (30) days prior to MR. TOBIAS initiating drug screening, MR. 

TOBIAS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers and cause all treating practitioners to 
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complete a medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the 
practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be 
completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MR. TOBIAS. 

 
10. After initiating drug screening, MR. TOBIAS shall be under a continuing 

duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, to 
additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MR. TOBIAS shall notify the Board of 
any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
11. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MR. TOBIAS shall attend a minimum of 
one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in 
advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MR. TOBIAS shall 
provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board prior 
to reinstatement. 

 
12. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. TOBIAS shall, at 

his expense, obtain a psychiatric evaluation from a Board approved 
psychiatrist and shall provide the Board with complete documentation of 
such evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MR. TOBIAS shall provide the 
psychiatrist with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing and shall execute releases to permit the psychiatrist to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
psychiatrist shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, any additional 
restrictions that should be placed on MR. TOBIAS's license, and a 
statement as to whether MR. TOBIAS is capable of practicing nursing 
according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
13. MR. TOBIAS shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of 

compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
psychiatrist described above until released.  Further, the Board may utilize 
the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the evaluation 
as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MR. TOBIAS’s license. 
 

14. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MR. TOBIAS shall, at 
his expense, obtain a comprehensive physical examination by a Board 
approved physician for the purposes of evaluating MR. TOBIAS’s fitness 
for duty and safety to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse.  This 
Board approved physician shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of MR. TOBIAS’s comprehensive physical examination 
and with a comprehensive assessment regarding MR. TOBIAS’s fitness 
for duty and safety to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse.  Prior 
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to the examination, MR. TOBIAS shall provide the Board approved 
physician with a copy of this Order and the Notice of Opportunity for 
Hearing.  Further, MR. TOBIAS shall execute releases to permit the Board 
approved physician performing the comprehensive physical examination 
and assessment to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the assessment.  The evaluating physician shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MR. TOBIAS’s license to practice, and stating whether MR. TOBIAS is 
capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and prevailing 
standards of safe nursing care. 
 

15. The Board may utilize the Board approved physician's recommendations 
and conclusions from the comprehensive physical examination and 
assessment as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MR. 
TOBIAS’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. TOBIAS 

 
16. MR. TOBIAS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
17. MR. TOBIAS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
18. MR. TOBIAS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
19. MR. TOBIAS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board.  

 
20. MR. TOBIAS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
21. MR. TOBIAS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

22. MR. TOBIAS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
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DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MR. 
TOBIAS submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MR. TOBIAS has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MR. TOBIAS is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MR. TOBIAS and review of the 
documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MR. 
TOBIAS’s license shall be subject to the following probationary terms 
and restrictions for a minimum period of two (2) years. 

 
1. MR. TOBIAS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MR. TOBIAS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MR. TOBIAS shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to him by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MR. 
TOBIAS’s history.  MR. TOBIAS shall self-administer prescribed drugs 
only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MR. TOBIAS shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. During the probationary period, MR. TOBIAS shall submit, at his expense 
and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens for drug 
and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board at such 
times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such specimen, or 
failure to submit such specimen on the day he is selected, or in such a 
manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation of a 
restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), ORC.  
This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MR. TOBIAS shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to him by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MR. TOBIAS’s history. 

 
6. MR. TOBIAS shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting per week of a 

support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the Board, or a 
Twelve Step program, and MR. TOBIAS shall provide satisfactory 
documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) months. 
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Treating Practitioners and Reporting 
 

7. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MR. 
TOBIAS shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners and 
shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MR. TOBIAS shall be under 
a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
8. MR. TOBIAS shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MR. 
TOBIAS throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
9. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MR. TOBIAS shall notify the Board of any and all medication(s) 
or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
10. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MR. TOBIAS shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

11. MR. TOBIAS is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order 
and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing to any new employer prior to 
accepting employment as a nurse.  MR. TOBIAS shall have his 
employer(s), if working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly 
basis beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MR. TOBIAS shall have his employer(s) send documentation to 
the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of this 
Order and the Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, including the date they 
were received. 
	  

12. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, MR. TOBIAS shall, 
prior to working in a position where a license to practice nursing is 
required, complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion 
of a nurse refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in 
advance by the Board or its designee. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MR. TOBIAS 

 
13. MR. TOBIAS shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
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professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
14. MR. TOBIAS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
15. MR. TOBIAS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
16. MR. TOBIAS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance Unit of the Board. 

 
17. MR. TOBIAS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention of the 
Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, Suite 400, 
Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
18. MR. TOBIAS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

19. MR. TOBIAS shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MR. TOBIAS shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MR. TOBIAS’s use by another so authorized by law who has 
full knowledge of MR. TOBIAS’s history) any narcotics, other controlled 
substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MR. TOBIAS shall not count 
narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked medication carts, 
cabinets, drawers, or containers. MR. TOBIAS shall not call in or order 
prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
Temporary Practice Restrictions 
 
MR. TOBIAS shall not practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse (1) for 
agencies providing home care in the patient’s residence; (2) for hospice care 
programs providing hospice care in the patient’s residence; (3) for staffing 
agencies or pools; (4) as an independent provider where the nurse provides 
nursing care and is reimbursed for services by the State of Ohio through 
State agencies or agents of the State; or (5) for an individual or group of 
individuals who directly engage MR. TOBIAS to provide nursing services for 
fees, compensation, or other consideration or as a volunteer.   
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MR. TOBIAS shall not function in a position or employment where the job 
duties or requirements involve management of nursing and nursing 
responsibilities.  Such positions include, but are not limited to, the following: 
Director of Nursing, Assistant Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, Vice 
President of Nursing. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MR. TOBIAS’s suspension shall be lifted and MR. TOBIAS’s 
license to practice nursing as a licensed practical nurse will be automatically 
suspended if it appears to the Board that MR. TOBIAS has violated or 
breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the automatic 
suspension, the Board shall notify MR. TOBIAS via certified mail of the 
specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of his license.  Upon 
receipt of this notice, MR. TOBIAS may request a hearing regarding the 
charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MR. TOBIAS has complied with all aspects of this 
Order; and (2) the Board determines that MR. TOBIAS is able to practice 
nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care 
without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MR. TOBIAS and 
review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during which MR. 
TOBIAS does not work in a position for which a license to practice nursing is 
required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary period imposed by 
this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Brenda 
Boggs abstaining. 
 
This ORDER shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
 
WITHDRAWAL OF NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING 
Thompson, Christina, P.N. NCLEX APPLICANT (CASE #15-1527) 
Action:  It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that the 
Board withdraw the November 20, 2015 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing that 
was issued to Christina Thompson, PN-NCLEX Applicant,  (CASE #2015-
001527), based on additional information received in accordance with Section 
2953.52 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
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DEFAULT ORDERS 
Richardson, Nancy J., R.N. 197884 (CASE #15-7146) 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Lauralee Krabill, 
that upon consideration of the findings contained in the July 2016 Default 
Order, the Board find that MS. RICHARDSON has committed acts in violation 
of the Nurse Practice Act, as set forth in the July 2016 Default Order, and it 
was further moved that MS. RICHARDSON’s license to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended, as of July 21, 2016, with 
conditions for reinstatement set forth in the July 2016 Default Order.  
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Barger, Keith Douglas, P.N. 139602 (CASE #15-7779) 
Action: It was moved by Lauralee Krabill, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that the Board find that MR. BARGER has failed to submit to an examination 
when directed, and that the failure was not due to circumstances beyond his 
control, and that in accordance with Section 4723.28(G) ORC, MR. BARGER 
has admitted the truth of the allegations set forth in the February 25, 2016 
Examination Order issued to MR. BARGER and that MR. BARGER has an 
impairment affecting his ability to provide safe nursing care. It was further 
moved that MR. BARGER’s license to practice nursing as a licensed practical 
nurse in the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of time with 
conditions for reinstatement set forth below:  
 
CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT 
 
1. MR. BARGER shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 
2. MR. BARGER shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board 

or its designated representative as requested by the Board and prior to 
reinstatement. 

 
3. MR. BARGER shall, at his own expense, submit to a fitness for duty 

evaluation specifically addressing his ability to safely function in a clinical 
nursing capacity, by Dr. Michael A. Gureasko, located at the Christ 
Hospital Medical Office Building, 2123 Auburn Avenue, Suite 306, 
Cincinnati, Ohio 45219, or another examiner approved in advance, in 
writing, by the Board or its designee (hereinafter “Examiner”). Prior to the 
evaluation, MR. BARGER shall notify the Board Monitoring Agent of the 
appointment date, so that the Monitoring Agent can send the necessary 
records to the Examiner. MR. BARGER shall execute releases to permit 
the Examiner to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the evaluation.  The Examiner shall submit a written opinion 
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to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and 
monitoring, and any restrictions that should be placed on MR. BARGER’s 
practice.  The Examiner shall provide an opinion to the Board regarding 
whether MR. BARGER is capable of practicing nursing according to 
acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
 

4. MR. BARGER shall enter into a Consent Agreement with the Board for 
probationary terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions determined by 
the Board for a minimum period of time determined by the Board.  The 
probationary terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions determined by 
the Board shall include, but not be limited to, completion or continuation of 
mental health and/or chemical dependency treatment, or other treatment 
recommended, and/or restrictions specified by the Examiner, as set forth 
in paragraph 3., above.  If the Board and MR. BARGER are unable to 
agree to terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions in a Consent 
Agreement, the terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions shall be 
determined after a hearing is held. 
 

Reporting Requirements of Licensee 
 
5. MR. BARGER shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
6. MR. BARGER shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding his ability to practice according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
7. MR. BARGER shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MR. BARGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Monitoring Unit of the Board.  

 
9. MR. BARGER shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
10. MR. BARGER shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 

this Order are received in the Board office.  
 
11. MR. BARGER shall inform the Board within three (3) business days, in 

writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
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This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Combs, Mary B., R.N. 207627 (CASE #14-0383) 
Action: It was moved by Janet Arwood, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, that 
the Board find that MS. COMBS has failed to submit to an examination when 
directed, and that the failure was not due to circumstances beyond her 
control, and that in accordance with Section 4723.28(G) ORC, MS. COMBS 
has admitted the truth of the allegations set forth in the February 25, 2016 
Examination Order issued to MS. COMBS and that MS. COMBS has an 
impairment affecting her ability to provide safe nursing care.  It was further 
moved that MS. COMBS’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse in 
the State of Ohio be suspended for an indefinite period of time with conditions 
for reinstatement set forth below:  
 
CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT 
 
1. MS. COMBS shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws and 

rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. COMBS shall appear in person for interviews before the full Board or 
its designated representative as requested by the Board and prior to 
reinstatement. 

 
3. MS. COMBS shall, at her own expense, submit to a fitness for duty 

evaluation specifically addressing her ability to safely function in a clinical 
nursing capacity, by The University of Cincinnati Physicians Company, 
260 Stetson Street, Suite 3200, Cincinnati, Ohio 45219, or another 
examiner approved in advance, in writing, by the Board or its designee 
(hereinafter “Examiner”). Prior to the evaluation, MS. COMBS shall notify 
the Board Monitoring Agent of the appointment date, so that the 
Monitoring Agent can send the necessary records to the Examiner. MS. 
COMBS shall execute releases to permit the Examiner to obtain any 
information deemed appropriate and necessary for the evaluation.  The 
Examiner shall submit a written opinion to the Board that includes 
diagnoses, recommendations for treatment and monitoring, and any 
restrictions that should be placed on MS. COMBS’s practice.  The 
Examiner shall provide an opinion to the Board regarding whether MS. 
COMBS is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
 

4. MS. COMBS shall enter into a Consent Agreement with the Board for 
probationary terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions determined by 
the Board for a minimum period of time determined by the Board.  The 
probationary terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions determined by 
the Board shall include, but not be limited to, completion or continuation of 
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mental health and/or chemical dependency treatment, or other treatment 
recommended, and/or restrictions specified by the Examiner, as set forth 
in paragraph 3., above.  If the Board and MS. COMBS are unable to agree 
to terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions in a Consent Agreement, 
the terms, conditions, limitations, and restrictions shall be determined after 
a hearing is held. 

 
Reporting Requirements of Licensee 
 
5. MS. COMBS shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  
 

6. MS. COMBS shall submit any and all information that the Board may 
request regarding her ability to practice according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  
 

7. MS. COMBS shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 
misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
8. MS. COMBS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 

Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and communications 
required by this Order shall be made to the Monitoring Unit of the Board.  
 

9. MS. COMBS shall submit the reports and documentation required by this 
Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 
South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  
 

10. MS. COMBS shall verify that the reports and documentation required by 
this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

11. MS. COMBS shall inform the Board within three (3) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 

 
VOLUNTARY RETIREMENTS 
Action:  It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
the Board accept the Permanent Voluntary Retirement from the practice of 
nursing for the following case(s): 

 
Malec, Kellie, R.N. 345079 (CASE #16-3154); Hardesty, Teresa, P.N. 081058 
(CASE #15-4010); Porter, Lori, R.N. 214010, P.N. 063034 (CASE #15-7963); 
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Rausch, Tondra, R.N. 112723 (CASE #16-4698); McCready, William, P.N. 
087905 (CASE #16-4392). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
CONSOLIDATIONS HEARINGS/NO REQUEST HEARING 
Ferguson, Katelyn Taylor, R.N. 409406 (CASE #15-7987); Ferguson, Katelyn 
Taylor, R.N. 409406 (CASE #16-2768; #15-7987) 
Action:  It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Sandra Ranck, that upon 
consideration of the charges stated against KATELYN TAYLOR FERGUSON 
in the March 2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, Case Number 2015-
007987, and the May 2016 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity 
for Hearing Cse #2016-002768, and evidence supporting the charges, the 
Board find that MS. FERGUSON has committed acts in violation of the Nurse 
Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notices, and 
that MS. FERGUSON’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse be 
suspended for an indefinite period of time but not less than three (3) years 
with the conditions for reinstatement set forth below, and that following 
reinstatement, MS. FERGUSON’s license to practice nursing as a registered 
nurse shall be subject to a stayed suspension under the probationary terms 
and restrictions set forth below for a minimum period of three (3) years, 
including the Temporary Narcotic Restrictions set forth below. 
 
REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT  

 
1. MS. FERGUSON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 

and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 
 

2. MS. FERGUSON shall appear in person for interviews before the full 
Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
3. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. FERGUSON shall 

submit a request to the Bureau of Criminal Identification and Investigation 
(BCII) to conduct a criminal records check of MS. FERGUSON, including 
a check of Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) records, and shall cause 
BCII to submit MS. FERGUSON’s criminal records check reports to the 
Board.  A request for reinstatement will not be considered by the Board 
until the completed criminal records check, including the FBI check, has 
been received by the Board. 
 

4. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. FERGUSON shall 
submit documentation of her full compliance with the terms and conditions 
imposed by the Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas in Case Number 
B-1505577. 

 
5. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. FERGUSON shall 
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complete and submit satisfactory documentation of completion of a nurse 
refresher course or an extensive orientation approved in advance by the 
Board or its designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
6. MS. FERGUSON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
FERGUSON’s history.  MS. FERGUSON shall self-administer the 
prescribed drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
7. MS. FERGUSON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol.  
 

8. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. FERGUSON 
shall, at her expense, obtain a chemical dependency evaluation by a 
Board approved chemical dependency professional and shall provide the 
Board with complete documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the 
evaluation, MS. FERGUSON shall provide the chemical dependency 
professional with a copy of this Order and the Notices.  Further, MS. 
FERGUSON shall execute releases to permit the chemical dependency 
professional to obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary 
for the evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. FERGUSON's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
FERGUSON is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
9. MS. FERGUSON shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation 

of compliance with all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the 
chemical dependency professional described above until released.  
Further, the Board may utilize the professional's recommendations and 
conclusions from the evaluation as a basis for additional terms and 
restrictions on MS. FERGUSON’s license. 

 
10. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. FERGUSON shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
at such times as the Board may request.  Upon and after MS. 
FERGUSON’s initiation of drug screening, refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
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submitted by MS. FERGUSON shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. FERGUSON’s history. 

 
11. Within thirty (30) days prior to MS. FERGUSON initiating drug screening, 

MS. FERGUSON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating 
practitioners and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating 
practitioners, including addresses and telephone numbers and cause all 
treating practitioners to complete a medication prescription report that is to 
be mailed by the practitioner directly to the Board.  The medication report 
is to be completed for any and all substances prescribed, administered, or 
dispensed to MS. FERGUSON. 

 
12. After initiating drug screening, MS. FERGUSON shall be under a 

continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating treatment, 
to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of treating 
practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being treated 
by another practitioner.  Further, MS. FERGUSON shall notify the Board 
of any and all medication(s) or prescription(s) received within twenty-four 
(24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical treatment. 

 
13. For a minimum, continuous period of one (1) year immediately prior 

to requesting reinstatement, MS. FERGUSON shall attend a minimum 
of one (1) meeting per week of a support or peer group meeting approved 
in advance by the Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. 
FERGUSON shall provide satisfactory documentation of such attendance 
to the Board prior to reinstatement. 

 
14. Prior to requesting reinstatement by the Board, MS. FERGUSON 

shall, at her expense, obtain a comprehensive physical examination by a 
Board approved physician for the purposes of evaluating MS. 
FERGUSON’s fitness for duty and safety to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse.  This Board approved physician shall provide the Board 
with complete documentation of MS. FERGUSON’s comprehensive 
physical examination and with a comprehensive assessment regarding 
MS. FERGUSON’s fitness for duty and safety to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse.  Prior to the examination, MS. FERGUSON shall provide 
the Board approved physician with a copy of this Order and the Notices.  
Further, MS. FERGUSON shall execute releases to permit the Board 
approved physician performing the comprehensive physical examination 
and assessment to obtain any information deemed appropriate and 
necessary for the assessment.  The evaluating physician shall submit a 
written opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. FERGUSON’s license to practice, and stating whether MS. 
FERGUSON is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 
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15. The Board may utilize the Board approved physician's recommendations 

and conclusions from the comprehensive physical examination and 
assessment as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
FERGUSON’s license. 

 
Reporting Requirements of MS. FERGUSON 

 
16. MS. FERGUSON shall sign release of information forms allowing health 

professionals and other organizations to submit requested documentation 
or information directly to the Board.  

 
17. MS. FERGUSON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice.  

 
18. MS. FERGUSON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers.  

 
19. MS. FERGUSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board.  

 
20. MS. FERGUSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order to the attention of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 
17 South High Street, Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410.  

 
21. MS. FERGUSON shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office.  
 

22. MS. FERGUSON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in address and/or telephone number. 

 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the indefinite suspension imposed if: (1) MS. 
FERGUSON submits a written request for reinstatement; (2) the Board 
determines that MS. FERGUSON has complied with all conditions of 
reinstatement; and (3) the Board determines that MS. FERGUSON is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care based upon an interview with MS. FERGUSON and review of 
the documentation specified in this Order. 
 
Following reinstatement, the suspension shall be stayed and MS. 
FERGUSON’s license shall be subject to the following probationary 
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terms and restrictions for a minimum period of three (3) years. 
 

1. MS. FERGUSON shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all laws 
and rules governing the practice of nursing in Ohio. 

 
2. MS. FERGUSON shall appear in person for interviews before the full 

Board or its designated representative as requested by the Board or its 
designee. 

 
Monitoring  

 
3. MS. FERGUSON shall abstain completely from the personal use or 

possession of drugs, except those prescribed, administered, or dispensed 
to her by another so authorized by law who has full knowledge of MS. 
FERGUSON’s history.  MS. FERGUSON shall self-administer prescribed 
drugs only in the manner prescribed. 

 
4. MS. FERGUSON shall abstain completely from the use of alcohol or any 

products containing alcohol. 
 

5. Upon the request of the Board or its designee, and within ninety (90) 
days of the request, MS. FERGUSON shall, at her expense, obtain a 
chemical dependency evaluation by a Board approved chemical 
dependency professional and shall provide the Board with complete 
documentation of this evaluation.  Prior to the evaluation, MS. 
FERGUSON shall provide the chemical dependency professional with a 
copy of this Order and the Notices.  Further, MS. FERGUSON shall 
execute releases to permit the chemical dependency professional to 
obtain any information deemed appropriate and necessary for the 
evaluation.  The chemical dependency professional shall submit a written 
opinion to the Board that includes diagnoses, recommendations for 
treatment and monitoring, any additional restrictions that should be placed 
on MS. FERGUSON's license, and a statement as to whether MS. 
FERGUSON is capable of practicing nursing according to acceptable and 
prevailing standards of safe nursing care. 

 
6. If a chemical dependency evaluation is requested, MS. FERGUSON 

shall provide the Board with satisfactory documentation of compliance with 
all aspects of the treatment plan developed by the chemical dependency 
professional described above until released.  Further, the Board may 
utilize the professional's recommendations and conclusions from the 
evaluation as a basis for additional terms and restrictions on MS. 
FERGUSON’s license. 
 

7. During the probationary period, MS. FERGUSON shall submit, at her 
expense and on the day selected, blood, breath, hair or urine specimens 
for drug and/or alcohol analysis at a collection site specified by the Board 
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at such times as the Board may request.  Refusal to submit such 
specimen, or failure to submit such specimen on the day she is selected, 
or in such a manner as the Board may request, shall constitute a violation 
of a restriction placed on a license for purposes of Section 4723.28(B), 
ORC.  This screening shall require a daily call-in process.  The specimens 
submitted by MS. FERGUSON shall be negative, except for substances 
prescribed, administered, or dispensed to her by another so authorized by 
law who has full knowledge of MS. FERGUSON’s history. 

 
8. For a minimum period of at least one (1) year during the probationary 

period, or as otherwise recommended in the chemical dependency 
evaluation, MS. FERGUSON shall attend a minimum of one (1) meeting 
per week of a support or peer group meeting approved in advance by the 
Board, or a Twelve Step program, and MS. FERGUSON shall provide 
satisfactory documentation of such attendance to the Board every six (6) 
months.  After the one (1) year period previously described, or according 
to the time period specified in the chemical dependency evaluation, MS. 
FERGUSON may submit a written request to the Board to have this 
restriction re-evaluated. 

 
Treating Practitioners and Reporting 

 
9. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of the probationary period, MS. 

FERGUSON shall provide a copy of this Order to all treating practitioners 
and shall provide to the Board a list of all treating practitioners, including 
addresses and telephone numbers.  Further, MS. FERGUSON shall be 
under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this Order, prior to initiating 
treatment, to additional treating practitioners, and to update the list of 
treating practitioners with the Board within forty-eight (48) hours of being 
treated by another practitioner. 

 
10. MS. FERGUSON shall cause all treating practitioners to complete a 

medication prescription report that is to be mailed by the practitioner 
directly to the Board.  The medication report is to be completed for any 
and all substances prescribed, administered, or dispensed to MS. 
FERGUSON throughout the duration of this Order. 

 
11. Within twenty-four (24) hours of release from hospitalization or medical 

treatment, MS. FERGUSON shall notify the Board of any and all 
medication(s) or prescription(s) received. 

 
Employment Conditions 

 
12. Prior to accepting employment as a nurse, each time with every employer, 

MS. FERGUSON shall notify the Board, in writing. 
 

13. MS. FERGUSON is under a continuing duty to provide a copy of this 
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Order and the Notices to any new employer prior to accepting 
employment as a nurse.  MS. FERGUSON shall have her employer(s), if 
working in a position where a license to practice nursing is required, 
submit written reports regarding job performance on a quarterly basis 
beginning within thirty (30) days of accepting employment as a 
nurse.  MS. FERGUSON shall have her employer(s) send documentation 
to the Board, along with the first employer report, of receipt of a copy of 
this Order and the Notices, including the date they were received. 
	  

Reporting Requirements of MS. FERGUSON 
 

14. MS. FERGUSON shall sign releases of information forms allowing health 
professionals and other organizations to submit the requested 
documentation directly to the Board. 

 
15. MS. FERGUSON shall submit any and all information that the Board may 

request regarding her ability to practice nursing according to acceptable 
and prevailing standards of safe nursing practice. 

 
16. MS. FERGUSON shall not submit or cause to be submitted any false, 

misleading, or deceptive statements, information, or documentation to the 
Board or to employers or potential employers. 

 
17. MS. FERGUSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order on forms specified by the Board. All reporting and 
communications required by this Order shall be made to the Compliance 
Unit of the Board. 

 
18. MS. FERGUSON shall submit the reports and documentation required by 

this Order or any other documents required by the Board to the attention 
of the Compliance Unit, Ohio Board of Nursing, 17 South High Street, 
Suite 400, Columbus, OH 43215-7410. 

 
19. MS. FERGUSON shall verify that the reports and documentation required 

by this Order are received in the Board office. 
 

20. MS. FERGUSON shall inform the Board within five (5) business days, in 
writing, of any change in employment status or of any change in 
residential or home address or telephone number. 

 
Temporary Narcotic Restriction 
 
MS. FERGUSON shall not administer, have access to, or possess (except as 
prescribed for MS. FERGUSON’s use by another so authorized by law who 
has full knowledge of MS. FERGUSON’s history) any narcotics, other 
controlled substances, or mood altering drugs. In addition, MS. FERGUSON 
shall not count narcotics or possess or carry any work keys for locked 
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medication carts, cabinets, drawers, or containers. MS. FERGUSON shall not 
call in or order prescriptions or prescription refills. 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLY 
 
The stay of MS. FERGUSON’s suspension shall be lifted and MS. 
FERGUSON’s license to practice nursing as a registered nurse will be 
automatically suspended if it appears to the Board that MS. FERGUSON has 
violated or breached any terms or conditions of this Order.  Following the 
automatic suspension, the Board shall notify MS. FERGUSON via certified 
mail of the specific nature of the charges and automatic suspension of her 
license.  Upon receipt of this notice, MS. FERGUSON may request a hearing 
regarding the charges. 
 
DURATION 
 
The Board may only alter the probationary period imposed by this Order if: (1) 
the Board determines that MS. FERGUSON has complied with all aspects of 
this Order; and (2) the Board determines that MS. FERGUSON is able to 
practice nursing according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe 
nursing care without Board monitoring, based upon an interview with MS. 
FERGUSON and review of the reports as required herein.  Any period during 
which MS. FERGUSON does not work in a position for which a license to 
practice nursing is required shall not count toward fulfilling the probationary 
period imposed by this Order. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Osborne, Claire Caralina, R.N. 378435 (CASE #14-1827); Osborne, Claire 
Caralina, R.N. 378435 (CASE #15-5526) 
Action:  It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against CLAIRE CARALINA 
OSBORNE in the January 2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and 
Opportunity for Hearing, Case Number 2014-001827, and the September 
2015 Notice of Immediate Suspension and Opportunity for Hearing, Case 
Number 2015-005526, and evidence supporting the charges, the Board find 
that MS. OSBORNE has committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice 
Act, Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notices.  It was 
further moved that MS. OSBORNE’s license to practice nursing as a 
registered nurse be PERMANENTLY REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
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This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
Scheurell, Danyelle R., R.N. 357913, P.N. 133060 (CASE #13-7755; 13-
7230, #13-5160); Scheurell, Danyelle R., R.N. 357913, P.N. 133060 (CASE 
#15-8103)  
Action:  It was moved by John Schmidt, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
upon consideration of the charges stated against DANYELLE R. 
SCHEURELL in the November 2014 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, Case 
Numbers 2013-005160, 2013-007230, and 2013-007755, and the January 
2016 Notice of Opportunity for Hearing, Case Number 2015-008103, and 
evidence supporting the charges, the Board find that MS. SCHEURELL has 
committed acts in violation of the Nurse Practice Act, Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 4723, as stated in the Notices.  It was further moved that MS. 
SCHEURELL’s licenses to practice nursing as a registered nurse and 
licensed practical nurse be PERMANENTLY REVOKED. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
This Order shall become effective immediately and is hereby entered upon 
the Journal of the Board for the 15th day of September 2016. 
 
MONITORING 
 
RELEASE FROM SUSPENSION/PROBATION 
Action:  It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by John Schmidt, that the 
following, with the recommendation by Judith Church, Supervising Member 
for Disciplinary Matters, be released from their Consent Agreements: 
 
Stovall, Melissa, P.N. 149813 (CASE #11-4503); Smith, Victoria, P.N. 157480 
(CASE #14-2655); Bolte, Scott, R.N. 263336, P.N. 093902 (CASE #14-0584); 
Willis, Jameesha, P.N. 152743 (CASE #14-2816); Cullison, Lisa, R.N. 
287591, P.N. 100681 (CASE #14-4941); Bentley, Amanda, R.N. 328207 
(CASE #07-0289); Schneider, Wendy, P.N. 127128 (CASE #09-1783); Boyle, 
Kristen, R.N. 365312 (CASE #14-1308); Hunt, Shelley, P.N. 114187 (CASE 
#13-7156). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
RELEASE FROM SUSPENSION/PROBATION – PERMANENT PRACTICE 
RESTRICTIONS REMAIN 
Action:  It was moved by Sheryl Warner, seconded by J. Jane McFee, that 
the following, with the recommendation by Judith Church, Supervising 
Member for Disciplinary Matters, be released from their Consent Agreements 
with the exception of the permanent practice restrictions that will remain in 
effect: 
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Grabiec, Elizabeth, R.N. 335968 (CASE #13-0678); Baker, Keisha, P.N. 
118626 (CASE #10-0627); Truitt, Valerie, R.N. 284131 (CASE #12-1630); 
Wannemacher, Shannon, R.N. 295919 (CASE #15-1420); Gundling, Teresa, 
R.N. 253981, P.N. 076780 (CASE #08-3371). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
RELEASE FROM SUSPENSION/PROBATION – EARLY RELEASE - 
PERMANENT PRACTICE AND NARCOTIC RESTRICTIONS REMAIN 
Action:  It was moved by Brenda Boggs, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that 
the following, with the recommendation by Judith Church, Supervising 
Member for Disciplinary Matters, be released early from the Consent 
Agreement with the exception of the permanent practice and narcotic 
restrictions that will remain in effect: 
 
Mitchell, Mary, R.N. 231376 (CASE #11-4495). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
RELEASE FROM TEMPORARY NARCOTIC RESTRICTIONS 
Action:  It was moved by Sandra Ranck, seconded by Lisa Klenke, that the 
following, with the recommendation by Judith Church, Supervising Member 
for Disciplinary Matters, be released from their temporary narcotic restrictions 
within their Consent Agreement:  
 
Kinney, Kelly, R.N. 262479 (CASE #15-1812); McGinty, Jacqueline, R.N. 
334186 (CASE #15-0040); Moore, Debra, R.N. 221976 (CASE #11-4484). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
REINSTATEMENT REQUEST PER CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 
AGREEMENT 
Action:  It was moved by Lisa Klenke, seconded by Brenda Boggs, that the 
following, with the recommendation by Judith Church, Supervising Member 
for Disciplinary Matters, be reinstated subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Consent Agreement: 
 
Zaciek, Deanna, R.N. 313975, COA 16001, CTP 16001 (CASE #16-0219). 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE 
Action: It was moved by Nancy Fellows, seconded by Patricia Sharpnack, 
that the Board accept the following approvals made by Judith Church, 
Supervising Member for Disciplinary Matters. 
 
Davis, Sarah, R.N. 295561 – Approval to accept Kelley Huff, LPCC and Mark 
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Davis, LICDC as providers for the chemical dependency evaluation. 
 
Zolensky, Jenna, R.N. 372514 – Approval to complete an extensive 
orientation offered through Fresenius Medical Center. 
 
Johnson, Simone, R.N. 332175, P.N. 106593 – Approval to accept a part-time 
position as an RN Supervisor with Heartland of Woodridge in Fairfield Ohio 
and full-time position as a Unit Manager with Hyde Park Health Care Center 
in Cincinnati, Ohio. 
 
Hashman, Justin. R.N. 346061, P.N.125166 – Approval to accept Emily Clark, 
MS as provider for the chemical dependency evaluation. 
 
Keidel, Christine, R.N. 264229 – Approval to work as a nurse. 
 
Tharp, Bobetta, P.N. 107024 – Approval to accept an LPN position with 
Hospice Care of Middletown in Middletown, Ohio. 
 
Ordonez, Tiffani, R.N. 379097 – Approval to accept Aaron Miller, MS, RN, NP 
to complete the learning plan. 
 
Jackson, Kadijah, R.N. 349859, P.N. 111522 – Approval to accept a Donor 
Referral Services Night Shift Supervisor position with LifeBanc in Cleveland, 
Ohio. 
 
Madeline, Mary, R.N. 212519 – Approval to accept an RN position in the 
CSICU at Hillcrest Hospital in Mayfield Heights, Ohio. 
 
Schwoeble, Shannon, R.N. 353558 – Approval to accept Gigi Muir, LPCC, 
LICDC, as provider for the chemical dependency evaluation. 
 
Hice, Lauren, R.N. 366021 – Approval to accept Dr. Abe Soliman as provider 
for the chemical dependency evaluation. 
 
Eller, Deanna, R.N. 385020 – Approval to accept Dr. David Streem as 
provider for the addiction psychiatric evaluation. 
 
Planck, Kristi, R.N. 256563 – Approval to accept Dr. David Streem as 
provider for the addiction psychiatric evaluation. 
 
Leonard, Michelle, P.N. 103586 – Approval to work as a nurse.  
 
Dudley, Sheena, P.N. 162035 – Approval to accept the chemical dependency 
evaluation completed by Dave Zavasky, LPCC, LICD. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
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MISCELLANEOUS MONITORING MOTIONS 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by Nancy Fellows, 
that the Board approve the following: 
 
Lavin, Luann, R.N. 304137, COA 11102, CTP 11102 – Approval to accept 
employer reports from Lifescape in Scottsdale, Arizona.  
 
Sinistro, Celeste, R.N. 165430 – Approval to be released from drug screening 
in the September 18, 2015 Consent Agreement. 
 
Fannon, Elyn, R.N. 352186 - Approval to be released from the temporary 
narcotic restriction in the May 15, 2015 Consent Agreement. 
 
Rigg, Megan, R.N. 363695 – Approval to be released from probation and 
temporary practice restrictions with the exception of the mental health and 
substance abuse restrictions in the July 26, 2013 Consent Agreement and 
November 21, 2014 Addendum Consent Agreement. 
 
Fenderbosch, Jessica, R.N. 340844 – Approval to accept Dr. Farid Sabet-
Sharghi as the provider to complete the psychiatric evaluation and to accept 
the learning plan completed by Michelle Cox, MSN, RN. 
 
Motion adopted by unanimous vote of the Board members present. 
 
COMPLETION OF REQUIREMENTS 
Action:  It was moved by J. Jane McFee, seconded by Sheryl Warner, that 
the Board approve prior completion of Reprimand Consent Agreement(s) 
terms and restrictions for the following: 
 
Becker, III, Robert, R.N. 386606 (CASE #15-3188); Shannon, Syreeta, R.N. 
350674, P.N. 116281 (CASE #15-0389); Berlin, Henry, R.N. 338189, P.N. 
103181 (CASE #15-6184); White, Ashley, P.N. 147580 (CASE #14-3501); 
Lawson, Karen, P.N. 116796 (CASE #14-0212); Shirey, Brandie, R.N. 
276648, P.N. 100099, COA 16256, CTP 16256 (CASE #15-6555); Gott, Na-
Tan, P.N. 125904 (CASE #15-4289); Mintz, Svitlana, R.N. 419689 (CASE 
#15-2907); Urbaniak, Miranda, R.N. 394112 (CASE #15-2826); Keith, Kelly, 
R.N. 356616 (CASE #14-1416); Allen, Lyndsiey, R.N. 396602, P.N. 146345 
(CASE #13-4604); Croston, Pamela, P.N. 100953 (CASE #04-2225); Davis, 
Amanda, R.N. 376330, COA 16668, CTP 16668 (CASE #15-8597); 
Brigeman, Debra, R.N. 260301 (CASE #00-1017); Lee, GeunJae, R.N. 
386528 (CASE #15-2862); Dirr, Mary, R.N. 160679 (CASE #15-4233); 
Pellerino, Michael , R.N. 402247 (CASE #13-7555); Miller, Nicholas, R.N. 
424818 (CASE #15-8381); Melendez, Miguel, R.N. 406214 (CASE #16-
3370); Beasley, Jacob, R.N. 426247 (CASE #16-0659); Herreman, 
Stephanie, R.N. 258989 (CASE #14-3187); Jess, Cynthia, R.N. 274917 
(CASE #15-0840); Kinney, Rickie, R.N. 428982 (CASE #16-2168); Cuda, 
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Kelli, R.N. 308059, COA 16132, CTP 16132 (CASE #16-1894); Clutterbuck, 
Tanya, R.N. 203930 (CASE #13-7304); Bildstein, Lisa, R.N. 282093 (CASE 
#15-0502); Murphy, Natalie, R.N. 424819 (CASE #15-8746); Grant, Heather, 
R.N. 426250 (CASE #16-0650); Barboza, Andres, R.N. 389626 (CASE #15-
5625); Fish, Brenda, R.N. 276814, COA 17222, CTP 17222 (CASE #15-
8649); Ruess, Lee, R.N. 225361, COA 02781 (CASE #15-4684); Fetters, 
Beth, R.N. 216682, P.N. 057817 (CASE #15-8011); Collins, Brian, P.N. 
161265 (CASE #15-8149); Bratton, Diana, P.N. 059437 (CASE #15-7897); 
Ellis, Genise, P.N. 151759 (CASE #14-3782); Frazier, Jeanne, R.N. 344632, 
P.N. 041215 (CASE #14-2266); Moates, Rebecca, R.N. 332986, COA 17538, 
CTP-E 17538 (CASE #15-8532); Blackburn, II, John, P.N. 161235 (CASE 
#15-2556). 
 
Motion adopted by a majority vote of the Board members present with Sandra 
Ranck abstaining on Bildstein, Lisa, R.N. 282093 (CASE #15-0502). 

 
REPORTS TO THE BOARD 
 
Open Forum – Thursday, September 15, 2016 at 10:03 a.m. 
Jim Gillespie, Regional Education Manager, Fresenius Kidney Care, addressed 
the Board regarding federal and state regulation of dialysis technicians. Mr. 
Gillespie advocated for discontinuing state regulation. 
 
Other Reports 

Strategic Plan – Status Report 
B. Houchen presented the Strategic Plan status report.  She highlighted 
numerous objectives and outcome measures. 
 
Dialysis Report 
Maryam Lyon and Lisa Emrich presented the dialysis report based on the 
Memorandum provided to the Board about the regulatory oversight of 
dialysis technicians and training programs. They noted that the Board 
began discussing the regulation of dialysis technicians and dialysis 
technician training programs because the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (CMS) have a similar oversight role. When the Board 
began dialysis regulation there was no federal oversight. The Ohio 
Department of Health (ODH), as the designated state agency for CMS, 
surveys dialysis care/facilities and enforces the federal standards. The 
Board and federal regulatory oversight roles can overlap. This was the 
basis of the discussion at the 2016 Board Retreat. 
 
At the Retreat, the Board discussed that perhaps regulation of certain 
certification and training requirements could be eliminated or modified by 
amending the Nurse Practice Act. The Board’s jurisdiction could be 
retained so if there were issues regarding substandard practice, criminal 
offenses, or patient abuse, etc., a public record in the form of Board action 
would be available for the public and future employers. Also at the Retreat, 
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the Board reviewed a Comparison Chart of state and federal regulations for 
dialysis. The Board asked staff to obtain additional information for further 
analysis. The revised Comparison Chart was provided to the Board. A 
written dialysis certification timeline was also provided for Board review and 
discussion.  
 
The Advisory Group on Dialysis met in June and reviewed the Comparison 
Chart. A copy of the Advisory Group minutes was provided to the Board. In 
follow-up to that meeting, staff met with representatives of the Ohio Renal 
Association and the President of the Board of Nephrology Examiners 
Nursing Technology (BONENT) to review testing and discuss regulatory 
requirements. 
 
The Board discussed similarities and differences between federal and state 
regulation of dialysis technician training programs. The Board conducts a 
paper review to determine that training programs comply with the 
regulations. CMS conducts onsite surveys of dialysis facilities, including 
review of the dialysis training. The Board and CMS require essentially the 
same content for training programs. The Board requires that the training 
consist of 320 hours, and CMS has no requirement for the number of 
hours.  CMS requires that individuals complete the specified training 
content and the dialysis care work experience, provided under the direction 
of a RN, and that the individual pass a national dialysis technician 
certification examination within 18 months of beginning the training/work 
experience. 
 
The Board discussed dialysis technician intern (DTI) certification. Some 
dialysis technician employers state they prefer individuals be certified as 
DTIs because it provides a “title” and recognition for the worker. The Board 
discussed how DTI certification impacted the work of the dialysis 
technician. CMS regulations do not require DTI certification. CMS requires 
oversight of the individual’s dialysis care by a RN throughout the 18-month 
training/experience period prior to taking the national examination.  
 
It was also noted that an individual in dialysis training and a dialysis 
technician can only provide dialysis care based on delegation by a nurse 
and cannot work “independently.” Although providers may describe dialysis 
technicians as working independently, a RN must delegate the work and 
there must be oversight by a RN present in the facility. 
 
Dialysis employers who provide dialysis training are requesting authority to 
use internet and web-based technology for training purposes. Under the 
CMS regulations, this would be allowed, however, the Board would need to 
amend the dialysis administrative rules to authorize the use of technology 
in dialysis technician training. Board members expressed a willingness to 
discuss this further. 
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The Board discussed the Advisory Group request that one of the two 
criminal records checks be eliminated. Board members stated that they 
were generally not in favor of eliminating one of the criminal records 
checks. 
 
T. Dilling summarized the Board discussion noting that it focused on the 
major areas identified in the Memorandum and the Board seemed to 
indicate that there may be components of these major areas that could be 
explored to streamline requirements and Board operations, and to 
decrease the duplication in regulatory oversight. 
 
The Board agreed by general consensus that the Board discussion should 
be presented at the Advisory Group on Dialysis meeting in October to 
obtain the Advisory Group’s comments and recommendations. The 
Advisory Group discussion and recommendations will then be presented to 
the Board at a subsequent Board meeting for consideration. 

 
Practice Report 
Lisa Emrich reported that staff received a question regarding RN insertion 
of internal jugular central venous catheters. The individual requested that 
the Board consider whether this procedure is within the RN scope of 
practice. L. Emrich stated that staff currently respond that insertion of 
internal jugular central venous catheters falls within a qualified APRN’s 
scope of practice, not within RN practice, due to the severity of possible 
complications that would require immediate intervention. The Board agreed 
by general consensus to convene a Board Committee on Practice to obtain 
additional information about this practice. L. Emrich will notify interested 
parties to inform them of the meeting and obtain pertinent information and 
comments from licensees and the public. The Board Practice Committee 
will be scheduled for the January 2017 Board meeting.  

 
NEGP Quarterly Report 
L. Emrich presented the quarterly report for the Nurse Education Grant 
Program (NEGP).  
 

GENERAL INFORMATION (FYI) 
The Board reviewed the general information items.  
 
BOARD GOVERNANCE 

Report on NCSBN Delegate Assembly and Annual Meeting 
Janet Arwood, Patricia Sharpnack, and Sandra Ranck reported on the 
NCSBN Delegate Assembly and Annual Meeting. 
 
Designate of Board Committee on Advisory Group Appointments 
Maryam Lyon, Lisa Klenke, J. Jane McFee, Sandra Ranck, Patricia 
Sharpnack and John Schmidt volunteered to serve on the Board 
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Committee on Advisory Group Appointments.  The Committee will meet at 
noon on Wednesday, November 16, 2016.  
 
Review of November Board Meeting Schedule 
The November meeting will be held on November 16-17, 2016. The Board 
will hold the public Rules Hearing on Wednesday, November 16 at 1:00 
p.m. 
 
Board Appointment for Committee for Prescriptive Governance 
Action: It was moved by Patricia Sharpnack, seconded by John Schmidt, 
that Nancy Fellows, who was appointed to serve as the Board’s 
representative on the Committee for Prescriptive Governance, be replaced 
with Lisa Klenke due to the conflicts in Ms. Fellows’s schedule that have 
impacted her ability to serve in this capacity. 
 

EVALUATION OF MEETING AND ADJOURNMENT 
Sandra Ranck asked for historical information about when the current NCLEX 
pass rate was established in Ohio.  Board staff will provide the information. 
 
On Wednesday, September 14, 2016 the meeting adjourned at 1:35 p.m. On 
Thursday, September 15, 2016, the meeting adjourned at 10:53 a.m. 
 
 
Maryam Lyon, MSN, RN 
President 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
Betsy Houchen, RN, MS, JD 
Executive Director 
 
 


